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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was incorporated on 13 March 2003 in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is the holding
company of all the cement and concrete operations of China Resources Group.

The Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 29 July 2003 by way
of introduction. In 2006, the Company was privatized as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smooth Concept Investments
Limited (currently known as CRH (Cement) Limited) by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the listing
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange was withdrawn on 26 July 2006.

The Company was re-listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 6 October 2009 by way of a global offering.
As at the date of this report, the total number of issued shares of the Company was 6,982,937,817 shares, of which
China Resources Group is holding approximately 68.72% of the issued shares of the Company.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

LI Fuli (Chairman)

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
LAM Chi Yuen Nelson
JING Shiqging

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

IP Shu Kwan Stephen (Chairman)
SHEK Lai Him Abraham

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

ZHOU Longshan

JI Youhong

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

JI Youhong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of America, National Association, Hong Kong Branch
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China Limited

China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

DBS Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Hang Seng Bank, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

ING Bank N.V. Hong Kong Branch

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited, Hong Kong Branch
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 4606-08, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 3118 6800

Fax: (852) 3118 6830
E-mail: crcement@crc.com.hk
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R
DEFINITIONS

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

“AR”

“associated corporation”

“Board”

“Changjiang”

“China Resources Group’

“Chinese Mainland”

“CG Code”

“Company”

“CR Holdings”

Autonomous Region, PRC

has the same meaning as provided in the
SFO

board of Directors
Changjiang Li Autonomous County, Hainan

CR Holdings, CRI and their respective
subsidiaries

PRC excluding Hong Kong and Macao
SAR

Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, the Company’s
intermediate holding company
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“CR Power Group”

“CRJ”

“CRH (Cement) Limited”

“Director(s)”
“EHS”

“FAI"
“Fujian”
“GDP”

“Greater Bay Area”

“Group”
“Guangdong”

“Guangxi”

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, its subsidiaries and its
associates

China Resources Inc., a company
established in PRC with limited liability,
an intermediate holding company of CR
Holdings

CRH (Cement) Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability, the Company’s
immediate holding company

director(s) of the Company

environment, health and safety

fixed asset investments

Fujian Province, China

gross domestic products

Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area

the Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Province, China

Guangxi Zhuang AR
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“Guizhou”

“Hainan”

“Hong Kong”

“Inner Mongolia”

“Listing Rules”

“Model Code”

“PRC” or “China”

HR&DH

“Runfeng New Materials”

“SAR”

DEFINITIONS

Guizhou Province, China
Hainan Province, China
the Hong Kong SAR

the Inner Mongolia AR

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

The People’s Republic of China

research and development

Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials
Technology Company Limited, a limited

liability company incorporated in China,
the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary

Special Administrative Region, PRC
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

“SFO”

“Shanxi”

“Share(s)”

“Southern China”

“Stock Exchange”

“Universal Classical”

“Universal Marble”

“Yunnan”

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Shanxi Province, China

share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company

encompasses Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian
and Hainan

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

DongGuan Universal Classical Material
Ltd., a limited liability company
incorporated in China

Universal Marble & Granite (Dongguan)
Co., Ltd., a joint stock company
incorporated in PRC with limited liability,
the Company’s associate

Yunnan Province, China
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“RMB”

DEFINITIONS

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of
China

United States Dallars, the lawful currency
of the United States of America

per cent
kilocalorie
kilogram
kilometer
kilowatt-hour
cubic meter
square meter

milligram
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited is a large-scale and
competitive cement, clinker and concrete producer in Southern China.
The Group's operations range from the excavation of limestone to the
production, sale and distribution of cement, clinker and concrete.
Products are mainly sold in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan,
Yunnan, Guizhou and Shanxi through well-established waterway, railway
and road logistics networks. The Group’s products are primarily used in
the construction of infrastructure projects such as railways, highways,
subways, bridges, airports, ports, dams, hydroelectric power stations and
nuclear power stations, as well as the construction of high-rise buildings
and development of suburban and rural areas.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 97 cement grinding lines and
46 clinker production lines in operation, with annual production capacity
of 85.3 million tons of cement and 62.7 million tons of clinker respectively,
as well as 60 concrete batching plants with annual production capacity of
36.0 million m? of concrete. The locations of our production facilities and
their respective production capacities are as follows:

KR i by

Cement Clinker Concrete
#19/BB&,/  Province/AR/ TERYE BEM SELHE BEME BHUEHE B3UAK
HAfTHE SAR No.of ines  miliontons ~ No.oflines  milliontons ~ No. of plants million m?
ER Guangdong 24 225 10 144 22 13.7
Ef Guangxi 37 332 18 26.5 27 16.1
BE Fujian 14 10.1 6 7.0 - -
V=] Hainan 5 44 3 33 4 2.4
E@ Yunnan 7 5.1 4 39 1 06
M Guizhou 4 40 2 30 - -
LL7g Shanxi 6 6.0 3 46 1 0.6
piipal Zhejiang - - - - 2 1.1
BB Hong Kong - - - - 3 15
4ast Total 97 853 46 62.7 60 36.0

FERNORERBRAR
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EHHH
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

In addition, through our equity interests in certain associates and joint
ventures, the Group owned a total of 75 cement grinding lines, 28 clinker
production lines and 19 concrete batching plants with total annual
production capacities of 60.3 million tons of cement, 34.2 million tons of
clinker and 8.9 million m® of concrete. These production capacities are
located in Guangdong, Hong Kong, Fujian, Yunnan and Inner Mongolia.
The respective annual production capacities attributable to the Group
according to our equity interests in these associates and joint ventures
were 20.4 million tons of cement, 11.2 million tons of clinker and 4.1
million m? of concrete.

The Group places strong emphasis on corporate social responsibility
and actively promotes production safety, energy saving and emission
reduction. The Group also actively launches projects of co-processing
municipal solid waste, urban sludge and hazardous industrial waste
by use of cement kilns. All cement production plants of the Group
are equipped with residual heat recovery generators to reduce energy
consumption. Our emission concentrations of nitrogen oxides, particulate
matters and sulphur dioxide are better than the national standard
limits of pollutant emissions. In addition, in order to promote corporate
transformation, innovation and sustainable development, the Group
actively strengthens the research, development and application of new
products, new materials and new technologies, as well as advances
the development strategy for extension along the industry chain to fully
leverage on the synergetic advantages of cement, concrete, aggregates,
new materials and prefabricated construction businesses.
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HFINEBACEIELR « PR EEZBOR ST Our principal cement grinding lines, clinker production lines and concrete
RS A T 2 batching plants are situated at the following locations:
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Guizhou

[& 78

Guangxi
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. B &K - P LEEEH Cement and clinker production plants operated by the Group

o BE/L Lianjiang e &7 Guigang m &Il Fuchuan @ #8FF Heging
9 7 Fengkai 0 EHE Wuxuan @ BEE 5% Longyan Caoxi @ & Jinsha
e Z25E Luoding e 478 Hepu @ JKJE Yongding @ % IE Anshun
o 5% Yangchun o BE )1 Luchuan @ #E& Longyan @ & 8E Fulong
e =N Huizhou @ 7 Pingnan @ 7 ¥ Zhangping @ A Changzhi

REMREEERMWKE - BpEEEH# Cement and clinker production plants with co-processing projects

. B Operated by the Group O Fi& B & & /A B) Associates and joint ventures
5 Tianyang o 417K;7 Hongshuihe o & Midu [BLEE Fengging
/B Shangsi e &I Changjiang k7K Zhushui
1% Nanning e #EEEA Longyan Yanshi @ R Yuebao

B & KX EE 4% Cement grinding lines operated by the Group

NE H 000

T Zhanjiang JEE Shantou B 7350 Wuzhishan 5N Quanzhou
52 Dongguan n 73k % Fangchenggang E )T Jinjiang E 38T Lianjiang

HEREENTARENNACR - 2plEEE# Cement and clinker production plants owned by associates and joint ventures

O =708 Yunnan Cement O #®E7K0R Fujian Cement O =7/KR Mengxi Cement

HEREE NTEENIACREH ES Cement grinding lines owned by associates and joint ventures

[0 =F7KIE Yunnan Cement [ &2/ Fujian Cement [1 2#7kE Mengxi Cement
B R T BRI W BHERAEAERBANRERT BN
Concrete batching plants operated by the Group Concrete batching plants owned by associates and joint ventures

S X8 B Aggregates projects

A EFA Fengkai A = fBA Shangsi A I F Wuping A LA Weishan
A 5/ Tianyang A HEA Wuxuan A £ 2" Dingan

AR EIH Under planning

# it =X, 32 52 18 B Prefabricated construction projects

0 8T Zhanjiang 0 H 5" Dongguan 6 % Nanning 0 FREA Laibin
0 JIF9 Jiangmen 0 H 2/ Baise 0 &% Guigang

A# 2817 Under planning "Bt /A &) Associates
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

DATE

January 2020

January 2020

February 2020

March 2020

EVENT

The Group acquired a plot of land with an area of
approximately 45,500 m? in Yamen Town, Xinhui
District, Jiangmen City, Guangdong for the production
of prefabricated construction components, with
design annual production capacity of precast
concrete components of approximately 50,000 m3.

The Group acquired land with an area of
approximately 153,000 m? in the High-Tech Industrial
Cluster Park in the Industrial Park Zone of Laibin
City, Guangxi for the production of prefabricated
construction components, with design annual
production capacity of precast concrete components
of approximately 200,000 m®.

The Group commenced operation of one clinker
production line with annual production capacity
of approximately 1.4 million tons and two cement
grinding lines with total annual production capacity
of approximately 2.0 million tons in Anshun City,
Guizhou.

China Resources Cement (Shangsi) Limited, the
Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, won the bid for
the mining rights of a limestone quarry in Jiangyu
Mountain, Shangsi County, Fangchenggang City,
Guangxi, with resource reserve of approximately 65.0
million tons and planned annual production capacity
of approximately 5.0 million tons.
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April 2020

June 2020

August 2020

October 2020
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SINCE 2020

EVENT

The Group acquired land with an area of
approximately 120,000 m? in Baidong New District,
Baise City, Guangxi for the production of prefabricated
construction components, with design annual
production capacity of precast concrete components
of approximately 200,000 m®.

China Resources Cement (Tianyang) Limited, the
Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, won the bid
for the mining rights of a limestone quarry in Gujie,
Napo Town, Tianyang District, Baise City, Guangxi,
with resource reserve of approximately 61.0 million
tons and planned annual production capacity of
approximately 5.0 million tons.

Weishan Runfeng Quarry Limited, the Company's
wholly owned subsidiary, won the bid for the mining
rights of a limestone quarry for ordinary construction
materials in Chalei Village, Weishan County, Yunnan,
with resource reserve of approximately 100.0 million
tons and planned annual production capacity of
approximately 3.0 million tons.

Zhaoging Runxin New Materials Limited, the
Company’s subsidiary, won the bid for the mining
rights of a granite quarry for construction in Dapai
Mining Concession, Fengkai County, Guangdong,
with resource reserve of approximately 425.0 million
tons and planned annual production capacity of
approximately 30.0 million tons.
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EVENT

Dingan Runfeng Quarry Limited, the Company’s
wholly owned subsidiary, won the bid for the
mining rights of a granite quarry for construction
in Jiudingling Mining Concession, Longhe Town,
Dingan County, Hainan, with resource reserve of
approximately 63.0 million tons and planned annual
production capacity of approximately 3.0 million tons.

Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials Technology
Company Limited, the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiary, acquired approximately 58.8% equity
interests of DongGuan Universal Classical Material
Ltd. for a consideration of RMB256,070,700
(equivalent to approximately HK$306,811,000).
Together with our equity interests in the associate
Universal Marble & Granite (Dongguan) Co., Ltd.,
approximately 75.3% of equity interests of DongGuan
Universal Classical Material Ltd. will be attributable to
the Group in aggregate.

China Resources Cement (Wuxuan) Limited, the
Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, won the bid
for the mining rights of a limestone quarry for
construction in Gejie Mountain Mining Concession,
Wuxuan County, Guangxi, with resource reserve of
approximately 208.0 million tons and planned annual
production capacity of approximately 5.0 million tons.



MIEEE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
b b2 “2-NEF —T)\&F
2020 2019 2018
HEE (FEAT) Turnover (HK$ million) 40,086.9 38955.6 38,7915
REFEREFTER EBITDA (HK$ million)

BRI R FEET) 13,606.5 14,0405 13,729.7
FERA (EEAT) Profit for the year (HK$ million) 9,029.6 8,694.4 8,006.7
AAEER NELRT] Profit attributable to owners of the Company

(8% (HK$ million) 8,959.9 86175 79754
SREXRA (B Basic earnings per share (HK$) 1.283 1.234 1.179
RIE-ZE RIE—h&E A _E—\FE
+-B=+—H +=ZA=t+—H +ZA=+—H
As at As at As at
31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2018
BERE @SB Total assets (HK$ million) 68,532.5 61,1709 60,506.4
KATEE NEGER Equity attributable to owners of
E-5m) the Company (HK$ million) 49,626.8 41,979.7 37,6913
TR (BEBT Non-controlling interests (HK$ million) 397.0 286.5 2039
BEE (F#1) Gearing ratio (note 1) 13.8% 189% 33.2%
SREEFE-RE (B Net assets per share — book (HK$) (note 2)
(#H2) 7.11 6.01 5.40
&t notes:
1. EEEDLLIRITER R EIRIFPAZHERER 1. Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total bank borrowings and unsecured
KNTHEE NEEEETE medium term notes by equity attributable to owners of the Company.
2. BREEFE-RANURNABDES ABGER 2 Net assets per share — book is calculated by dividing equity attributable to owners of
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the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of the year.
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FINAL RESULTS

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2020
amounted to HK$40,086.9 million, representing an increase of 2.9%
over that of last year. The consolidated profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to
HK$8,959.9 million, representing an increase of 4.0% over that of last
year. Basic earnings per share for the year was HK$1.283.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of HK$0.34 per
Share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$0.335
per Share). Subject to approval by shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed
on or about Monday, 7 June 2021 to shareholders of the Company whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on Monday, 24
May 2021. Such final dividend will not be subject to any withholding tax in
Hong Kong.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.275 per Share in cash
for 2020 (2019: HK$0.26 per Share) and the total distribution for the year
ended 31 December 2020 will be HK$0.615 per Share (2019: HK$0.595
per Share).

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In 2020, in the face of the challenging and complex domestic and
international environment, as well as the severe impact of the novel
coronavirus epidemic, the Chinese government introduced a series of
policies and measures to promote continuous economic recovery and
high-quality development. According to the statistics published by the
National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2020, China's GDP grew by
2.3% year-on-year to RMB101.6 trillion, and national FAI (excluding rural
households) increased by 2.9% year-on-year to RMB51.9 trillion.

According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, in 2020, the GDPs of Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan,
Yunnan, Guizhou and Shanxi, where the Group has business operations,
reached RMB11.1 trillion, RMB2.2 trillion, RMB4.4 ftrillion, RMB553.0
billion, RMB2.5 trillion, RMB1.8 trillion and RMB1.8 trillion respectively,
representing year-on-year increases of 2.3%, 3.7%, 3.3%, 3.5%, 4.0%,
45% and 3.6% respectively. The year-on-year changes in FAl of the
aforementioned provinces were 7.2%, 4.2%, -0.4%, 8.0%, 7.7%, 3.2%
and 10.6% respectively.

According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, in 2020, national infrastructure investments (excluding the
industries for production and supply of electricity, heat, gas and water)
increased by 0.9% year-on-year. According to the statistics published by
the Ministry of Transport of China and the National Railway Administration
of China, FAI on highways and waterways in China in 2020 amounted to
approximately RMB2.6 trillion in total, representing an increase of 10.4%
year-on-year, which exceeded the annual target of RMB1.8 trillion. FAI
on railways amounted to approximately RMB781.9 hillion, representing
a decrease of 2.6% year-on-year. According to the Ministry of Transport
of China, it is estimated that by the end of 2020, the total operational
length of railways in China will reach 146,000 km, among which, the total
operational lengths of high-speed rails, highways and urban rail transit
will reach approximately 38,000 km, approximately 5.1 million km and
approximately 7,000 km respectively, meeting or exceeding the targets of
the “Thirteenth Five-Year” Plan.
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According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, in 2020, the floor space of commaodity housing sold in China
increased by 2.6% year-on-year to 1,760 million m? and the sales
amount increased by 8.7% year-on-year to RMB17.4 trillion. Real estate
investment in China reached RMB14.1 trillion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 7.0%. Among which, the floor space of houses newly started
construction decreased by 1.2% year-on-year to 2,240 million m? while
the floor space of houses completed decreased by 4.9% year-on-year to
910 million m?. As of the end 2020, the floor space under construction
by the real estate developers nationwide reached 9,270 million m?,
representing a year-on-year increase of 3.7%.

In addition, the Chinese government promoted new-type urbanization and
urban-rural integrative development, and actively advocated policies for
rural revitalization. According to the statistics published by the Ministry
of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of China, in 2020, 40,300
old communities in cities and towns nationwide newly started renovation,
which exceeded the annual target of 39,000. In 2020, the goal for
connecting townships and administrative villages with the necessary
conditions with passenger vehicles was essentially achieved, and newly
built and re-built rural roads reached 269,000 km.

The stable development of infrastructure construction and the real
estate market, as well as the steady progress of urbanization and rural
construction, will be conducive to supporting the demand of the cement
industry.

THE INDUSTRY

According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, in 2020, the total cement production in China amounted to
approximately 2,380 million tons, representing a year-on-year increase of
1.6%. According to the statistics of the China Cement Association, during
the year, cement production in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan,
Yunnan, Guizhou and Shanxi were approximately 170.0 million tons,
120.0 million tons, 97.0 million tons, 18.4 million tons, 130.0 million tons,
110.0 million tons and 53.9 million tons respectively, representing year-on-
year changes of approximately 1.5%, 1.3%, 2.7%, -8.9%, 0.8%, -1.4%
and 6.7% respectively.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

According to the statistics of the China Cement Association, in 2020, there
were 26 new clinker production lines nationwide with new annual clinker
production capacity of approximately 39.4 million tons in total. According
to the statistical information of the Company, in our major operating
regions, there were 1 new clinker production line in Guangdong with
new annual clinker production capacity of approximately 3.1 million tons
and 4 new clinker production lines in Guangxi with new annual clinker
production capacity of approximately 5.6 million tons.

Regarding policies for the industry, the Chinese government resolutely
wins and fights well in the battles for prevention and treatment of pollution,
further regulates the policies for capacity replacement and off-peak
production, strengthens response to climate change, and improves the
standards of production safety and occupational health to foster the high-
quality and sustainable development of the cement industry.

In December 2020, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
of China publicly solicited comments on the “Measures for Implementing
Capacity Replacement in the Cement and Glass Industries (Revised
Draft)”, which specified the requirements of clinker indicators for capacity
replacement and required the capacity replacement ratios of cement and
clinker construction projects located in key areas and non-key areas for
air pollution prevention and control to be 2:1 and 1.5:1 respectively. This
will further improve capacity replacement policies in the cement and glass
industries. In addition, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
and the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of China jointly issued the
“Notice on Further Implementation of Regular Off-Peak Production in the
Cement Industry”, which proposed that all cement and clinker production
lines should be subject to off-peak production and promoted regular
national off-peak production in terms of location and duration in the
cement industry. Among which, off-peak production in the northern region
should mainly occur from November every year to March of the following
year, and off-peak production in other regions should be executed upon
integrating local conditions during the Chinese New Year, hot summers,
rainy seasons and major events.
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In July 2020, the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of China issued
the “Technical Guidelines for Emergency Emission Reduction in Key
Industries in Heavy Pollution Weather (2020 Revised Edition)”. The
cement industry will implement classified management and control of
cement and clinker enterprises according to indicators such as standards
of corporate equipment, technology for treating and managing pollution,
and emission limits. Among which, the emission concentrations of
particulate matters, sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxides of cement kilns
and residual heat utilization systems at kiln rears for the enterprises with
the most stringent standards shall be no more than 10, 35 and 50 mg/m?
respectively.

In September 2020, the Chinese government proposed to strive for
peaking carbon dioxide emissions before 2030 and achieving carbon
neutrality before 2060. In January 2021, the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment of China issued the “Guiding Opinions on Organizing and
Strengthening Relevant Works of Responding to Climate Change and
Ecological Environmental Protection” and the “Administrative Measures
for Carbon Emission Rights Trading (Trial)”, which proposed key industries
including steel, building materials, non-ferrous metals, chemicals,
petrochemicals, power and coal industries to set specific targets and
formulate action plans for peaking carbon emissions, accelerate the
construction of the national carbon emissions trading market, and control
and reduce greenhouse gases emissions by utilizing market mechanisms.
The “Administrative Measures for Carbon Emission Rights Trading (Trial)”,
which had come into effect on 1 February 2021, specified key greenhouse
gases emission units, allocation and settlement of carbon emissions quota,
which will help to regulate the national carbon emissions trading and
relevant activities.

The Chinese government attaches great importance to production safety
and occupational health. In April, the Work Safety Committee of the
State Council of China issued the “Three-year Action Plan for Special
Rectifications of National Work Safety”, which planned to launch special
safety rectifications in nine industrial sectors of hazardous chemicals, coal
mines, non-coal mines, firefighting, road transportation, transportation and
fishing vessels, urban construction, functional regions such as industrial
parks, and hazardous waste.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In addition, the Chinese government actively promotes intelligent
manufacturing in the building materials industry. In September 2020, the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China released the
“Action Plan for the Digital Transformation of Intelligent Manufacturing in
the Building Materials Industry (2021-2023)”, which aimed at nominating
6 excellent intelligent manufacturing enterprises, setting up 50 intelligent
factories in the building materials industry and creating 20 digital mines
by 2023. Relevant standards will be revised to set up innovation platforms
for promoting substantial enhancement in the standards of digitalization,
cyberization and intelligentization in the building materials industry and
continuously improving operating costs, production efficiency and service
standards.

In terms of aggregates, the Chinese government strengthened
management of rivers and lakes, and regulated gravel mining and
management of mine resources. Fifteen departments including the
National Development and Reform Commission of China issued the
“Guiding Opinions on Promoting the Healthy and Orderly Development of
the Gravel Industry” in March, which proposed to advance the high-quality
development of the manufactured gravel industry, optimize the layout of
manufactured gravel exploration, accelerate the formation of high-quality
production capacity of manufactured gravel, while strengthening the
comprehensive rectification and utilization of sand mining in rivers at the
same time and promoting the gradual and orderly mining and utilization
of sea sand. The Chinese government also proposed the goal of forming
a relatively comprehensive and reasonable security mechanism for the
supply of manufactured gravel and increasing the proportion of production
capacity from ultra-large-scale manufactured gravel enterprises with
annual production capacity of at least 10 million tons to 40% by 2025.
The gradual improvement of policies and regulations in the gravel industry
and the gradual increase in concentration level of large enterprises will
foster the healthy and orderly development of the industry.
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In addition, the Chinese government actively promotes the development
of green construction and industrialization of the construction industry.
According to the “Thirteenth Five-Year Action Plan for Prefabricated
Construction” issued by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development of China, the government aimed at increasing the proportion
of floor space of prefabricated buildings to newly constructed buildings in
China to over 15% by 2020, among which, the target proportion in the
key development areas (Pearl River Delta, Yangtze River Delta, Beijing-
Tianjin-Hebei) shall exceed 20%. According to the statistics of the Centre
of Science and Technology Industrial Development of the Ministry of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development of China, in 2019, 420 million
m? of prefabricated buildings newly started construction nationwide,
representing an increase of 45% year-on-year and accounting for
approximately 13.4% of the floor space of newly constructed buildings.

In 2016, the Chinese government proposed to strive for increasing the
proportion of prefabricated buildings to newly constructed buildings
to 30% in approximately ten years’ time. According to the plan of the
Guangdong government, nine cities in the Greater Bay Area had been
classified as key development areas, among which, the proportion of floor
space of prefabricated buildings in Shenzhen Municipality and Guangzhou
City is targeted to exceed 50% by 2025. The Guangxi government had
classified Nanning City, Liuzhou City, Hezhou City and Yulin City as the
AR-level pilot cities for prefabricated construction. Among which, the
proportion of floor space of prefabricated buildings in Nanning City and
Liuzhou City is targeted to exceed 30% by 2025. The Department of
Industry and Information Technology of Guangxi issued “Certain Measures
to Support the Development of the New-Type Prefabricated Building
Materials Industry in Guangxi” in March, striving to increase the proportion
of floor space of prefabricated buildings to newly constructed buildings in
the region to 30% in approximately ten years' time.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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TRANSFORMATION AND INNOVATION

In 2020, the Group actively seized the opportunities for extension
along the industry chain to fully leverage on the synergetic advantages
of cement, concrete, aggregates, new materials and prefabricated
construction businesses for promoting industrial integrative development.
The Group established the New Business Office to coordinate the
development and planning of new business projects, and set up new
business departments in Guangdong and Guangxi to expedite regional
market research, project acquisition and construction works.

In terms of aggregates, since 2020, the Group newly acquired the mining
rights of six aggregates quarries located in Fengkai County of Guangdong,
Shangsi County, Tianyang District and Wuxuan County of Guangxi, Dingan
County of Hainan and Weishan County of Yunnan respectively, with
resource reserves of approximately 922.0 million tons in total and planned
annual production capacity of approximately 51.0 million tons in total,
which had further enriched the Group’s reserves of aggregates resources.

Regarding engineered stones, during the year, the Group actively
developed new inorganic engineered stone products, launched strategic
cooperation with real estate developers, entered into agreements for
numerous construction projects, and expanded the engineered stone
business. In January 2021, through Runfeng New Materials, the Group
entered into an equity transfer agreement with Universal Marble and its
subsidiaries, and will become the controlling shareholder of Universal
Classical. In the future, we will jointly develop the engineered stone
business.
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With regards to prefabricated construction, in 2020, the Group acquired
lands for prefabricated construction projects located in Jiangmen City,
Guangdong, Laibin City and Baise City, Guangxi, with design annual
production capacity of precast concrete components of approximately
450,000 m3 in total. In addition, the Guigang Runhe project had started
trial production in June 2020, and had now obtained orders for residential
projects from various regions including Guangdong, Guangxi, and Hainan.

In addition, in April 2020, the Group obtained a franchise license for
the resourceful utilization of construction waste in Changjiang, Hainan
to build a construction waste disposal plant project with design annual
processing capacity of approximately 250,000 tons of construction
waste, and complemented with annual production capacities of
approximately 300,000 m? of concrete and approximately 1,150,000 tons
of manufactured sand and gravel. The project is planned to complete
construction and commence operation by the end of 2021. Following
completion of construction, the project will help to improve the local urban
environment, promote energy saving and emission reduction, reduce the
consumption of natural resources, and promote green development in the
industry.

Digital transformation is one of the important strategic development
directions for the transformation and innovation of the Group. Based
on the existing foundation of informatization, the Group continuously
advances high-quality development with strong focuses on expanding
intelligent manufacturing, intelligent logistics and smart marketing. In
July 2020, the Group, CITIC Holdings Co., Ltd., subsidiary of Foxconn
Industrial Internet Co., Ltd. and other entities jointly set up the joint
venture Shenzhen CRF Digital Technology Co., Ltd., which is dedicated
to creating intelligent manufacturing solutions and digital platforms for the
industries of automobile parts and building materials including cement.
During the year, the “Ten Million Level Project of China Resources Cement
for Commercial Use of 5G Industrial Internet” jointly applied by China
Telecom and the Company was awarded the Grade 1 prize of the Third
“Blooming Cup”, jointly hosted by the China Academy of Information and
Communications Technology, the IMT-2020 (5G) Promotion Group and
the China Communications Standards Association with the guidance of the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Group places strong emphasis on corporate social responsibility,
and proactively responds to the Chinese government’s policies on energy
saving and emission reduction. In 2020, the Group’s unfailing efforts in
sustainable development were recognized by the industry and society.
These include:

° In June, China Resources Cement (Hepu) Limited and China
Resources Cement (Guigang) Limited were included in the register
of the third batch of Green Manufacturing in Guangxi by the
Department of Industry and Information Technology of Guangxi;
China Resources Cement (Yongding) Limited, China Resources
Cement (Longyan Caoxi) Limited and China Resources Cement
(Longyan Yanshi) Limited were included in the register of the third
batch of Green Manufacturing in Fujian by the Department of
Industry and Information Technology of Fujian;

° In October, China Resources Cement (Guigang) Limited was
included in the register of the fifth batch of Green Manufacturing
by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China;

ERNE (E8) BIRASEFETENEEILEISIA B LM G ERIESE

China Resources Cement (Guigang) Limited was included in the register of the fifth batch of Green Manutacturing by the Ministry

of Industry and Information Technology of China

TSR ER
Annual Report 2020 2 7



ERMS
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

+A - EHKE (&H) BRATREL
EEBBERERBIABRBREE
BR S

TR EENEERERATEEEL
FEGRER IPIREBLEIRRAL
AREE2019 | BIBR KN B &RIRREBSEST
5% FERIOR G ARARKRERK
B (AR BRABHESRRFRESE
e

+—AB>ERNE (ER) BIRATRIE
LEEABARAEREYABGE R
whELl ;

TR EHKE (HE) BRAR
BIITHEHNERERARIERTEIR
RIEEGHEENTEBRBEERE
2020 | BRIRRE 2 RERE (KRE1H)
$RAT S

In October, the mine of China Resources Cement (Hepu) Limited
was included in the register of AR-level green mines by the
Department of Natural Resources of Guangxi;

In October, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was
honoured with the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Bay Area
Environmental Leadership Recognition Award, and China
Resources Cement (Fengkai) Limited and China Resources
Cement (Tianyang) Limited were both honoured with the
EcoChallenger in the “BOCHK Corporate Environmental
Leadership Awards 2019” by the Federation of Hong Kong
Industries;

In November, the mine of China Resources Cement (Shangsi)
Limited was included in the register of AR-level green mines by the
Natural Resources Department of Guangxi;

In December, China Resources Cement (Wuxuan) Limited and
China Resources Cement (Lianjiang Fengcheng) Limited were
both honoured with the “Hong Kong Green Awards 2020 —
Environmental, Health and Safety Award (Large Corporation) —
Silver” by the Green Council of Hong Kong;

KEF (7 ) BEFTIE B 77 B R T AV K £ B B & IR (RICEE A
BB 1R EA L2020 )8 IR (R L2 B /FAE (KB Z) 1R

The Group’s cement production plants located in Wuxuan County, Guangxi and
Lianjiang City, Guangdong were honoured with the “Hong Kong Green Awards
2020 — Environmental, Health and Safety Award (Large Corporation) — Silver”
issued by the Green Council of Hong Kong

2 8 FERNORERBRAR
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° In December, the mines of China Resources Cement (Wuxuan)
Limited and China Resources Cement (Jinsha) Limited passed
the 2020 selection as green mines by the Ministry of Natural
Resources of China; the mine of China Resources Cement
(Luchuan) Limited was included in the register of AR-level green
mines by the Natural Resources Department of Guangxi;

° In December, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
was honoured with the “Leading Enterprise Award” (market
capitalization over HK$20 billion) and the “Leading Environmental
Initiative Award” (the green mine project in Heging, Yunnan)
of the “ESG Leading Enterprise Awards 2020” by Bloomberg
Businessweek.

STRATEGIES AND PROSPECT

2021 is the opening year of the “Fourteenth Five-Year” Plan. The Chinese
government will persistently seek progress amidst stability as its general
keynote. With the theme of promoting high-quality development and with
the main focus on deepening supply-side structural reforms, it solidly
accomplishes the work for “Six Stabilities”, fully implements the missions
of “Six Priorities”, accelerates the construction of a new development
paradigm with domestic circulation as the mainstay and domestic and
international circulations reinforcing each other, consolidates and expands
the achievements in epidemic prevention and control as well as economic
and social development, and strives to maintain the operation of the
economy within a reasonable range.

The Chinese government will build modernized infrastructure system,
systematically plan the layout of new-type infrastructure, accelerate the
construction of a world leader in transport, improve comprehensive
transportation channels, comprehensive transportation hubs and logistics
networks, and accelerate the networking of city clusters and metropolitan
areas with rail transport. 2021 is the opening year to accelerate the
construction of a world leader in transport. According to the work plan
of China State Railway Group Co., Ltd., it is targeted to increase the
total operational length of railways by approximately 3,700 km in 2021.
China State Railway Group Co., Ltd. issued the “Outline for the Advanced
Planning of Railways for World Leader in Transport in the New Era”, which
aimed for the national railway network to reach approximately 200,000
km by 2035, among which, high-speed rails will amount to approximately
70,000 km, cities with a population of above 200,000 will achieve railway
coverage, and cities with a population of above 500,000 will have access
to high-speed rails.
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The Chinese government persists in maintaining the position that
“residential properties are not for speculation”, encourages both renting
and purchasing, and develops city-specific policies to foster the stable
and healthy development of the property market. At the same time,
the government will improve the strategies for new-type urbanization,
implement initiatives for urban revitalization, and strengthen the renovation
of old communities in cities and towns and community construction. It
strives to basically complete the mission of renovating old communities in
cities and towns built prior to the end of 2000 which require renovation
by the end of the “Fourteenth Five-Year” period. In addition, the
Chinese government will comprehensively promote rural revitalization,
further improve rural infrastructure such as water, electricity, roads, gas,
communications, broadcast television and logistics, and enhance the
quality of rural housing construction.

In terms of coordinated regional development strategy, China expedites
infrastructural connectivity in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area, and establishes a free trade port in Hainan to accelerate the
construction of a new development paradigm with domestic circulation as
the mainstay and domestic and international circulations reinforcing each
other.

According to the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
(Inter-city) Railway Link Development Plan” approved by the National
Development and Reform Commission of China, the total operational
length of the railway network in operation and under construction in the
Greater Bay Area is targeted to reach 4,700 km by 2025 and 5,700 km
by 2035, covering 100% of cities above county level. Among which, the
total operational length planned for construction in the near future is
approximately 775 km, amounting to a total investment of approximately
RMB474.1 billion. According to the “Guangdong Expressway Network
Plan (2020-2035)", it is aimed to increase the total operational length of
expressways in the province to approximately 15,000 km by 2035. This
will form an expressway network with the Pearl River Delta as the core and
with coastal cities, ports, airports and railway hubs as the focal points to
support the in-depth cooperation in the development of the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, lead the development of the east
and west wings and coastal economic belts, and provide quick access to
neighbouring provinces.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The gradual advancement of the development and construction of the
Greater Bay Area and other regions will drive the regional demand for
building materials such as cement and concrete in the medium to long
term.

During the “Fourteenth Five-Year” period, the Group will continue to
reinforce the three core strengths of the “leading market position in
the region, lowest total costs, innovation-driven development”, commit
to enhancing efficiency and quality of operation and improving the
management standards of environmental protection, safety and health.
The Group will deepen brand marketing and the construction of sales
channels, consolidate market share, strengthen the capability in R&D
of new products, new technologies and new materials, and promote
construction of digitalization and intelligentization for the creation of
competitive advantage by differentiation. The Group will actively fulfil
corporate social responsibility, promote co-processing by use of cement
kilns and foster green development of the industry. In addition, the Group
will proactively seize the opportunities in the development of the Greater
Bay Area, accelerate the pace of transformation and innovation, and
advance the development strategy for extension along the industry chain.
The Group will also continue to seek opportunities for strategic cooperation
with domestic and overseas leading enterprises for the joint promotion of
sustainable development of the cement industry in China.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to thank the Directors, the
management team and all employees for their dedication and hard
work, which contributed to the high-quality development of the Group’s
business. On behalf of the Board, | would also like to express our gratitude
to shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners and other
stakeholders for their persistent trust and unfailing support to the Group.

LI Fuli
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 March 2021
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Cement and concrete are the main and basic building materials for
infrastructure projects, property construction and rural development.
Cement consumption is highly correlated to economic development and
FAI. As cement and concrete are relatively heavyweight building materials,
the key to success of a producer’s business is highly dependent on its
core competitive advantage within the regional market. The performance
of the Group’s business operation is therefore subject to certain major
factors such as the business environment of the regions where the Group
has business operation, which significantly affects the selling prices of
the cement and concrete products. Besides, coal cost represents one
of the significant causes for volatility in the cost of cement production.
Accordingly, the substantial fluctuation of coal price poses one of the
principal potential risks and uncertainties affecting the performance of
the Group and the cement industry at large. As the Chinese government
continuously poses stricter requirements for environmental protection,
production safety and occupational health, the Group’s competitiveness in
these aspects is the key to its sustainable development.

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

New Production Plants

In February 2020, the Group completed the construction of one clinker
production line with annual production capacity of approximately 1.4
million tons and two cement grinding lines with total annual production
capacity of approximately 2.0 million tons in Anshun City, Guizhou. During
the year, the Group added one concrete batching plant and shut down two
concrete batching plants. The total annual concrete production capacity
decreased by approximately 0.9 million m® compared to the end of 2019.

Capacity Utilization
The utilization rates of the Group’s cement, clinker and concrete

production lines in 2020 were 101.1%, 112.6% and 37.5% as compared
with 102.1%, 112.7% and 39.2% respectively for 2019.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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COST MANAGEMENT

Operational Management

In 2020, the Group continued to deepen production and operation
management. The Group continued to improve operational indicators
such as coal consumption and energy consumption by adhering to a goal-
oriented approach and through benchmark management, early warning
of abnormal indicators and urge for improvement of laggard indicators.
The Group enhanced the mechanism for technological assistance,
further promoted the application of new technologies, new equipment,
new materials and innovation achievements, advanced the practical
transformation of innovation achievements, and strived to drive for raising
the operational standards of each production plant.

The Group conscientiously implements the management theme of
“reform and innovation for quality development” with the construction
of excellent operational system as the cardinal line and with the focus
on benchmarking “world-class” companies, and continues to launch in-
depth work on lean management. During the year, the Group carried out
water treatment work at the limestone mines of the cement production
plants located in Lianjiang, Guangdong and Hepu, Guangxi. In order to
reduce consumption of electricity and water, the Group promoted the
technologies for highly effective energy-saving fans, magnetic suspension
high-speed centrifugal blowers and zero-discharge of wastewater at
various production plants. The Group also formulated plans for upgrade
of cement production plants and concrete batching plants, and promoted
the achievement of relevant goals by comprehensive application of lean
management projects and key technological advancement. In addition,
through management evaluation, the Group advanced operational
excellence, implemented closed-loop management and regularly tracked
the completion status of rectifications of production plants to raise the
standards of operations and management of plants and fully foster the
plants’ enhancement on star-grading standards.
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Procurement Management

In 2020, the overall supply of the coal market was initially loose before
becoming tighter. Through stable long-term strategic cooperation with
suppliers, the Group had effectively reduced coal procurement costs.
During the year, the Group purchased a total of approximately 10.2
million tons of coal (approximately 10.1 million tons of coal in 2019),
among which, approximately 76%, 23% and 1% were sourced from
northern China, neighbouring areas of our production plants and Australia
respectively (80%, 20% and 0% in 2019). The proportion of direct
procurement from coal producers was approximately 79% (82% in 2019).
In the future, the Group will continuously strengthen the cooperation with
large-scale domestic coal suppliers and adjust the proportion of imported
coal according to the national policy on coal import in order to secure a
stable supply of coal of excellent quality.

In terms of other raw materials, amid the Chinese government’s stricter
requirements for environmental protection and the stronger protection of
natural resources, the Group continues to use manufactured sand instead
of river sand and water-washed sea sand in Guangdong and Guangxi, and
increased the usage amount of self-produced gravel in order to raise the
standards for environmental protection and reduce costs. In addition, the
Group optimized procurement costs through various means such as direct
source procurement, shortening the supply chain, strengthening sourcing
efforts, expanding the scope of sourcing and developing procurement
channels.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Logistics Management

Logistics management is one of the Group’s key measures in maintaining
its market competitiveness. In 2020, affected by the exemption of
expressway toll fees and lower oil prices, logistics costs were on an
overall steady downward trend. During the year, based on the market
characteristics of each operating region, the Group actively carried
out tendering for logistics transportation, organized two-way logistics,
optimized the transportation routes of tanker vessels and initiated joint
shipment by railway in order to reduce logistics costs.

In 2020, the annual shipping capacity of the Group along the Xijiang River
was approximately 36.3 million tons, which secured stable and continuous
logistics capabilities for the Group’s business operation. The Group
continuously optimized the layout of its silo terminals and cooperation
methods to build compliant and environmentally friendly silo terminals.
During the year, the Group controlled the operations of 35 silo terminals
with annual capacity of approximately 34.3 million tons, which are mainly
located in the Pearl River Delta Region. This consolidates the Group’s
leading market position in Guangdong.

SALES AND MARKETING

Product Promotion

In 2020, the Group actively explored customer needs and strengthened
marketing efforts for products such as “Wang Pai Gong Jiang” renovation
cement, cement for nuclear power stations and Portland cement for
roads, through the launch of thematic activities and advertising. Among
which, cement for nuclear power stations had been used in nuclear power
projects in Guangdong, Fujian and Zhejiang Province, and is planned to
be promoted to the Hainan market. Trial promotions were rolled out in
Fujian for Portland cement for roads with strong crack resistance and good
wear resistance in order to manufacture cement products which are more
suitable for airport runway projects.
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Brand Building

Since 2016, the Group comprehensively built its national unified brand
“Runfeng Cement”. In order to enhance brand awareness, the Group
formulated annual brand business promotion plan and created special
theme activities of “6.28 Runfeng Brand Anniversary Celebration”. In
March 2020, the Group engaged the “World Brand Lab” to evaluate the
brand value of Runfeng Cement. The final report showed that the brand
value of Runfeng Cement in 2020 was RMB51,958 million.

During the year, the Group continued to intensively work on the
construction and management of brand image, launched trademark
protection and monitoring, comprehensively surveyed on the sales
and marketing situation of brand image franchise stores, optimized the
management of franchise stores, built a standardized environment for
Internet search and expanded brand promotion channels. On 28 June
2020, the Group adopted the “Cloud Streaming” format for holding its
brand anniversary event for the first time to enhance brand awareness
and optimize brand image in a new form. In June 2020, the first brand
flagship store of Runfeng Cement built by the Group in Yunnan was
officially opened and had now become a centre for brand image display
and exchange study.
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The Group created theme activities of “6.28 Runfeng Brand Anniversary Celebration” to further enhance brand awareness
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TRANSFORMATION AND INNOVATION

Extension of Industry Chain

The Group proactively promotes the development strategy for extension of
industry chain and seizes development opportunities of new businesses.
We fully leverage on the synergetic advantages of cement, concrete,
aggregates, new materials and prefabricated construction businesses, and
further consolidate the core competitive advantages of the Group.

Aggregates

Following the Group's successful bidding for the mining rights of limestone
quarries in Jiangyu Mountain, Shangsi County, Fangchenggang City,
Guangxi, and Gujie, Napo Town, Tianyang District, Baise City, Guangxi
in March and June 2020, in August, the Group won the bid for the
mining rights of a limestone quarry for ordinary construction materials
in Chalei Village, Weishan County, Yunnan, with resource reserve of
approximately 100.0 million tons and planned annual production
capacity of approximately 3.0 million tons. In October, Zhaoging Runxin
New Materials Limited, the Company’s subsidiary, won the bid for
the mining rights of a granite quarry for construction in Dapai Mining
Concession, Fengkai County, Guangdong, with resource reserve of
approximately 425.0 million tons and planned annual production capacity
of approximately 30.0 million tons. In November, the Group won the bid
for the mining rights of a granite quarry for construction in Jiudingling
Mining Concession, Longhe Town, Dingan County, Hainan, with resource
reserve of approximately 63.0 million tons and planned annual production
capacity of approximately 3.0 million tons. The above projects are planned
to commence operation by the end of 2022.

In February 2021, the Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
limestone quarry for construction in Gejie Mountain Mining Concession,
Wuxuan County, Guangxi, with resource reserve of approximately 208.0
million tons and planned annual production capacity of approximately 5.0
million tons, which is planned to commence operation in 2023.

As of the end of December 2020, the Group’s annual aggregates
production capacity based on its own existing cement mines was
approximately 10.6 million tons. In addition to the seven newly acquired
aggregates mines since 2019, the total annual aggregates production
capacity of the Group is expected to exceed 63.0 million tons.
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UTAEREREERN ! Relevant information of the projects is outlined below:
EH MEBEER BRftE ARER
() ()
Planned annual
production Resource
Project capacity reserve Particulars
(tons) (tons)
& Guangdong
5 Fengkai 30,000,000 425,000,000 o EBRIZIZEAARGHEER.
o BHRZE__FREARE-
e Won the bid for the mining rights in October 2020.
e Expected to commence operation by the end of 2022.
[E78 Guangxi
& Shangsi 5,000,000 65,000,000 o BERIZIEE=-BREHFEER.
o BHRIZZERAKE
e Won the bid for the mining rights in March 2020.
e Expected to commence operation by the end of 2022.
H % Tanyang 5,000,000 61,000,000 o BRIZIZSEARGHEERE.
o BHRZE__EREARE-
e Won the bid for the mining rights in June 2020.
e Expected to commence operation by the end of 2022.
HE Wuxuan 5,000,000 208,000,000 o BRI HFEZARESHEE.
o BHR_Z_=FL¥EHE-
e Won the bid for the mining rights in February 2021.
e Expected to commence operation in the first half of 2023.
1832 Fujian
HF Wuping 2,000,000 56,000,000 o BERIZ-NE+-ARGHEE.
o BHRZEZ_-FREARE-
e Won the bid for the mining rights in November 2019.
e Expected to commence operation by the end of 2021.
#§7 Hainan
% Dingan 3,000,000 63000000 ¢ BRIZF-EE+—-BHRGHEEE.
o BHRIZZERAKE
e Won the bid for the mining rights in November 2020.
e Expected to commence operation by the end of 2022.
E7 Yunnan
#i10 Weishan 3,000,000 100,000,000 o BRIZIZE/\BREHEERE.
o EER_E__EEAREC
e Won the bid for the mining rights in August 2020.
o Expected to commence operation by the end of 2022.
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New Materials

The Group continuously promotes its new materials business. Following
the Group’s acquisition of 40% equity interests of Universal Marble
through our wholly owned subsidiary Runfeng New Materials in 2019,
the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement in January 2021
with Universal Marble and its subsidiaries to acquire approximately
b8.8% equity interests of Universal Classical for a consideration of
RMB256,070,700 (equivalent to approximately HK$306,811,000). This
will increase our shareholding in Universal Classical to approximately
75.3%. The main products of Universal Marble are inorganic granite
and quartz, primarily for domestic and international markets. Its major
customers are large real estate developers and government units in charge
of large-scale national public buildings (including subways, schools, and
conference centres). Its brand recognition has a leading position in the
domestic market.

ABHTE dm

“RUN Stone-Lab” displayed various new products including engineered stones manufactured by Runfeng New Materials

TSR ER
Annual Report 2020

39



BEE R RO
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEFMHAAEENEENBAR TE8
SMEMRNMHNEESREE - LB BE
WA EHEXASE DB > REAERY T BE
MM BEEMENEENSBER -FA>
BERMRRBEEREEAS D WIS
REANEA - BAANERSHER BBRERE
wEREBREBREGELUaERT S - BRIE
LM ENASRERERARER L
e As IR EEFHHNER - ERX
RO EEME BMFRREER » KRG
REREMMERSIM S SEFREM
AR -ZTTIEHNERG R

RAILNERE

“ECRF-R AEERBURERIFIT
MEEEFENERIRERNBHEER
Hh > 3513 FA M E A& AV45,500F 75 0K » R EE 78
BB 5T EAE4950,000IZ F K o F A > 7
EERGUNREAKRET LXEESHEE
ERENEEARERRRBALERM 5iF
A EI R 49153,000F 75K - 'R A LTRSS 14
5t EEAE49200,0003L 75 K °

FERNORERBRAR

40

Runfeng New Materials, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, is
mainly responsible for the operation and promotion of new products
and new materials. In May, Runfeng New Materials officially stationed
in “RUN Stone-lab”, whose exhibition hall displayed various products
independently researched, developed and manufactured by Runfeng
New Materials. During the year, Runfeng New Materials actively promoted
inorganic engineered stones, researched and developed new products
such as engineered stone with light and shadow images and translucent
engineered stone, and expanded the market through launching strategic
cooperation with real estate developers. Currently, the engineered
stone products sold by Runfeng New Materials have been applied
in construction projects such as school, cultural exhibition centres,
commercial properties and gardens in Guangdong, Jiangsu Province,
Shaanxi Province, Beijing and Shanghai. In the future, the Group will
explore opportunities for other new products and new materials to provide
customers with systematic and diversified product solutions.

Prefabricated Construction

In January 2020, the Group acquired land for the production of
prefabricated construction components in Yamen Town, Xinhui District,
Jiangmen City, Guangdong. We won the bid for the land with an area
of approximately 45,500 m? and design annual production capacity of
precast concrete components of approximately 50,000 m3. In the same
month, the Group acquired land for the production of prefabricated
construction components in the High-Tech Industrial Cluster Park in
the Industrial Park Zone of Laibin City, Guangxi. We won the bid for the
land with a total area of approximately 153,000 m? and design annual
production capacity of precast concrete components of approximately
200,000 m2,

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In April 2020, the Group acquired land for the production of prefabricated
construction components in Baidong New District, Baise City, Guangxi.
We won the bid for the land with an area of approximately 120,000 m?
and design annual production capacity of precast concrete components of
approximately 200,000 m3.

Phase 1 production line of precast concrete components of the Guigang
Runhe Project had completed construction and commenced trial
production in June 2020. As of the end of 2020, the Group had planned
for a total of 7 prefabricated construction projects and the design annual
production capacity of precast concrete components is expected to reach
approximately 1.5 million m? after completion.

ZECEFENG  EEHSEE AR FRRIE T EAR GG L E

In June 2020, the precast concrete production line of the Guigang Runhe Project (Phase 1) commenced trial production
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UTAEREREERN ! Relevant information of the projects is outlined below:
EH HEFRMERE RETEER AR ARER
(FAK) QAR
Design annual
Area of production
Project land acquired capacity Status Particulars
(m?) (m?)
& Guangdong
REEG (2 - 40,000 =t o EREmMFEREFIT ET BENTREEERREREE
Dongguan Runyang In operation ZIEH o
(note) e Currently, products are mainly supplied to public housing and
commodity housing projects in Shenzhen Municipality, Zhuhai City and
Guangzhou City.
ELER 210,000 400,000 fet o —RRTEREMGEER GREFEM00,00035K) BN
Zhanjiang Runyang Under T —FEFEFERE
construction e Phase 1 production line of precast concrete components (design annual
production capacity of 200,000 m®) is expected to commence operation
in the first half of 2021.
IPEE 45,500 50,000 fet o BRIZZZE—BRHREBLHo
Jiangmen Runfeng Under o CREETIEHUE (FEEAES00,0003L /5 K) RoRAE L TARE A ElgTE
construction RS2 THERE

e Won the bid for the land in January 2020.

o Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 900,000 m?)
and production line of precast concrete components are expected to
commence operation in the second half of 2022.

&7 Guangxi

BMERR 167,000 400,000 fet o RTINS (EE00,0005K) ERZE-NET_RK

Nanning Wuhe Under E; —RR L EREGEER R FEE200,0003L5K) Bl
construction AR —ERAIREC

o Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 600,000 m?)
had commenced operation in December 2019; Phase 1 production line
of precast concrete components (design annual production capacity of
200,000 m?) is expected to commence operation by the end of 2021.

BEES 130,000 200,000 HEE o RIS (EE000005K) ERZE-NET—BK
Guigang Runhe In trial production B —HRR L RREFEER GREHEERL0,0001 7K B5R
MER TR 2 SF AR EE.

o Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 600,000 m?)
had commenced operation in November 2019; Phase 1 production line
of precast concrete components (design annual production capacity
of 100,000 m?) had completed construction and commenced trial
production in June 2020.

REBG 153,000 200,000 HREH o ERIZIZF-ARFLHMe

Laibin Runhe Under planning e Won the bid for the land in January 2020.
BEHE 120,000 200,000 RElA o BERIZIZEMARBLHM

Baise Runhe Under planning e Won the bid for the land in April 2020.

it FEAFAZHERATDREDEBHEEEER  note:
ATIA9% I

The Group holds 49% equity interests of the associate DongGuan RunYang United
Intelligent Manufacturing Company Limited.

EHICRERBRAT
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Digital Transformation

The Group continued to promote the construction of digitalization and
intelligentization to raise the efficiency of production and operation, reduce
production costs, ensure product quality, as well as enhance safety and
environmental protection. In July 2020, Phase 1 of the Group’s intelligent
manufacturing pilot project at the production plant in Tianyang, being the
first cooperation with Siemens Ltd., China, officially commenced operation.
A digital twin combining the real and the virtual is formed to guide
production and operation for the construction of digital intelligent factories
through the application of new technologies such as 5G, Internet of Things
and big data. Full coverage of 5G signal had been achieved. The next step
will be to expand the scope of online monitoring of key equipment and to
build digital mines and intelligent laboratories.

In addition, the Group promoted its self-developed intelligent
manufacturing system at the cement production plant in Pingnan,
Guangxi, among which, some modules of the self-developed project for
quality management system and advanced kiln control had commenced
trial operation. The next step plan will be to promote the quality
management system to the Group’s cement production plants in Shangsi
and Guigang, Guangxi.

On the other hand, the pilot project of a platform for sharing auxiliary
materials and spare parts developed by the Group was launched in
Fujian in April 2020, and the platform was promoted to operating regions
including Guangdong, Guangxi and Hainan in an orderly manner. The
Group continued to promote the “Smart Card” intelligent delivery system.
The upgraded automation functions had been put into operation at the
cement production plants in Fengkai, Huizhou, Luoding and Dongguan,
Guangdong and had been operating at 25 cement production plants
as of the end of 2020, which helped to enhance delivery efficiency and
quality of loading service and to reduce logistical costs. In addition, the
Group conducted the Robotic Process Automation (RPA) pilot project at its
Financial Shared Services Centre for the first time. The full automation of 5
business processes was completed in the first batch, which had improved
the efficiency and quality of financial shared services. The next step plan
will be to roll out the RPA pilot project in the Human Resources Shared
Services Centre.
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On 28 July 2020, the Group, CITIC Holdings Co., Ltd., subsidiary of
Foxconn Industrial Internet Co., Ltd. and other entities jointly set up
Shenzhen CRF Digital Technology Co., Ltd., which is dedicated to creating
intelligent manufacturing solutions and digital platforms for the industries
of automobile parts and building materials including cement, facilitating
transformation and upgrade of the industry, and achieving high-quality
development.

Research, Development and Innovation

Innovation is an important momentum to stimulate corporate vitality
and motivate long-term corporate development. The Group continues
to enhance its R&D capabilities. As of the end of 2020, the Group’s
Technology Research and Development Centre had 51 specialized
employees, including 4 doctors and 21 masters. Among the R&D
personnel, 3 were professorate senior engineers. In April 2020, the
laboratory of China Resources Cement Technology Research and
Development Limited became a laboratory accredited by the China
National Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment.

In 2020, the Group's Technology Research and Development Centre
provided 1,495 checks and tests for cement production plants. System
testing was launched and optimization proposals were offered for
cement production plants located in Fengkai County and Yangchun City,
Guangdong, Caoxi Town, Fujian, and Heging County, Yunnan. Through
the diagnosis and improvement of the kiln grinding system as well as
the optimization of technical quality, consumption of coal and energy
was further reduced to optimize production costs and improve product
quality. The cement production plant in Changjiang, Hainan was assisted
to improve the usage performance and energy consumption of grinding
of cement made of high-belite clinker. The upgrade for automation of
grinding aid production lines and the optimization for the prescription of
functional grinding aid were completed, and were promoted for use at the
Group’s cement production plants in Fengkai, Guangdong and Shangsi,
Nanning, Hepu, Tianyang, Guigang, Guangxi.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Technology Research and Development Centre provides support for
the development of new businesses by actively developing countertop
products, highly malleable cement-based engineered stone and early-
strength nucleating agent products for rapid demolding of precast
concrete components. Projects for key technological advancement and
R&D on products were launched to address certain pain points found
during the process of application of cement-based engineered stone. In
addition, the self-developed early-strength nucleating agent products for
rapid demolding of precast concrete components officially commenced
production and sales in June 2020, and had now been used by various
construction engineering companies in Dongguan and Shenzhen with
good feedback on product effectiveness.

On the other hand, in order to encourage and support all-staff innovation,
comprehensively enhance the quality and standard of innovation work and
accelerate the transformation of innovation achievements, in 2020, the
Group issued the “Innovation Management Measures of China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited”, established the Innovation Development and
Intellectual Property Committee of the Company, formulated innovative
talent training plans and proposals for innovative project promotion,
organized innovation competitions and project selection in innovation
conference, expedited the advancement of innovation work in the fields of
technology, management and business models, and fostered the extensive
application of innovation achievements at each production plant to further
reinforce the strength of “innovation-driven development”.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The functional currency of the Group is RMB while the financial figures
are all denominated in HK$. Comparing with 2019, RMB had depreciated
against HK$ by approximately 1.0%.

Turnover

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2020
amounted to HK$40,086.9 million, representing an increase of 2.9% from
HK$38,955.6 million for the last year. An analysis of segmental turnover by
product is as follows:
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ZEIZE “ENE
2020 2019

HE &M/ UAK HE @ME/LLH-I-
+ THER e T THEE =
W,/ AHK BT TExT W/ usK BT TR

Sales Average Sales Average
volume selling price Turnover volume selling price Turnover

'000 HK$ per '000 HK$ per
tons/m? ton/m? HK$'000 tons/m? ton/m? HK$'000
KB Cement 87,274 372.0 32,462,564 82,528 3707 30,597,238

(&) (note)
R Clinker 3,551 300.7 1,068,011 4,497 3218 1,447,028
REL Concrete 13,385 489.8 6,556,292 14,212 4863 6,911,295
45 Total 40,086,867 38,955,561
5t & BEH 75 7K B85 24,300,0000F (Z T — AL @ ) o note: Inclusive of sales volume of 4.3 million tons of cement from related parties (Nil in
2019).

AT TTE AEBMMIKE BB ECR R
% 5h Y E 18 N04,700,000M8 ~ J5i/1946.000MF Kz
H0827,0003L /5 K > B ZE — AL ED B A
5.8% BV21.0% K8 /05.8% c FE R ANEE
FTiE &R AR ER T » #981.0%B42 5 FEH
LR (CB—HEAT6.9%) > #933.2% L84
HE (CTE—NEA35.6%) - AREEERLR
THEEMRNSEACRE 2 %2,800,000H (ZF
—LE%2,900,000M) > (G 7K BABSH £ 193.1%

ZE—NFAH34%) °

REME PN EERE

BEBT

6,556
1,068 r

2020

32,463
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In 2020, our external sales volume of cement, clinker and concrete
increased by 4.7 million tons, decreased by 946,000 tons and decreased
by 827,000 m3, representing an increase of 5.8%, a decrease of
21.0% and a decrease of 5.8% respectively over 2019. During the year,
approximately 81.0% of the cement products we sold were 42.5 or
higher grades (76.9% in 2019) and approximately 33.2% were sold in
bags (35.6% in 2019). Internal sales volume of cement for our concrete
production was 2.8 million tons (2.9 million tons in 2019), representing
3.1% of the total volume of cement sold (3.4% in 2019).

Segmental turnover by product

HK$ million
e  Cement 6,911 30,597
® =it Concrete

2019

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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RIBE-EFE > ZEBIIRMESDBIAESHE  Our cement sales by geographical areas in 2020 were as follows:
mr

ZEIEE “ZNE
2020 2019

#HE BWTHNER L HE BSWTHEE =E L
T AT TR T BT TR

Average Average
Sales volume selling price Turnover  Sales volume selling price Turnover
4/ 8RR Province/AR '000tons  HK$ per ton HK$'000 '000tons  HK$ per ton HK$'000
[ Guangdong 33,922 4215 14,297,326 30,519 4146 12,654,217
B Guangxi 26,874 352.6 9,475,295 26,528 3478 9,227,310
b=t Fujian 10,029 320.8 3,217,659 10,675 3306 3,529,526
& Hainan 4,051 398.8 1,615,661 4519 4003 1,808,772
Z@ Yunnan 5,629 369.0 2,076,991 4,207 3772 1,587,052
£l Guizhou 2911 223.6 650,932 2,181 260.1 567,320
W7 Shanxi 3,858 292.6 1,128,700 389 3137 1,223,041
fazt Total 87,274 372.0 32,462,564 82,528 3707 30,597,238

RIEBE_ZFE > KE- AR EERE LR FEY  The average selling prices of cement, clinker and concrete in 2020 were
EBH R AEME372.08 7T §NE300.7:8 7tk HK$372.0 per ton, HK$300.7 per ton and HK$489.8 per m? respectively,
T KA89.8B T B _E—NEDBIEM  representing an increase of 0.4%, a decrease of 6.6% and an increase of
0.4% ~ B /106.6% K18 NN0.7% o £ » KRER  0.7% respectively from 2019. During the year, cement prices fluctuated
MRS 2EHEE S —NEEARIT  according to seasonality, and the annual average price was basically flat
-0 compared to 2019.

&2 5 KRIHE Cement sales volume by geographical area
T '000 tons

2,911 3,858 2,181 3,899
&R Guangdong

5,629 i B cuang 4207 i
B Fujian

78R3 Hainan

ERFg Yunnan

&N Guizhou

L7 Shanxi

33,922 30,519
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Costs of Sales

The consolidated cost of sales of the Group (exclusive of cement sales
from related parties) comprised coal, electricity, materials and other
costs, which represented 28.6%, 11.6%, 35.6% and 24.2% of the cost
of sales respectively for the year (29.9%, 11.5%, 35.3% and 23.3% in
2019 respectively). As for cement products, coal, electricity, materials
and other costs represented 34.4%, 14.0%, 24.8% and 26.8% of their
costs respectively for the year (36.6%, 14.1%, 23.3% and 26.0% in 2019
respectively). Materials cost is the major component of the cost of sales of
concrete, representing 90.7% of the cost of sales of concrete for the year
(91.3% in 2019).

The average price of coal we purchased in 2020 was approximately
HK$641 per ton, representing a decrease of 4.8% from the average
price of HK$673 per ton in 2019, while the average thermal value of coal
increased by 2.1% to 5,344 kcal per kg. During the year, our unit coal
consumption decreased to 141.3 kg per ton of clinker produced from the
average of 145.2 kg in 2019. Our standard coal consumption decreased
to 104.4 kg per ton of clinker for the year from the average of 105.5 kg in
2019. As a result of the decreases in coal price and coal consumption, our
average coal cost for the year decreased by 7.4% to HK$90.6 per ton of
clinker produced from HK$97.8 in 2019.

Our average electricity cost decreased by 2.0% from HK$29.9 per ton
of cement to HK$29.3 for the year. During the year, we enjoyed the
benefits of lower electricity tariff for a total of 4,032.7 million kwh of
electricity consumed (3,951.2 million kwh in 2019), which accounted for
62.0% of the total electricity consumption for the production of cement
products (60.9% in 2019), and saved HK$184.0 million (HK$165.8
million in 2019) under direct power supply agreements and price bidding
arrangements. We managed to improve our electricity consumption to
72.2 kwh per ton of cement for the year (72.9 kwh in 2019). Our residual
heat recovery generators generated 2,090.4 million kwh of electricity for
the year, representing an increase of 0.3% over 2,083.8 million kwh in
2019. The electricity generated in 2020 accounted for approximately
32.2% of our required electricity consumption (32.1% in 2019) and we
achieved a cost saving of approximately HK$1,000.9 million for the year
(HK$1,017.9 million in 2019).

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Other costs mainly comprised staff cost, depreciation, and repairs
and maintenance cost. Repairs and maintenance cost included in the
cost of sales of cement products for the year was HK$1,092.0 million,
representing a decrease of 0.6% from HK$1,098.9 million in 2019.

Cost structure of cement products

HK$ per ton

$55.1 $77.5
B Coal (26.0%) (36.6%)
B77  Electricity
FEAAEL Materials
Hfh  Others 2019

$49.4

(23.3%) $29.9

(14.1%)

$211.9
(100.0%)

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

The consolidated gross profit for 2020 was HK$15,636.0 million,
representing a decrease of 0.1% from HK$15,657.5 million for 2019
and the consolidated gross margin was 39.0%, representing a decrease
of 1.2 percentage points from 40.2% for 2019. The gross margins of
cement, clinker and concrete for 2020 were 41.9%, 39.8% and 24.3%,
as compared with 44.0%, 41.9% and 23.1% respectively for 2019.

Other Income

Other income for 2020 was HK$730.6 million, representing an increase of
21.1% from HK$603.4 million for 2019.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for 2020 were HK$1,796.1 million,
representing a decrease of 9.6% from HK$1,986.7 million for 2019. As a
percentage to consolidated turnover, selling and distribution expenses for
the year decreased to 4.5% from 5.1% for 2019.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for 2020 were HK$3,193.4 million,
representing an increase of 37.1% from HK$2,328.5 million for 2019.
During the year, the impairment of interest in an associate of HK$538.0
million (Nil in 2019), impairment of fixed assets of HK$206.7 million
(HK$55.9 million in 2019) and bad debts of HK$166.8 million (HK$15.8
million in 2019) were charged to general and administrative expenses
for the year. As a percentage to consolidated turnover, general and
administrative expenses increased to 8.0% for 2020 from 6.0% for 2019.

Exchange Gain (Loss)

An exchange gain of HK$103.6 million was generated from non-RMB
denominated net borrowings of the Group due to the fluctuations of foreign
exchange rates during the year (HK$36.5 million exchange loss in 2019).

Share of Results of Associates

The associates of the Group contributed a profit of HK$425.5 million for
the year (HK$326.7 million in 2019) of which profits of HK$23.3 million,
HK$58.4 million, HK$336.6 million and HK$0.4 million (loss of HK$89.9
million, profit of HK$100.3 million, profit of HK$289.5 million and profit
of HK$15.6 million in 2019) were attributable to the Group’s associates
operating in Inner Mongolia, Fujian, Yunnan and Guangdong respectively.

Share of Results of Joint Ventures

Our joint ventures principally operating in Guangzhou area contributed a
profit of HK$270.9 million for 2020 (HK$221.0 million in 2019).

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



M1

FERR S TEFNERMNER24.1% M
TR -NER27.6%  HWFHE AT REE
NEREBE BERERKRPEANMMNE RS R
BRPE A IAINRAFES DKM BE—R
ERERATDNELERNTE  AEER
SETEFNBERRER273% CE—NEH
25.2%) °

FHIEE

FEER-Z-ZFRFHNERD225% 8
ZE—NFH22.3%E00.2ME E 73 Bk o

NRBEERMBER

FEENESRRTIZCAEERES RTE
PoEBFPRER ETRABSREEE
RS

N TECZE+_RA=+—H AEENRE
FRARTTHE R U R B B IRIT BB LT
15 .

B wmR DN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group for 2020 was 24.1%, as compared
with 27.6% for 2019. Had the effect of the results of associates and joint
ventures, the exchange difference, as well as the withholding tax in the
Chinese Mainland for dividends and the deferred tax on the intended
distribution profits from subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland to a holding
company in Hong Kong been excluded, the effective tax rate of the Group
for 2020 would be 27.3% (25.2% in 2019).

Net Margin

Net margin of the Group for 2020 was 22.5%, which was 0.2 percentage
points higher than that of 22.3% for 2019.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding mainly included cash on hand, bank
loans, unsecured medium-term notes, issue of equity securities and cash
flows generated from operations.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits included the following amounts:

ﬁ"+—ﬁ =Eqr=lg
—ETEHF =758
S +
As at 31 December
2020 2019
'000 ‘000
BT HK$ 411,544 244 549
AR RMB 11,115,196 10,420,451
ETT Us$ 143 152,465
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s banking facilities amounted to
HK$3,300.0 million and RMB11,500.0 million, of which RMB11,500.0
million was unutilized and remained available for drawdown. The total
bank loans of the Group amounting to HK$3,300.0 million equivalent
(HK$4,577.1 million equivalent as at 31 December 2019) comprised
loans in the following currencies:
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The bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2019 were unsecured.

As at 31 December 2020, bank loans of the Group which carried interests
at variable rates amounted to HK$3,300.0 million (fixed rates amounted
to HK$223.3 million and variable rates amounted to HK$4,353.8 million
respectively as at 31 December 2019).

In 2016, the Company was granted an approval by the National
Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors of PRC for the
issuance of medium-term notes in an aggregate amount of not more than
RMB9.0 billion and commercial paper in an aggregate amount of not
more than RMB4.5 billion in China. On 5 September 2016, the Company
completed the issuance of the first tranche of the medium-term notes in
the amount of RMB3.0 billion at the coupon rate of 3.50% per annum for
a term of five years which will expire in September 2021. These medium-
term notes are unsecured and remained outstanding at 31 December
2020.

Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking facilities of
HK$3,300.0 million equivalent with expiry dates from March 2022
to November 2022, CR Holdings is required to hold not less than
35% of the issued share capital in the Company. Under the terms of
certain agreements for the total banking facilities of HK$3,300.0 million
equivalent, the net gearing ratio of the Company (calculated by dividing
net borrowings by equity attributable to owners of the Company, and as
may be adjusted to exclude certain non-tangible assets) shall not exceed
180%. The Group was in compliance with the above financial covenants
as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



REEH P B ERRERR B RN S BEER
B EE MERREZHIHARESRE
BEEEERGE BXAEENESEZHIER
EiRo K%EHHES%?EETJ&%EHHE’M@JEE%
BREBITERBZNERBE L BIREER
E%ﬁfﬁé{%{%&ﬁhﬁ%m 2aM ) LUmR A
EREBRERBIREBESE K.

FEBNEBTZTBUBTRARIEET-
AEEFMEENEERBITERUEGHERN
Bz FIRTHA R R BT BRI E LI
W%MJEMEHM%&F%ﬁEEEm%
7 52 [ 3 45 B3 SN L PR 7S RA RO SN S SR B ER
TTRA: ﬁﬁm%ﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬂ%’ﬁk%
EREGE S ST B E R EEW
BB - S O TEEE AR R
FHNESHEREWRABIAE L INER
BHRRRENAEEUARKHENEE
- ZE2ZEF+ZBA=+—HKRZZ
—hWE+ZA=+—8 AEELET LM
BHHEN - R_ZEEF+"A=+—H 3
ARBESHEMNBER G AEBBEHN48% (1
TE-NEF+_B=+—H542%) o

BEERR

RIZEZEF+_A=+—H > ~EEHRI
BEREE W_E—hE+"A=+—8:

) o

HABE

RIE-EFE+_A=+—H &xEEER
BYHE NN ASHARL 486,600,000
T (RIZIE—AEFE+ZBA=1+—H: AR
1,258,200,00070) FUIR1TE R EEE B IR1T &
HIER > Eh AR K1,412,700,0007T (P &
—hE+-BR=+—H " AR#1,198,500,000
7T) EREIA

B wmR DN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group adopts robust and prudent treasury policies in financial
management. Treasury management, financing and investment activities
are all managed and monitored by the senior management of the
Company, and all treasury activities of the Group are centralized. The
Group regularly monitors its current and expected liquidity needs as
well as compliance with bank loan agreements in order to maintain its
sufficient cash reserves and flexibility in funding for meeting the Group's
short-term and long-term liquidity needs.

The Group's business transactions were mainly carried out in HK$ and
RMB. The Group’s exposure to currency risk was attributable to the bank
balances and debts which were denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the entity to which these bank balances and
debts were related. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure. However, the
management regularly monitors the relevant foreign currency exposure
and will consider taking appropriate measures to control the risk arising
from significant exchange fluctuations. These will include hedging
significant currency exposure and/or increasing the proportion of RMB-
denominated borrowings of the Group should the higher interest costs
be considered justifiable against the risk of exchange losses. The Group
was not engaged in any hedging contract as at 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2019. As at 31 December 2020, non-RMB denominated
debts accounted for 48% of the total debts of the Group (42% as at 31
December 2019).

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, there was no charge on assets by the Group
(Nil as at 31 December 2019).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had issued guarantees to banks
in respect of banking facilities in the amount of RMB1,486.6 million
(RMB1,258.2 million as at 31 December 2019) granted to associates,
of which RMB1,412.7 million (RMB1,198.5 million as at 31 December
2019) had been utilized.
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ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Pursuant to the placing, underwriting and subscription agreement dated
11 June 2018, the Company issued 450 million ordinary Shares at a price
of HK$9.30 per Share in cash to CRH (Cement) Limited, the Company’s
immediate holding company. The gross funds raised was HK$4,185.0
million and the net proceeds, after deducting all professional fees and
other out-of-pocket expenses, was approximately HK$4,180.3 million,
representing a net issue price of approximately HK$9.29 per Share. The
closing price as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 11 June 2018 was
HK$10.32 per Share. Details of the placing and the top-up subscription
were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 11 June 2018
and 25 June 2018.

The Board considers that the abovementioned issues of Shares has
strengthened the capital base of the Company. Details of the use of net
proceeds are as follows:

RZ8—h¥ RIZZTF
+ZH +Z=H
=+—H FR =+—H FERAEN A
BREDHESE CHEEE CHEXE XPAEE RE&
FTHET FTHT FHT THT
Amount Amount Amount
Amount utilized utilized unutilized Expected
Intended use of intended to as at during as at timeline of
FRig 3 EBMREAR net proceeds be utilized  31/12/2019 theyear  31/12/2020 utilization
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRERL Development of 1,672,000 179,200 392,900 1,09900 ZEZZFH A
BEER prefabricated By 2022
construction business
BRENER Development of 1,254,000 182,100 1,071,900 - TERA
aggregates business Not applicable
BEBH Repayment of debts 836,000 836,000 - - TEA
Not applicable
—REEEE General working capital 418279 418279 - - TEA
Not applicable
st Total 4,180,279 1,615,579 1,464,800 1,099,900

bR EXXCFrEESN R AR EAE R M E AR
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R SEEIR
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Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
carried out any fund raising activities in respect of issue of equity securities
during the year.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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RREFEIREARZTH

BEXH

FUTURE PLAN AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Capital Expenditure

A CECEF+_A=+—H &~EHEHE
KREMNERFE ZHAINERLIHNS
9,082,500,00078 7T - ZE R EIBIEERB W

As at 31 December 2020, the outstanding capital expenditure for the
Group’s expansion plans to be invested was approximately HK$9,082.5
million. Details of these expansion plans are as follows:

B
RZE—-NE RZE_EF
_BEERN +-RA=t-H £8 +-B=+-H
Br @ EfiFE ENTE HEELIY
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
Outstanding
capital
Total capital Expended Expended expenditure
expenditure as at during as at
JELE| Projects for the project 31/12/2019 the year 31/12/2020
HK$ million HKS million HK$ million HK$ million
HERANEREITN Construction of a production plant for
R ERBHEERY prefabricated construction companents with
GRETEEEN design annual capacity of approximately
400,00032 /5 K) 400,000 m? in Zhanjiang City, Guangdong 5204 9.3 80.3 3498
BEUPEAREDN Construction of a production plant for
HERREGEERN prefabricated construction components with
(GRETEEREN design annual capacity of approximately
400,00012 /5 3K) 400,000 m? in Nanning City, Guangyi 5731 893 476 4362
HEANBREADN Construction of a production plant for
REDERRGEEEN prefabricated construction components with
(BRETEEEN design annual capacity of approximately
200,000 5 K) 200,000 m? in Guigang City, Guangi 2389 50.2 131.2 575
EEANBAREDN Construction of a production plant for
S RERGEERN prefabricated construction components with
(REEEREN design annual capacity of approximately
200,0001Z 75 3K) 200,000 m? in Laibin City, Guangxi 2288 - 256 203.2
EERANERIFMH Construction of a production plant for
SR BRERGEERN prefabricated construction components with
(FREHEESENS000HK)  design annual capacity of approximately
50,000 m? in Jiangmen City, Guangdong 300.6 - 749 2257
HEANBERTADN Construction of a production plant for
SR BREGEEREN prefabricated construction components with
(RETEEREN design annual capacity of approximately
200,00032 /5 K) 200,000 m? in Baise City, Guangxi 254.3 - 33 210
ERUNERRTHRN Construction of a production plant for
BRAERM aggregates with planned annual production
(AR B EAE492,000,0000) capacity of approximately 2.0 million tons in
Wuping County, Fujian 467.3 1734 50.7 2432
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RZE-NE -
_BREE®N +ZA=1+—-H £R +-A=t+—H
Brx L@ BIFE ENTE HEELZH
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
Outstanding
capital
Total capital Expended Expended expenditure
expenditure as at during as at
JHH Projects for the project 31/12/2019 the year 31/12/2020
HK$ million HKS million HK$ million HK$ million
HEMNERALBEN Construction of a production plant for
BREEEN aggregates with planned annual production
(FREI4F EREXY5,000,0001) capacity of approximately 5.0 million tons in
Shangsi County, Guangxi 473.7 - 89.7 384.0
HEANBERABEN Construction of a production plant for
BREEEN aggregates with planned annual production
(MR 212 & 5E475,000,0000) capacity of approximately 5.0 million tons in
Tianyang District, Guangxi 470.5 - 102.8 367.7
HERANEEHLEN Construction of a production plant for
BREEEN aggregates with planned annual production
(212 & 5E413,000,0000) capacity of approximately 3.0 million tons in
Weishan County, Yunnan 4321 - 126.1 306.0
ERAR BRI RN Construction of a production plant for
BREERY aggregates with planned annual production
(RBIFEAEA30,000,0008)  capacily of approximately 30.0 million tons
in Fengkai County, Guangdong 6,329.1 - 2,743.7 35854
HEMNBET RN Construction of a production plant for
BRAERM aggregates with planned annual production
(FREI £ EAEX93,000,0000) capacity of approximately 3.0 million tons in
Dingan County, Hainan 2,019.9 - 737.3 1,282.6
HEANBEAREHRN Construction of a production plant for
BRAERM aggregates with planned annual production
(FREI £ EAEX95,000,0000) capacity of approximately 5.0 million tons in
Wuxuan County, Guangxi 894.2 - - 894.2
BRUPERE INER Construction of a construction waste
WIRE#E RETERERN disposal plant with design annual disposal
#9250,0000 > FeE& IR0 K2 capacity of approximately 250,000 tons,
BER AR EREA91,150,0000) complemented with total annual production
capacity of approximately 1,150,000
tons of manufactured sand and gravel, in
Changjiang, Hainan 1316 - 456 86.0
KR TR B A MR Acquisition of approximately 58.8%
BIRAT4958 8% 17 equity interests of DongGuan Universal
Classical Material Ltd. 3068 - - 3068
EEImER BN Construction of 3 concrete batching plants with
(ERTMEEERE total annual capacity of approximately 1.5
491,500,000 /5 ) million m? of concrete 1613 - 281 1332
a5t Total 13,8026 403.2 43169 9,082.5
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Payment of Capital Expenditure

In addition to the foregoing capital expenditure, the Group had outstanding
payment for the construction of production plants completed in the
previous years, which have already been included under other payables in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020.
Total payments for capital expenditure of the Group are expected to be
approximately HK$5,708.6 million and HK$2,891.0 million in the years
2021 and 2022, which will be financed by proceeds from previous placing
of Shares and internally generated funds.

JI Youhong
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 12 March 2021
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This report aims to enhance open communications with and address
the issues concerned by our stakeholders on the Group’s philosophy,
governance, implementation and performance on the two main scopes of
environmental and social responsibilities.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

This report is prepared mainly with reference to the principles and
provisions of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

SCOPE OF REPORT

This report mainly includes the statistics and information for the year
ended 31 December 2020, as well as comparative data for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2019. The main scope of report covers
97 cement grinding lines, 46 clinker production lines and 60 concrete
batching plants of the Group. Unless otherwise stated, this report does not
cover the Group's associates and joint ventures.

DIRECTORS’ OVERSIGHT OF ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

By upholding the corporate mission “to provide customers with quality
products and services, promote innovation and lead green development in
the industry, thereby building an everlasting business”, the Company has
assimilated social responsibility into corporate operations. We proactively
advance the launch of social responsibility work from the perspectives of
stakeholders including shareholders, employees, customers, partners and
the community.

With the focus on building capability in social responsibility, the Group
continuously pays attention to the international and domestic development
trends and popular topics on social responsibility. We periodically
organize internal trainings on social responsibility for Directors and
relevant employees, and actively participate in environmental, social
and governance seminars held by third-party consulting agencies to
keep abreast of the reporting guide of the Stock Exchange and the latest
industry trends and to enhance capability in building social responsibility.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Group proactively expedited the fulfillment of social responsibility
through the initiative of the Executive Director and with the oversight
and support of the Board. In order to actively fulfil corporate social
responsibility and launch the firm implementation of relevant works on
responsibility practice, the Company established the “Corporate Culture
and Social Responsibility Steering Committee”, which is responsible for
the leadership, promotion and decision-making and other main works of
the Company's strategic directions with respect to social responsibility.
The Chief Executive Officer serves as the President of the committee,
who has been delegated by the Board to manage the implementation of
all aspects of the Group’s work on social responsibility. The heads of all
functional departments at headquarters and all major operating regions
responsible for principal decision-making of management and day-to-
day business of the Group serve as members of the committee to achieve
the integration, cross-functional and cross-regional implementation of
social responsibility into the business. At the same time, the committee
established a specific working group to prepare the social responsibility
report. Such organizational arrangements have laid a solid foundation
for the Company to launch its social responsibility work and to effectively
promote the management, practice and integration of responsibility.

Besides, the principle of “Three-tiered Management and Control”
has been implemented in the Group’s EHS organizational system at
each level, which comprises the EHS organizational institutions of
headquarters, major operating regions and production plants. EHS
organizational institutions at each level includes the EHS Committee, the
EHS Supervision and Management Department and the EHS Supporting
Department. The EHS Management Committee at headquarters is chaired
by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The headquarters set up
the EHS Department and appointed the Chief Safety and Environmental
Officer. EHS departments or EHS offices are set up at our major
operating regions and production plants respectively under the direct
management of persons in charge of corresponding major operating
regions and production plants. The Group was dedicated to improving
the EHS accountability policies. All departments at headquarters, major
operating regions and production plants entered into the “Letter of EHS
Undertaking” or the “EHS Responsibility Pledge”, and relevant policies
had been incorporated in the annual performance appraisal.
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With the full assistance of the “Corporate Culture and Social Responsibility
Steering Committee”, the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for
reviewing and reporting to the Board on the Group’s approach, strategy
and performance of social responsibility throughout the year so that the
Board could oversee the Group’s management of social responsibility
issues. In addition, under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer,
the Internal Audit Department of the Company shall hold and roll out risk
assessments on a regular basis, during which all functional departments at
headquarters and all major operating regions will carefully study the global
and systemic risks (inclusive of environmental, social and governance
risks) potentially faced in the coming year and medium to long term upon
overall consideration of the strategic planning directions of the Company
and in combination with corporate business development. Response
measures are then formulated for high-risk issues. The Internal Audit
Department shall report the achievements in risks management work
to the Chief Executive Officer and the Audit Committee. Thereafter, the
Audit Committee shall make appropriate recommendations to the Board.
In 2020, the following environmental, social and governance issues were
engaged at Board level: participation in the materiality assessment, review
of the findings on the materiality assessment, the risks management
report, the Environmental and Social Responsibility Report, etc.

MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

Engagements with Stakeholders

The Company is proactively concerned with the aspirations and
expectations of our stakeholders such as government and regulatory
bodies, shareholders and investors, customers, employees, suppliers and
partners, community and media. We continue to explore effective means
of communications with each stakeholder through various channels and
means including information publication, information reporting, special
presentations, shareholders’ meetings, site visits, community activities,
open days, staff activities, the Company’s website and official WeChat
public account for the disclosure of the Company’s results performance
and relevant activities in a timely, accurate and rigorous manner as
well as timely propagation of the Company’s philosophy and practice of
responsibility fulfilment. While enhancing stakeholders’ understanding on
and support to the Company, the Company also listen to the reasonable
opinions and suggestions from internal and external stakeholders for the
continuous improvement of corporate operational management methods
and improvement on the Company’s competitiveness.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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ERADAE

Communications and Responses

1 B R B B
Government and regulatory
bodies

RERELE

Regulated operations according
to laws

ZERRF

Safety and environmental protection

BEREE

Occupational health
AHEEER

Local economic development
MERK

Employment and tax income

BRHITERER

Strict implementation of national policies

BRZLLE - EHREER

Insistence on production safety and promoting green development
NIEAES e

Reinforcement on protection of occupational health

RIS EM AR RENERE

Proactive participation in local construction and providing
employment opportunities

BEEER REGNRE

Compliance with laws and regulations, timely payment of taxes
R ERRECEEE

Timely and accurate submission of corporate information

2 REREEE

Shareholders and investors

Tr¥EA

Corporate value
BRI

Transformation and innovation
NEAE

Corporate governance
OREERE

Sustainable development
BElsEE

Risks management
BREE

Compliance management

RAGCECEERKT LEREERBA

Enhancing standards of corporate operation, results and asset
value

BRI RACEREN

Transformation with innovation for enhancing corporate
competitiveness

REEFSFHED TENS BUNREREZ

Standardizing construction of the Board, and perfecting scientific
and effective governance system

MIRERMEEE FEERRE TEHMEERERE
i

Paying attention to environmental and social impacts, adopting
corresponding measures, and improving relevant information
disclosure and communications

RABSCRERRRNAE

Enhancing the strength of preventing and solving substantial risks
BUAREERR TSoREDR BEEXTATAE
=]

Construction of compliance management system, improving
compliance review mechanism, and rolling out propagation of code
of business conduct

EERFEAS REBEND LRLMHY RESREEE
g REREHEAT NS EHRE

Holding investor activities including general meetings, investors
meetings, results presentations, roadshows, etc., and publication of
announcements and regular reports of the Company according to
requirements

3 BR
Customers

EmEE
Product quality
BRRE
Customer service
AR

Rights and interests of customers

Bl

Innovation

2AGFEERES

Comprehensive guarantee of product quality
BRUBEEARERER TERAERREREFERHES
BRERRRERN

Establishing sound customer service system, improving
mechanism for customer feedback and complaint handling, and
launching surveys on customer satisfaction
BARGREZREEZLY NARTFEERAER
Upholding and protecting security of customer data, and
strengthening the construction of customer management system
B ERNEATAI

Encouraging innovation of products and technology
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Fit  FIEEmEER HREHE BREEME
No.  Types of Stakeholders Aspirations and Expectations Communications and Responses
4 8T o BIfH o BDETEREEL RESISLER
Employees Rights and interests of employees Adhering to the principle of equal employment and protecting the
o FiBNER legal rights and interests of employees
Remuneration and benefits o BHBIARA® BUBIXRTAR
o HEME Holding employees’ congress and construction of communications
Career development platform for employees
o ETHE o HIRERIBONGMENER TERERNGE
Care for employees Formulating competitive remuneration and benefits systems, and
o REZ2 improving various benefits and treatment
Health and safety o BREIBIIRTEESEE TEHBARE ARG
Launching staff training, and perfecting incentives and promation
mechanism
o BREBILEH HENBEEST
Organizing staff activities and care for employees in need
o FIIBFEREANOERER SEIERERESSE
Care for occupational health and mental health, and improving
working environment and ambience of the organization
5 HEERGEBHN o REEHN o MMRFHEIEER ERABEN
Suppliers and partners Punctual fulfillment of agreements Strengthening the management of procurement orders and strong
o HERZ emphasis on fulfillment of agreements
Integrity and probity o HRERCEZYR SHBLIRE
o T¥EHE Launching regular probity education and adopting “Sunshine
Equality for mutual benefit Procurement”
o BffftE o MRIGEESHE -EEBMNAFREIETS
Cooperation for mutual gain Strengthening communications and cooperation, building effective
o TEESRBEUAR cooperation mechanisms and platforms
Advancement, transformation and upgrade of o BIEEEIEE  Bih RIEHM
the industry Launching regular meetings, mutual visits and exchanges
o DETEREREREMHARE
Participating in the formulation of industry standards and
technological research
6 & o R BERERERE o RERPAEEER KELEE -GEHA REER BRR
Community Safety, health and ecological environment B BME
o HHEHE Reinforcement of production safety management, green production
Harmonious community and green office to increase the composite utilization efficiency of
o REEE energy and resources
Community activities o ERBBIR EEHEEREER
o EBUMPERCELE Construction of green factories and promotion of co-processing
Local employment and economic projects
development o BEERSHANEHLE
Active participation in mutual community construction
o BERBEKE AGEEIHRMESEE
Active participation in poverty alleviation, community charitable
activities and social volunteer activities
o LHEMAEZEX REZEEMSEE
Support for local education business, campus recruitment and
community recruitment
7 et o REER o EREERBECEEN
Media Abiding by laws and compliance Timely and accurate disclosure of corporate information
o EifER o ERERRE BEHINGERE BHEEREE REL

Information disclosure
o REEE
Operational results

o RERZE
Health and safety
o TRHEBERE
Sustainable development
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Welcoming supervision by media, smooth channels of external
publication for proactive communications with and timely response
to the media
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Identification of Material Issues

The Company gradually strengthened the management of environmental,
social and governance issues, and identified 33 material issues from 6
scopes of responsibilities through analysis on macro policies and industry
policies and regulations, research on the domestic and international
authoritative social responsibility standards, benchmarking comparison
with excellent reports in the cement industry, and with reference to
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” of the Stock
Exchange, “GRI Sustainability Reporting Standards” of Global Reporting
Initiative, “Guidelines on Corporate Social Responsibility Reporting for
Chinese Enterprises (CASS-CSR4.0)" of Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences, “Guidance on Social Responsibility of Cement Enterprise”,
“Guidance on Social Responsibility Reporting of Cement Enterprise” and
“Social Responsibility Evaluation Index System of Cement Enterprise” of
China Cement Association.

Prioritization of Material Issues

In order to further enhance the specificity of material environmental,
social and governance issues, in 2020, the Company specifically
prepared survey questionnaire of material issues in both Chinese and
English, which were sent through emails, peer-to-peer invitations and
official WeChat public account to extensively understand the degree of
concerns of internal and external stakeholders on each material issue.
The Company collected a total of 2,086 valid questionnaires. Based
on the survey results, we assessed the priority of material issues from
the two dimensions of “materiality to the Company’s development” and
“materiality to stakeholders”, and prepared the materiality assessment
matrix. Upon the review and recommendation by the Board, the senior
management and external consultants on the material issues and their
prioritization results, the core material issues closely related to sustainable
development of the Company which highly concerned stakeholders were
confirmed as the key disclosure contents.
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Environmental management systems

SR BEEYEIR
Pollutant and waste management

-~
BEEEHE
(19) (18] (9 Highly material issues P
o (7] o O ©
i S o
2 ® 1€ (25
5 o o
83 29 (10 O
R (11)
=2 | © (33 REEEHE
<= Moderately material issues
s o (27]
" O
w3 o
—REEEE
Generally material issues
4
HEABDEENEENM
Materiality to the Company's development
BHEEE Fik EEMERE
Scopes of Responsibilities No. Material Issues
T © ZENE CELERCLEE
Economic Managerial efficiency, operational results and enterprise value
O LEhERAREE
Corporate governance and risk management
O HERERREER
Integrity management and promotion of anti-corruption
O REsmEEEs
Rights and interests of shareholders and investors
O =ZEExERAEUAR
Promoting high-quality development, transformation and upgrade
Bis 0O IsExRE
Environment Sustainable development
O E=RREFREE
Energy and resources management
O =mEEEs

HEEE

Waste co-processing

6 4 ERICRERBRAT
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BEERSE Fat EEMEE

Scopes of Responsibilities No. Material Issues

FRSHEIERAAEELER

Ecological diversification and green mine construction
RPN R RAE B

Carbon emissions and climate change
BRAmAZEHA

Charity events for environmental protection and green offices
ER M R AR B ERES

Clean technology and opportunities in green building

BT #EF

Compensation and benefits of employees
BT REEE

Development and training of employees
BTHEER

Occupational health of employees
BT#a

Rights and interests of employees

BTHE
Care for employees

EF EmkBRBEEERE

Customers Product and service quality management
MBEREERBANRE
Management of intellectual property rights and transformation of achievements
in scientific research into practical applications

R RS R

Product and service innovation
BREmRRERE

Rights, interests and satisfaction of customers
BEAFEHE

Promoting sustainable consumption

HE SRR

Integrous and compliant procurement

HERSEEE
Supply chain responsibility management

RS R A ELAth Ok £ 4 5

Rights and interests of suppliers and other partners
EREZHERE

Resources sharing and mutual growth
TERMAER

Communications with industry players to foster industry development
ZREE

Production safety

@R

Mutual community building with society
HKEBRERE AT

Poverty alleviation and community charity
KRERTHE

Investment in and drive for employment

8T
Employees

® 6 © 6 & 6 6 A 6

e

Partners

PSS
Public

e 06 & 6 6 6 @ 6 O

TSR ER
Annual Report 2020 65



RIERAEEERS

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

IRIR

FRBREBBITEEARNMEEEE &S
BRERER 1TE - MBSHEBERERERF
BRARTSRY  BEY BN ERKRER
BIE BIBEHREEE BB HEREER
B -BeRlUERSTIFESRaLE Bh
REEL BRCENARBERE-

1- SRYERE

FEBBRETEREBERACBERET N [
RIS B ERESERYELENZE
BEIRG) P EEERRR ( (FEARKEM
BIRIE fREEE) ~ (FEARFEMBEIARRIS A
AED) S (REARFEMBEACSRETAZE) ~ (F
EARHAMBEERREY) S RIRENAE)  (F
EARKMBEIRIBREZISRETAE) ~ (PEA
REMBE LIRS R E2E)  (PEARLNE
RIBREENE) ~ (PEARTMEIRIZ R ET
BE) ~ OKEIERRSREYPBIRE) ~ OK
REWEREEREYSRIERIRE)-

FERNORERBRAR

66

ENVIRONMENT

The Company proactively fulfils its social responsibilities as a corporate
citizen. In strict compliance with the relevant requirements of national,
industrial and local laws and regulations, we continuously launch
management on pollutant. waste, carbon emissions, energy and resources
management, and proactively respond to climate change. We implement
green production and support transformation of environmental protection
through waste co-processing and green mine construction, thereby
achieving sustainable corporate development.

1. POLLUTANT MANAGEMENT

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including but not
limited to: the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the
People’'s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Noise Pollution, the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Soil Pollution, the
Environmental Protection Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Cement Industry, and the
Standard for Pollution Control on Co-Processing of Solid Wastes in Cement
Kiln.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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With strict reference to relevant requirements on environmental laws and
regulations, the Group had established the “EHS Management Series”
of the “Management Manual” of the Company and sound environmental
management system, and issued definite requirements on the monitor
and management of pollutant emissions relating to co-processing projects.
The Group’s appraisal system for excellent operational management
sets targets based on the results of industry benchmarking or internal
benchmarking. Comprehensive appraisal on the environment, health
and safety aspects of every cement production plant is conducted, which
enhances the management standard and fosters corporate sustainable
development.

During the production and manufacturing process of our main products
(namely, cement, clinker and concrete), the Group mainly emits pollutants
including nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide and particulate matters. The
Group proactively promotes green production. Currently, all of our cement
production plants have obtained permits for pollutant emissions, and
have been equipped with pure low-temperature residual heat recovery
generation systems, denitration systems and bag filters.

The Group has a platform at headquarters to monitor the emissions
of environmental pollutants, thereby achieving the headquarters’ real-
time monitor on pollutant emissions of all production lines. The risk
management capability on pollutant emissions has been further enhanced
by timely reminders to urge production plants to verify abnormal data
through the platform. Since 2019, the Group had taken the initiative to be
subject to scrutiny from all sectors of the society by spontaneously making
full disclosure on real-time pollutant emissions data of all production lines
in order to continuously improve the standards of clean production, build
an excellent corporate image of strict legal compliance and harmonious
community, prevent and control risks of environmental protection.
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Currently, the average emission concentrations of nitrogen oxides, sulphur
dioxide and particulate matters of each production plant of the Group are
lower than the national standard limits of pollutant emissions. Meanwhile,
the Group had been continuously seeking new technology of emission
reduction and enhancing technological standards and management
standards of environmental protection. The Group targets that, by 2025,
the emission concentrations of nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide and
particulate matters shall fall below 100 mg/m?, 50 mg/m? and 10 mg/m?
respectively from exhaust gases of kiln heads and kiln rears of all cement
production plants. Based on the existing facilities, we aim at reducing the
emissions of nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide and particulate matters by
63%, 57% and 41% respectively by 2025 as compared with 2015.

In terms of emission reduction of nitrogen oxides, the Group successfully
used the multi-level combustion technology at the cement production
plant in Changzhi City, Shanxi, which had reduced the emission
concentration of nitrogen oxides to below 100 mg/m3. The Group had
proactively launched the research on intelligent ultra-low emissions
technology of highly effective selective non-catalytic reduction denitration
(heSNCR) + multi-level combustion and selective catalytic reduction
denitration (SCR). In 2021, the Group plans to roll out pilot work of
heSNCR technology in Jinsha, Guizhou and Luchuan, Guangxi, as well
as pilot work of SCR in Nanning, Guangxi and Changzhi, Shanxi. It is
also planned that the application of the technologies will be promoted
during the “Fourteenth Five-Year” period to further reduce the emission
concentration of nitrogen oxides, thereby achieving emission concentration
of nitrogen oxides of below 100 mg/m? for all production lines.

In terms of emission reduction of sulphur dioxide, in order to achieve
emissions at target levels, the Group selectively applied desulphurization
technology according to the actual needs of operation of each production
line. As of the end of December 2020, the Group completed the
construction of 3 sets of wet-process desulphurization systems and 11
sets of composite desulphurization systems. The cement production
plant in Changjiang, Hainan will implement upgrade and transformation
to increase the capacity of wet-process desulphurization and the
cement production plant in Hepu, Guangxi will implement wet-process
desulphurization, which will further reduce the emission concentration of
sulphur dioxide.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In terms of emission reduction of particulate matters, the Group
continuously promoted the technology of new-type bag filters in high
temperature for ultra-low emissions of particulate matters at kiln rear. As
of the end of 2020, it had been applied at 17 cement production plants
including those located in Fengkai and Huizhou of Guangdong, Pingnan,
Wuxuan and Fuchuan of Guangxi, Caoxi and Yongding of Fujian. The
emission concentrations of particulate matters had been reduced to
below 10 mg/m3, which are far lower than the national special emission
limits for achieving ultra-low emission of particulate matters. In addition,
the Group continued to launch the technological upgrade of cement
packaging systems and promote the application of automatic bagging
technology and automatic loading technology. As of the end of 2020, the
cement production plants at Lianjiang of Guangdong, Nanning, Tianyang
and Shangsi of Guangxi, and Anshun of Guizhou had completed the
technological upgrade of cement packaging systems. This had further
improved the working environment of cement packaging and loading,
raised the standard of equipment automation and effectively reduced
emission of particulate matters. The Group plans to complete the
promotion and coverage at remaining cement production plants during the
“Fourteenth Five-Year” period.

As of the end of 2020, the cement production plants located in
Tianyang, Nanning, Pingnan, Wuxuan and Guigang of Guangxi, and
Heging of Yunnan had been included as green factories in the register
of national-level Green Manufacturing. The cement production plants
located in Shangsi, Luchuan and Hepu of Guangxi, Longyan, Yanshi,
Caoxi and Yongding of Fujian, and Jinsha of Guizhou were included
as green factories in the registers of provincial-level or AR-level Green
Manufacturing.
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Data of pollutants emitted from the major discharge outlets of the Group'’s
cement production plants for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019
and 2020 is set out as follows:

—EIBFE 2—hAfF Z2—\F

() (nig) (mg)

2020 2019 2018

(tons) (tons) (tons)

2R E Emission of nitrogen oxides 36,194 37,584 39,822
“S{EFEEmE Emission of sulphur dioxide 1,646 1,824 2,352
BRYBEN 2 Emission of particulate matters 1,777 2,083 2,361

BE_Z—N\E-ZE—HE-ZE-ZEHFE The average emission concentrations of pollutants emitted from the major

+TA=+—HLFE  xEENEEEEM
FEHMON SR TR E U RBER

discharge outlets of the Group’s cement production plants for the years
ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 as well as the benchmarks of

TERARERRE U ¢ relevant national standards are set out as follows:
KETERRSHEY
HEmiR FEREKEEEEM
(GB 4915-2013) FEHRON SRYTIIHBRE
Emission Standard of Air Pollutants Average emission concentrations of pollutants
for Cement Industry emitted from the major discharge outlets of the
(GB 4915-2013) Group’s cement production plants
—mRHRRE FHIHREE ZZIEFE —Z-AF ZE-N\F
Ew/ ERw/ ZR/ (E%w/ ERn/
I FAK) I FK) IFHK) I FAK) T FAK)
Ordinary Special
emission emission
limits limits 2020 2019 2018
(mg/md) (mg/m?) (mg/md) (mg/m3) (mg/md)
Eak=Nlut?)| Nitrogen oxides 400 320 197 240 254
ZHIER Sulphur dioxide 200 100 10 13 18
EErEY) Particulate matters 30 20 7 9 11
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2. MANAGEMENT OF CARBON EMISSIONS

The Chinese government proposes to strive for the target of peaking
carbon dioxide emissions before 2030 and achieving the vision of
carbon neutrality before 2060. The Group will complement the national
policies, research and formulate plans for medium to long-term targets of
carbon emissions based on its own actual circumstances, and vigorously
promote green low-carbon and sustainable development to assist China
in achieving the targets of peaking carbon dioxide emissions and carbon
neutrality and to make positive contributions to environmental treatment
and management.

During the “Fourteenth Five-Year” period, the Group will actively reduce
carbon emissions through reduction of energy consumption, pilot trial of
new technologies and new techniques, and development of low-carbon
products.

The Group has been working on the applied research of new technologies
and new techniques for alternative clinker (such as calcined clay) and
alternative fuel (such as biomass fuel and industrial waste). In 2020, the
Group used carbide slag as alternative materials to limestone to achieve
reduction of carbon dioxide emissions. In addition, the Group plans to
launch technological research and application of carbon dioxide capture to
lay the foundation for further promotion in the future.

In terms of low-carbon products, the Group has been launching the
development and application of low-carbon cementitious materials and
proactively promoting cement for nuclear power plants, cement for
roads and high-belite cement in Fujian and Hainan at the same time to
reduce emission of carbon dioxide. As compared with ordinary cement
and clinker, carbon dioxide emissions per ton of clinker from cement for
nuclear power plants, cement for roads and high-belite cement decrease
by approximately 1.5%, 1.6% and 2.2% respectively. As of the end of
2020, various cement and clinker products of the Group’s production
plants located in Luoding of Guangdong, Wuxuan, Tianyang, Nanning,
Guigang, Pingnan and Hepu of Guangxi, and Heging of Yunnan had
passed the low-carbon product certification.

TSR ER 71
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The Group proactively follows up and executes the national policies for
carbon emissions, and actively participates in meetings of industrial
institutions relevant to carbon emissions and trial activities for the
construction of national carbon market in preparation for the future
unification of national carbon market. 8 factories in Guangdong and
5 factories in Fujian of the Group had settled the carbon credit quota
for 2019. Besides, the Group continued to complete the calculation of
quantity of carbon emissions for 2020 in accordance with the “Guidelines
for Accounting and Reporting Greenhouse Gas Emissions for Cement
Enterprises”. In 2020, the greenhouse gases emissions of the Group were
59,605,000 tons of carbon dioxide equivalent, among which, greenhouse
gases emissions (scope 1) were 58,247,000 tons of carbon dioxide
equivalent and greenhouse gases emissions (scope 2) were 1,358,000
tons of carbon dioxide equivalent.

3. ENERGY AND RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations on
energy and resources management, including the Energy Conservation
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Mineral Resources Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Law on Resource Tax of the
People’s Republic of China. The Group has an energy management
system and the policy “Supervision and Management of Energy Saving
and Emission Reduction”. All resources consumed during production
process are measured for the assessment of operational performance of
the production plant in order to enhance the utilization rates of energy
and resources as well as economic benefits. In addition, the Group
persistently encourages energy saving. Room for improvement is found by
benchmarking with global first-class enterprises. We continued to roll out
the promotion and application of new technology, new equipment, new
materials and innovative achievements, saving and recycled use of energy,
investment of environmental protection technologies for energy saving,
technological upgrade on emission reduction, R&D and innovation.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In terms of energy saving and consumption reduction, all the cement
and clinker production plants of the Group are equipped with residual
heat power generation systems. In 2020, approximately 2,090.4 million
kwh of electricity was generated from residual heat, representing
approximately 32.2% of the Group'’s electricity consumption required for
production of cement products. The Group continuously implements lean
management and technological upgrade projects for energy saving and
consumption reduction. Composite utilization of resources and reduced
coal consumption had been achieved through composite utilization of
local resources such as fly ash, coal gangue or carbide slag, through
contribution of heat value or improvement of clinker combustibility.
Electricity consumption had been reduced at the same time by promoting
the technologies of highly effective energy-saving fans, energy-saving air
compressors and air blowers.

The Group had fully promoted the use of grinding aids since 2012.
Use of grinding aids for cement could reduce consumption of clinker
and electricity during the process of cement production and maintain
stable quality for cement. In 2020, the use of grinding aids reduced the
average consumption of electricity resources of the Group by 2.0 kwh per
ton of cement produced and clinker consumption decreased by 3.8%.
Throughout the year, approximately 160.0 million kwh of electricity was
saved and clinker consumption decreased by approximately 3.1 million
tons, which was conducive to reducing carbon dioxide emissions.

The Group proactively promotes digital transformation. In cooperation with
Siemens, a pilot intelligent manufacturing factory is being constructed at
the cement production plant in Tianyang District, Guangxi. Phase 1 of
the project commenced operation in July 2020. Completion of the project
construction will be conducive to enhancing production efficiency of
the factory. In addition, the Group plans to commence the construction
of intelligent manufacturing centred on the aspects of EHS, operation,
production, equipment, quality, mines and logistics to create a “lighthouse
factory” at the cement production plant in Fengkai County, Guangdong.
Meanwhile, the Group actively promotes co-processing projects by use of
cement kilns, which makes use of the heat value of municipal solid waste,
urban sludge and hazardous industrial waste to replace some of the fuel,
thereby reducing coal consumption and carbon emissions.
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During the “Fourteenth Five-Year” period, the Group plans to upgrade the
“second-generation cement” technology for achieving enhancement of
energy efficiency, such as by the use of advanced combustion formation
technology with energy-efficient pre-heating and pre-decomposition,
the fourth-generation grate cooler, high-performance heat insulating
materials, energy saving technology for vertical grinding, etc. Furthermore,
the Group plans to roll out R&D on the new technology of oxygen-
enriched combustion at the cement production plant in Pingnan
County, Guangxi, to achieve energy saving and emission reduction by
increasing combustion efficiency. The Group aims to reduce standard
coal consumption per ton of clinker by 5%, consolidated electricity
consumption per ton of clinker by 10% and electricity consumption
per ton of PO42.5 cement processed by 16% respectively by 2025 as
compared with 2015 (107.6 kg, 55.1 kwh and 31.2 kwh).

The Group actively promotes conservation and recycling of water. We
continuously initiate the comprehensive composite treatment and
management on the recovery and recycled use of industrial wastewater,
domestic wastewater and initial rainwater at our cement production
plants. Strict procedures and standards for treatment of domestic
wastewater were formulated with reference to national first-class emission
limits: design principles of collection by type, treatment by quality and
multi-phase recycled use were adopted to treat domestic wastewater
with techniques such as pre-treatment and biochemical methods and
to treat industrial wastewater with techniques such as pre-treatment
(coagulation-sedimentation) and intensive treatment (sand filtration,
membrane processes, etc.), which finally achieved separation of rainwater
and wastewater in the factory zones. Treated domestic wastewater and
industrial wastewater which meet the standards are fully recycled for use
in factory zones, and zero discharge of wastewater is fulfilled. Following
the pilot trial at the cement production plants located in Nanning, Guangxi
and Fengkai, Guangdong, promotion and implementation at 7 cement
production plants including Pingnan, Guangxi had been completed in
2020. The goals of zero discharge of wastewater and composite utilization
of water resources had been achieved under the condition of stable
operation. It will be gradually promoted at other cement production plants
of the Group in the future. As of the end of 2020, the Group’s concrete
batching plants located in the Chinese Mainland had fully achieved the
goal of zero discharge of wastewater through promoting the application of
slurry filter press at concrete batching plants to recover and recycle more
wastewater. The major operating regions of the Group are not located in
districts of water scarcity.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In 2020, water consumption of the Group! was approximately 31,392,000
tons, among which, water consumption for the production of cement and
clinker was approximately 29,831,000 tons and intensity was 346.7 kg
per ton of cement produced; water consumption for the production of
concrete was approximately 1,561,000 tons and intensity was 120.2 kg
per m? of concrete produced.

4. WASTE MANAGEMENT

Fully enclosed delivery is adopted during materials treatment and delivery
process at all the clinker production lines of the Group. Each transit
point had been equipped with filters to collect particulate matters and
minimize dust scattering. The Group applies the dust collected by highly
effective bag filters in our raw materials, semi-finished products and
finished products in order to recycle the solid waste generated during
the production process. Waste-free or less-waste technology has been
adopted at mining areas. To achieve zero discharge of waste residue, non-
hazardous wastes such as stripped soil and stones are all compositely
utilized. Scrap iron and scrap leather belts are recycled and used by
qualified third-party institutions. In 2020, non-hazardous wastes produced
by the Group amounted to 153,514 tons, 139,296 tons of non-hazardous
wastes were processed, and the processing rate was approximately
90.7%.

Regarding hazardous wastes, the Group adequately recycles the waste
oil generated in the production process for lubrication of mechanical
and other conveying equipment in accordance with the “hazard-free,
mass-reducing and recyclable” principle to minimize the production
of hazardous wastes. Other hazardous wastes such as oil barrels and
non-recyclable waste oil are recycled by the original manufacturers, or
recycled or handled by entrusted qualified third-party institutions in strict
compliance with the requirements of national laws and regulations. In
2020, hazardous wastes produced by the Group amounted to 440 tons,
390 tons of hazardous wastes were processed, and the processing rate
was approximately 88.7%.

! The data covers purchased water.
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5. CLIMATE CHANGE

The Chinese government proactively responds to climate change. In
January 2021, the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of China issued
the “Guiding Opinions on Organizing and Strengthening Relevant
Works of Responding to Climate Change and Ecological Environmental
Protection”, which proposed that responding to climate change will
become an important constituent for the construction of a beautiful
China and systematically blueprinted major strategies for ecological
and environmental protection in the medium to long term. It also gives
impetus to key industries including steel, building materials, non-ferrous
metals, chemicals, petrochemicals, power and coal industries to set
specific targets and formulate action plans for peaking carbon emissions,
accelerate the construction of policies, systems and fundamental
capability for the national carbon emissions trading market, and control
and reduce greenhouse gases emissions by fully utilizing market
mechanisms. The “Administrative Measures for Carbon Emission Rights
Trading (Trial)” had come into effect on 1 February 2021. It had further
specified key emission units of greenhouse gases, allocation of carbon
emissions quota and ways of settlement, which will be conducive to
regulating national carbon emissions trading and relevant activities.

In 2020, the Company identified the major risks and opportunities of
climate change, and formatted effective strategic measures to respond to
climate change. In the future, we will conduct ongoing assessment and
review to strengthen management effectiveness.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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0] Risks of Climate Change:

B Bt
Description of Risks

e84

Response Measures

1 BAEE
Bk kAR
Transition Risks:
Policies and Laws

2 EiRRRE
iyt
Physical Risks:
Extreme Weather

FE BRI RIE R VAR
RABES 2ERINERZ 15
HETBEImHEE o

The Chinese government's relevant
policies, laws and regulations on carbon
emissions are gradually becoming

stricter. The construction of national
carbon emissions trading market is being
proactively promoted.

BiEXR ER-BE ASVEE B
B ERE) o

Extreme weather (rainstorm,

typhoon, heavy snow, flood,

high temperature, severe coldness, ec.).

SEMEHIER NP RIBREER THFETS

[tis planned to research, formulate and continuously improve
plans for medium to long-term targets of carbon emissions.
SEEBRA TR REER LU RERBHN I
BEESAAE BAME —RCHERAERERS S
AR o

Itis planned to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases by
enhancing techniques and decreasing energy consumption
and to roll out technological R&D of alternative clinker,
alternative fuel, capture of carbon dioxide and low-carbon
products.

TR AARRACR B AR — 1R

The Group is in proactive preparation for the future unification
of national carbon market.

RIEERDIT AEBHEREHREERNE MRKEN
BNRERR SITREREDTHARKEZ 2B
BMETHMHE R REEE

We strengthen risks analysis, organize and execute
inspections of latent hazards in key regions, reinforce

overall planning and coordination of disaster prevention and
treatment, formulate contingency plans and regularly organize
disaster safety drills to arouse the staff's precautionary
awareness and resilience.

BERE RESENE BIMERNASEE XY
Bk

Insurance is taken out to secure personal injuries and
property damage caused by various disasters and accidents.
FENRZERERE HETRECRIME HER
o IRIEHLAE o

We continue to expand multiple procurement channels and
understand the situation of power supply and coal supply to
secure supply.

BARER ZHENLER UBHHKR FLEE
HOEBEES TETZ2ER ETEHEE UiRASH
BRERATSERHER; BHPEE R HEET
FHEE

Shipping arrangement of goods is dependent on the weather
conditions. During extreme weather, shipping is suspended,
silo employees are relocated to safe places, loading and
unloading equipment are fixed. Customers and transportation
companies are also advised in advance for reasonable
arrangement of vehicles. Retail customers are offered
assistance on storage and transpose of goods.
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(i)

RIFE{CHE

(i) Opportunities of Climate Change:

Fit  iEsER BRI BB
Types of
No.  Opportunities Description of Opportunities Strategic Measures
1 B R#R o TERNBHEESEIRRGER o SEEROERT RALEESNS BEBRGAR
Policies and Laws WS HRETENRRERZE SR B REREEENA E—PRETTEPNRZE
o Ho
The Chinese government proactively Energy saving and emission reduction are continuously
promotes the construction of green advanced to enhance efficiency of production and operation,
factories and green mining, and gradually promote composite Utilization of resources, decrease
raises the requirements of cement industry operational costs in the long run and further consolidate the
on environmental protection. competitive advantages in the industry.
o FEBFBEREEZERINERZT o BREBEEXENER BNHENEEER JBME
g EF8 BACEREERERIEE.
The Chinese government proactively We will actively follow up with the latest national policies to
promotes the construction of national launch carbon assets management at a suitable time and
carbon emissions trading market. achieve value preservation and value addition of corporate
carbon assets by use of market means.
2 Emi R o BETPEHMEDSORE ZRHE o  FERBRBCCENSRRUURER T RIiTRmE o
Products and Services O B EMERNRBENERE Itis planned to roll out R&D on the technology of low-carbon
EFo cement and high carbon absorbing concrete.
Following the Chinese government's o BERERCEREEIERESBEEMN
promotion of green construction, Reliable and stable green construction materials are supplied
customers” demand for low-carbon based on customers’ personalized needs.
cement, green products and services for o FHEEEINCERARE REVEHRERSIE
construction materials will increase. Low-carbon product certification for cement and clinker
products is persistently advocated.
o FERERGOENEEASEER.
Inorganic engineered stone products are developed for better
environmental protection and energy saving.
3 mi5 o FEHMEDSEREER 2ERM o SREATESAVEL EEXEEREMREN 6
Markets HBEESE N R ES R R EFRGED BANRRAREESRERYE AL

/8
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FEROEER W B RENRERC

B SRS

The Chinese government advocates

green construction development. National

and local governments successively

launch various policies to support the
development of prefabricated construction,

and encourage the resourceful utilization

of construction wastes to improve urban o
environment.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Compared to the existing cast-in-place construction of
residence, prefabricated residence has the advantages of
environmental protection in terms of materials conservation
and energy saving. It is also conducive to enhancing quality
of buildings and efficiency of construction. The Company
proactively promotes the development of prefabricated
construction projects.
ARAMDEES IR ERIIRENSEE  BEED
KAB AR BB TRRBEE.

The Company is building a construction waste disposal plant
project in Changjiang, Hainan, which will help to reduce
consumption of natural resources and promote green
development of the industry.
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6. GREEN DEVELOPMENT

Co-Processing

The Group proactively fulfils its social responsibility in fostering green
development to achieve sustainable corporate development. In reliance
on our own technological advantages, we comprehensively promote co-
processing projects in the three scopes of municipal solid waste, urban
sludge and hazardous industrial waste to create complete solutions to solid
waste processing.

Compared to traditional landfilling, co-processing® of solid waste by use
of cement kilns enables the Group to substantially save land resources,
reduce harm done to the environment, and eliminate poisonous pollutants
such as dioxin by effective use of heat inside cement kilns, thereby truly
achieving “hazard-free, mass-reducing and recyclable” processing. In
the “community of shared city”, co-processing projects improve the living
environment for local residents, control and prevent various infectious
diseases and pollution-related public diseases, and improve the people’s
healthiness.

In 2020, the Group and environmental protection companies cooperated
in the development of co-processing projects, among which, the cement
production plant in Shangsi County, Guangxi had annual processing
capacity of 100,000 tons of hazardous industrial waste; the cement
production plant in Yanshi Town, Fujian had annual processing capacities
of 80,000 tons of hazardous industrial waste and 20,000 tons of urban
sludge.

2 Co-processing by use of cement kilns: the processing of solid wastes which meet the
requirements for entering kilns, whether with or without pre-treatment, by inputting
the solid wastes into cement kilns for combustion, taking advantage of the features
of cement kilns including high temperature, alkalinity and large capacity, during
production of cement and clinker.

TSR ER
Annual Report 2020

79



RIERAEEERS

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

BIE"ZTZEER AEEREBERIVERRE R

As of the end of 2020, the Group had 10 co-processing projects in total.

BEB -EREEWT : Details of the projects are set out as follows:
HH b Lie) FREED AR A&
(048)
Project Type Annual Processing Capacity Status
(tons)
[EFRER B A SRR 110,000 EEh
Binyang, Guangxi Municipal solid waste In operation
ErEHG AR SE IR 180,000 EE
Tianyang, Guangxi Municipal solid waste In operation
EmBE 1) B A SE IR 110,000 EEh
Fengging, Yunnan (note 1) Municipal solid waste In operation
[EFaRE MmBUSE 62) 110,000 EEh
Nanning, Guangxi Urban sludge (note 2) In operation
BEMERIK (1) HEOSIE (52) 300,000 EEth
Zhushui, Guangzhou (note 1) Urban sludge (note 2) In operation
BEMNHEE 1) MmESE G2) 300,000 EEh
Yuebao, Guangzhou (note 1) Urban sludge (note 2) In operation
BEaL TXBEREY 30,000 EEh
Changjiang, Hainan Hazardous industrial waste In operation
BEr ER E3) TE Y 100,000 HEE
Shangsi, Guangxi (note 3) Hazardous industrial waste In trial operation
BEREA TEBEREEY 80,000 fE=g
Yanshi, Fujian Hazardous industrial waste Under construction
MEBUSIE 20,000 fE5504
Urban sludge Under construction
ErE B A SRR 110,000 HEE
Midu, Yunnan Municipal solid waste In trial operation
i notes:
1. MRS REE AR EEREM 1. Located in the cement production plants of our associates and joint ventures.
2. MRIEEEERKERNE TR KKIBEEE 2 The Nanning project co-processed wet sludge of 80% moisture content. The Zhushui
BIKEAOR U TINEZSR  METEE B2 5 & E N project co-processed dry sludge of below 40% moisture content. The Yuebao project
M B KEL0% U THESE co-processed dry sludge of below 40% moisture content in Guangzhou City on an
urgent basis.
3. EREER 2 —S5—BRBES- 3. Shangsi project commenced trial operation in January 2021.
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Data of waste co-processed by the Group’s cement production plants
(exclusive of our associates and joint ventures) for the years ended 31

FEMERESENAT) NIFERESHESEH  December 2018, 2019 and 2020 is set out as follows:
FIEOT
—ETEF —E-NF —E2—N\EF
(g) () ()
2020 2019 2018
(tons) (tons) (tons)
AR A SR IR Municipal solid waste 183,100 162,700 166,000
MBS IE Urban sludge

(80% & IKZR) (with 80% moisture content) 52,800 56,500 49,300
TEBRREEY Hazardous industrial waste 6,100 7,200 8,700

o ZEZZFMAB > AEBEREEREEL
BEINRERCHARISET 2R
FHIRBMIZIEE > R FEBREENRY
250,000M5 » Fig & R &k - £F & BE49300,0001L 5
Ko B EID B B A S E BE4AY1,150,000M5 © 15 B

AR AERTERR E S T —
FRABIRE ZBENGERABEEX 5
1EBVEE RELES > BRI BB EE IR
IR (REERE R BV RAEBRHFE  #HE)
TEEBER-

BEREEFHA

FEERNMENRRLERBEEKEEE
R BREIEEMES  MRARAE
AERGENAER  BRELERERNA
WERELC REBRGEHBRLEERYE
BENERL S RRIBREELEBE

In addition, in April 2020, the Group obtained a franchise license for
the resourceful utilization of construction waste in Changjiang, Hainan
to build a construction waste disposal plant project with design annual
processing capacity of approximately 250,000 tons of construction
waste, and complemented with annual production capacities of
approximately 300,000 m3 of concrete and approximately 1,150,000
tons of manufactured sand and gravel. Project construction had
commenced since July 2020, and it is planned to complete construction
and commence operation by the end of 2021. The project is consistent
with the Company’s strategy of industrial integrative development and,
upon completion of construction, will help to improve the local urban
environment, foster energy saving and emission reduction, reduce the
consumption of natural resources, and promote the green development of
the industry.

Composite Utilization of Resources

The Group is dedicated to research and exploration of the application
of industrial waste in cement production. Through optimization of the
prescription of raw materials, the project on composite utilization of
limestone residue resources was launched to achieve industrialization
of utilization of mining waste resources, foster composite utilization of
resources and recyclability of social waste processing, which is a proactive
contribution of environmental protection to the community.
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Data of industrial waste utilized by the Group’s cement production plants
for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 is set out as
follows:

=R —T—h=F —T—N\%F

(FmE) (Fmg) (F-0ig)

2020 2019 2018

('000 tons) ('000 tons) ('000 tons)

THESZAFABEE  Quantity of industrial waste utilized 21,010 21,080 21,840

meiRlER

rEESEERRBEUGETIF UER VIR
22 EBRENVBATIFZE IR
SR GERF - HNERBEAEBA
MR UkaaE i IRE R TR
EENTIFRR RELMEMALEEE R
REFERRE -

7~

HEHIREE  AEELARREBIR  LE
FERERBETEERRHEREMMIE-
BELLIBALAT » BRAR I BB IR IR IB T FI BT AR
RIWEARRBEAE R T E A PIRL AR (BRI
BIRIBRELMERERRE) R(LMEER
) HIEURBEITRIEE MG

REEBHEEREE L ERBEMBI(ZE
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7. GREEN MINE CONSTRUCTION

The Group places strong emphasis on treatment and management
of mines. Ecology, environmental protection, safety and intensive
utilization of resources are the primary focus of our work. We confirm
the work approach of scientific planning, reasonable mining, resources
conservation, promotion of harmonious development between human
beings and the nature as well as green, ecologically and environmentally
friendly mining enterprise. Restoration of mines is included in the
production, operation and long-term development plans of the Group.

Environmental assessments must be conducted by the Group for new
projects and damages on the ecology in the course of development and
construction are avoided to the greatest possible extent. Before closure of
a mine, the Group would undergo treatment, management and restoration
of the environment at the mine in strict compliance with the “Project of
Mining Geo-Environmental Protection and Integrated Renovation” and
the “Land Rehabilitation Plans” formulated at the time of applying for the
mining permits and approved by relevant competent authorities of natural
resources.

The Group proactively implements the “National Mineral Resources
Plan” issued by the Ministry of Land and Resources of China and the
“Implementation Opinions on Accelerating the Construction of Green
Mines” jointly issued by six national departments, and initiated the
construction of green mines according to the “Green Mine Construction
Specification of Cement Limestone” issued by the Ministry of Natural
Resources of China. In terms of ecological restoration, the concept of
“biodiversity” has been actively introduced by planting various vegetations
with reasonable mix and match for a coordinated landscape of the
regreened mining area and the surrounding natural environment.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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As of the end of 2020, the Group had completed ecological restoration
of its mines with a cumulative area of approximately 2,490,600 m?
(approximately 2,228,700 m? in 2019).

As of the end of 2020, a total of 22 mines at 16 plants among 27
cement and clinker production plants of the Group had been included as
provincial-level and AR-level green mines, among which, 10 mines at 9
plants had passed the selection of national-level green mines.

ERNE (B8) BIRA 0B B ZARAR oL 555

The mine of China Resources Cement (Guigang) Limited passed the selection of national-level green mines
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Employees by geographical region

20142 19665 19,324

159 151 143
2018 2019 2020
® FEMH @ =%
Chinese Mainland Hong Kong
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EMPLOYEES

The Group regards our employees as the most valuable resources for
our corporate survival and development. We provide and create a broad
career development platform and opportunities for the employees to
display their individual talents.

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed a total of 19,467
employees (19,816 as at 31 December 2019), all of whom are full-time. A
breakdown of our employees by geographical region and gender is set out
as follows:

—E_ZFRENA SRS
Employees by gender in 2020

17%

83%

[ Il @ zit

Male Female

A breakdown of our employees by function is set out as follows:

R+ZB=+—8H
T HF —ZE—hEF —E-N\EFE

As at 31 December
2020 2019 2018
EIBE Management 391 402 393
T TR EAtD Finance, administration and others 2,498 2,485 2,648
$EANE Production staff 11,198 11,627 11,753
FiTAE Technical staff 4,517 4,420 4618
EHHAR Sales and marketing staff 863 882 889
Hast Total 19,467 19,816 20,301
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BEREDIEEBRMESMT : A breakdown of our employees by age is set out as follows:
R+=ZB=+—H
—EZEHF —E—NF —E—N\F
As at 31 December
2020 2019 2018
295k S AR 29 or below 2,439 3,023 3,648
30ZE39%% 3010 39 8,395 8,450 8,635
40ZE495% 4010 49 6,731 6,697 6,524
508% K L 50 or above 1,902 1,646 1,494
st Total 19,467 19,816 20,301
F391E 8T REEAET 89% BB MR Among our 391 senior and middle-level managerial staff, 89% are

11% 2% 78% A REH U LML 19%
BESAEHE  BETHFEHROB47E (R
“E-NE+ZBA=+—H2HR402%
89%~11%~76%~21% ~465%) ©

NTECEF+ZA=+—H> BT EERL
EAH58% Hb» B -LZMHE THEERE
KD RIA5.6%6.8%; 2955 LT ~ 30E395%
404958 ~ 50 MU EE THEEERAERDRIA
12.7%~4.6%~3.4%~11.2%; RE A FH
BT RAEDIADT% 17.3%°

male and 11% are female, 78% possess university degrees or above,
19% have received post-secondary education and the average age of
managerial staff is approximately 47 (402, 89%, 11%, 76%, 21%, 46
respectively as at 31 December 2019).

As at 31 December 2020, the overall employee turnover rate was 5.8%,
among which, the overall turnover rates of male and female employees
were 5.6% and 6.8% respectively; the overall turnover rates of employees
aged below 29, 30 to 39, 40 to 49 and 50 or above were 12.7%, 4.6%,
3.4% and 11.2% respectively; and the overall turnover rates of the
Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong employees were 5.7% and 17.3%
respectively.
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2. RIGHTS AND INTERESTS OF EMPLOYEES

The Group is in strict compliance with laws and regulations including
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract
Law of the People’'s Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Minors, the Regulations on Paid
Annual Leave of the Employees, the Regulations on Work-Related Injury
Insurances, the Special Rules on the Labour Protection of Female
Employees, the Provisions for Special Protection of Under-Aged Labour
and the Provisions on Prohibition of Using Child Labour. By adhering
to the principle of equal employment, we prohibit all discrimination due
to differences in gender, age, territory, education, religion, nationality,
race, sexual orientation and disability. We also oppose forced labour,
overtime work, harassment and abuse. We effectively protect the rights
and interests of employees, support the minimum wage, and ensure that
employees enjoy fair entitlements in terms of recruitment, labour, salary,
training, promotion, compensation and rest periods. As of the end of
2020, 21.1% of employees were of ethnic minorities and 42 employees
had disabilities.

The Group insists on legal use of labour and prohibits employment of child
and forced labour. We strictly check the age of applicants, never employ
minors aged below 16, adopt special labour protective measures for minor
workers aged above 16 but below 18, and never force others to work
by means of violence, threats or restrictions on their physical freedom,
in order to protect their legal rights, interests and health pursuant to the
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Minors, the Provisions for Special Protection of Under-
Aged Labour and the Provisions on Prohibition of Using Child Labour.
Employees must truthfully provide their personal data at commencement
of employment, and must start to work in accordance with the
requirements of relevant policies after commencement of employment.
Cases of holding forged identification documents or providing false
personal data or false work experience, once found, will be handled
according to the relevant requirements of the Group’s policies. Serious
cases with detrimental effects might be handled according to relevant legal
requirements.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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We put strong emphasis on the diversity of our employees. Corresponding
selection channels are confirmed having regard to requirements of the
roles and features of supply and demand of talents. Our recruitment
channels include campus recruitment, social recruitment, internal
recruitment, etc. The recruitment process is equal and impartial based
on requirements of the roles without any pertinent conditions. Abiding
by the principles of fairness, equality and negotiation for unanimous
consensus, the Group enters into employment contracts with employees in
accordance with the requirements of labour law to specify the rights and
obligations of both employers and employees. We continuously improve
the timely and effective mechanism and channels for negotiation and
communication to actively promote democratic management. Smooth
feedback channels are opened for employees to provide real-time
feedback opinions and aspirations through diversified channels such as
employees’ congress, whistle-blowing hotlines, whistle-blowing emails
and OA forum. Opinions and suggestions from employees are extensively
sought when formulating systems and policies involving vital interests of
employees.

3. COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS OF
EMPLOYEES

We offer our employees remuneration packages mainly on the basis of
individual results performance and work experience and also having
regard to internal fairness and market competitiveness, including basic
wages, performance related bonuses, allowance and other staff benefits.
Using issues as guidance, the Group continuously optimizes and improves
the staff remuneration management mechanism. An interrelated mode
had been established to link the total salaries with indicators such as staff
performance and profits. Remuneration analysis, benchmarking with
external salaries and internal research studies were done for designing
scientific and reasonable remuneration adjustment mechanism to solve
the issues of internal fairess. Bonus allocation mechanism had become
more results-oriented and contributory from profits in order to reflect the
mutual sharing of all-staff benefits, enhance the enthusiasm of employees,
attract and retain excellent talents and employees in core roles.
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The Group continued to optimize and offer various benefits and
entitlements to its employees. Timely and full contributions to the “Five
Social Insurances and One Housing Fund” and the Mandatory Provident
Fund are made for Mainland employees and Hong Kong employees
respectively. Targeted body check packages were continuously provided
to employees. Commercial insurances were continuously taken out
for employees and their two close family members and levels of sums
assured were raised, which offered good care for employees and improved
protection to employees. We oppose any form of forced labour, implement
annual leave on top of statutory annual leave, offer holiday adjustment
policies for overtime work and duty shift to secure adequate resting period
for employees. Flextime was newly adopted to increase the flexibility for
break times to a certain extent.

The Group creates a broad career development platform and opportunities
for the employees to display their individual talents. We proactively
optimized the system for ranking the roles of senior and middle-level
managerial staff to create a better growth path for talents. Cross-unit,
cross-business and inter-regional exchanges were organized for excellent
senior and middle-level managerial staff to broaden professional horizon,
sharpen business acumen and polish managerial skills. Keen attention
was paid to select and cultivate young senior and middle-level managerial
staff. A talent pool with 139 excellent young senior and middle-level
managerial staff was formed, which represented approximately one-third
of the Company’s senior and middle-level managerial staff. A complete
set of cultivation projects for official senior and middle-level managerial
staff and cultivation projects for excellent young senior and middle-level
managerial staff had been designed to accelerate the growth of senior
and middle-level managerial staff and promote the construction of talent
ladders. The appointment standard system for professional technical
talents was modified to develop the standards for appointment of technical
talents, and job appraisal was conducted on a regular basis. We vigorously
organized a series of “Excellent Craftsmen” programmes such as
vocational practical skill training, technology competitions and talent shows
to actively cultivate “knowledgeable, skillful and innovative” talents in
order to ensure the secured supply of talents for the Group'’s high-quality
development.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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4. DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING OF
EMPLOYEES

Talent is an important resource for corporate development. The Group
puts very strong emphasis on building teams of talents, continuously
improves the mechanism for talent development and establishes
professional training colleges. The Group restructured the talent training
system in 2020 to further define the systems for training projects, training
programmes and training management. Corporate strategic development,
construction of organizational capability and employees’ needs for growth
were integrated into talent cultivation to secure the construction of talent
ladders. Pursuant to the “Training Management Policy (Interim Version)
of the Company, the Group organized trainings each year based on
the Company’s strategic planning, business themes and management

”

themes. Research and analysis on training needs would be conducted to
formulate training plans.

Regarding offline training, staff training was initiated in multiple formats.
Training on management, profession and skills was delivered to different
levels of employees. Various vocational talent shows and knowledge
competitions were organized. Excellent internal lecturers and elite
programmes had been created for enhanced quality on training through
the advanced empowerment training of internal lecturers. In 2020,
approximately 1,500 participants attended offline training for a total
duration of approximately 94,000 hours.

Affected by the epidemic, the Group vigorously launched more online
staff training. The construction of online learning resources database
was advanced. Over 280 mini-courses by innovation, general and
professional categories were self-developed internally and a total of over
100 online courses were newly uploaded, among which, there were 5
special-themed courses on epidemic prevention and control, resumption
of operation and production. Online training on the application of new
technology was also initiated. 63 special-themed online training sessions
on epidemic prevention and control, management, cyber-security, code
of business conduct and finance, as well as 1,482 online examinations,
were organized. Live streaming webcasts of 15 training sessions and
18 presentations of excellent management cases were launched. In
2020, there were approximately 1.0 million logins on the mobile learning
application of China Resources University, the total duration of online
training was approximately 187,000 hours, and approximately 19,400
employee participants were in attendance of the online training.
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In 2020, the total duration of online and offline training relating to the
Group’s staff development was approximately 281,000 hours and the
average training duration per employee was approximately 14.5 hours,
calculated from the total number of employees trained in 2020. Among
which, the average training durations per male and female employees
were 14.5 hours and 16.5 hours respectively, and the average training
durations per employee from management, finance, administration and
others, production staff, technical staff and sales and marketing staff
were 40.2 hours, 18.5 hours, 7.4 hours, 28.3 hours and 11.6 hours
respectively.

According to the statistics of the Group’s internal human resources
system, 99.5% of our employees were trained for the year ended 31
December 2020 (97.3% in 2019). Percentage breakdown of employees
trained by gender and function are set out as follows:

B+=ZA=+—H
ZEIEHE it B—\F

As at 31 December
2020 2019 2018
B Male 99.5% 98.1% 99.3%
g Female 99.5% 93.7% 99.2%
SIEE Management 96.9% 97.5% 99.7%
M5~ TR EAth Finance, administration and others 99.9% 97.9% 99.5%
YEAE Production staff 99.5% 96.8% 99.1%
FEiTAE Technical staff 99.6% 99.6% 99.6%
EiHAE Sales and marketing staff 99.9% 90.5% 99.3%
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“Future Star” — the 2020 cement boot camp of China Resources New Employee Orientation

[EFG20204F [E TS T IFF |32 (5 1R 1612 SEA B
The 2020 “Excellent Craftsmen” skills competition on inspection and repairs of equipment
held in Guangxi
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5. CARE FOR EMPLOYEES

The Group is dedicated to enhancing the working environment and team
ambience for its employees. Various group activities were organized for
better physical and mental wellness of our employees, such as staff
birthday parties, festival celebrations, sports activities, photography
competitions and reading month activities, which had further enhanced
our staff's cohesion and sense of belonging.

The Group has always paid keen attention to caring for employees. We
regularly visit employees in need and their families with solicitude, and
send regards and blessings to these employees during festivals in order
to understand their practical difficulties and needs, care for and follow up
with the improvement on their living conditions, and reflect our corporate
spirit of humanity and care. In 2020, the Group and its employees
donated a total amount of approximately RMB775,000 to the “China
Resources Cement Gratitude Fund”, which aims at caring for and helping
the employees in need and illness. Employees in need were subsidized
with a total amount of approximately RMB1,199,000.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Finals of the fourth “Runfeng Cup” basketball tournament in the Hainan Region
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6. OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND
PRODUCTION SAFETY

The Group is in strict compliance with the Production Safety Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Safety in Mines and the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases,
and promulgated the “EHS Management Series” in the “Management
Manual” and other relevant policies and regulations of the Company for
stringent implementation, monitor and continuous improvement on the
staff occupational health and safety management system to ensure that
the health and safety policies of counterparties remain consistent with
those of employees, reinforce safety management on counterparties and
proactively launch supervisions and inspections. The Group’s health
and safety targets are zero fatality, zero serious personal injury and zero
confirmed case of occupational disease. In 2020, the Group promulgated
and implemented the “Policy for Accountability of EHS Incidents and
Events (2020 Edition)”. Our EHS accountability appraisal policies were
continuously improved. All major operating regions, departments and
production plants had entered into the “Letter of EHS Undertaking”.
Third-party assessments with respect to safety were conducted at 16
plants. As of the end of 2020, the Group had a total of 280 specialized
EHS management personnel, among which, 200 were specialized safety
management personnel (including 66 registered safety engineers).

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Since the beginning of 2020, the novel coronavirus epidemic had spread
globally. The Group placed the lives, safety and physical health of our
employees as the first priority, took the initiative to understand and study
the policies, systems and requirements of the national and various
local governments in a timely manner, and proactively responded to
the epidemic by establishing a leading group and a working group on
epidemic prevention and control. Targeted policies for prevention and
control, including the “Comprehensive Emergency Plan for Public Health
Outbreak Incidents (2020 Edition)”, the “Emergency Handling Proposal
for Office Epidemic Prevention and Control”, the “Proposal for Resumption
of Production and Operation of Office Staff” and the “Proposal of
Shenzhen Headquarters for Implementing Quarantine for Resumption
of Operation During the Period of Epidemic Prevention and Control”,
were formulated and issued to ensure the orderly execution of work in
prevention and control.

According to the requirements of the local government, the Group
accomplished the work for screening employees from key epidemic areas,
as well as epidemic prevention and control. We continuously provided
anti-epidemic materials such as masks and alcohol for medical use to
employees and strictly disinfected the working environment including
offices and commuter vehicles to effectively prevent the risks of virus
spreading. Employees who returned to work from other provinces and
cities for resumption of operation were required to quarantine for 24 days.
At the same time, we cared for quarantined employees by providing all the
necessary daily necessities, assistance and services to help them smoothly
pass the quarantine period at ease.
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In order to meet the requirements for resumption of operation and
production, the Group specified the duties and responsibilities of anti-
epidemic staff and anti-epidemic requirements at work, set up temporary
quarantine locations for the Shenzhen headquarters, performed checks
on the offices prior to resumption of operation, and purchased anti-
epidemic materials. At the same time, the Group made adjustments to
the human resources policies and executed the measures of “flextime”,
“shift system”, “mobile clock-in" and off-peak meal time to reduce staff
gatherings. The working group on epidemic prevention and control
prepared and issued the materials of “Safety Training on Return to Work
During the Period of Prevention and Control on the Novel Coronavirus
Epidemic”, and rolled out promotion and training on anti-epidemic
knowledge and safety requirements for return to work through various
online and offline channels and in multiple formats. During the period
of epidemic prevention and control, each cement production plant
successively organized safety works on inspections and repairs of kiln
systems and special inspections on fire safety. Upon completion of
procedures for resumption of operation and production, the Group
arranged for employees to return to work according to the plan. Production
and operation activities had returned to normal since April.

Occupational Health

The Group is in strict compliance with the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases, and
had formulated the targeted “Rules of Occupational Health Management”.
Currently, the coverage rates of the OHSAS 18000 Occupational Health &
Safety Management System and staff body checks are both 100%.

Each plant of the Group persistently deepened the achievements for dust
treatment and management and rolled out technological upgrade for
automatic packaging and loading upon integrating their actual situation.
The technological upgrade for cement packaging had completed at
various cement production plants of the Group, and will be gradually
promoted to other cement production plants in the future. Each plant is
encouraged to adopt new technology for noise reduction, which effectively
minimizes the hazard of on-site noise.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Through series of activities around the theme of “Protection of
Occupational Health — | Take Action” including occupational health
seminars, keynote presentations, staff forums, lectures and knowledge
competitions, the Group extensively propagated the legal knowledge for
prevention and treatment of occupational diseases, preventive technology
and healthy workstyle concepts to arouse the awareness of managers at
each level on legal responsibilities and the self-protection awareness of all
staff.

Safety Management

The Group had established long-term effective mechanism for the
inspection, treatment and management of latent hazards of production
safety incidents. Multi-level inspections, supervision, treatment and
management of latent safety hazards were continuously reinforced at
headquarters, major operating regions and production plants to prevent
and minimize incidents of personal injuries and secure the safety of our
employees’ lives and properties. During the year, there were 6,670 lost
days due to work injury of employees of the Group®. During the year,
the Group commenced three-year action plan for special rectification of
production safety, which formulated plans for treatment and management
of latent hazards, continuously followed up on latent hazards and
incorporated the status of completing rectifications into annual appraisal
for raising the overall standards of safety management.

The Group is committed to production safety standardization and
raising the overall standards of safety management through continuous
improvement on fundamental management and innovative management
models. As of the end of 2020, 28 cement production plants (inclusive
of grinding stations) of the Group had passed the on-site assessments as
the First-Class Enterprise in National Production Safety Standardization
and the limestone mines of 21 cement production plants have passed the
assessments as the Second-Class Enterprise in Safety Standardization.
Consultancy work for the construction of First-Class Mines of Production
Safety Standardization commenced at the cement production plants in
Tianyang, Nanning, Guigang, Shangsi and Pingnan of Guangxi, Heqing of
Yunnan and Jinsha of Guizhou.

3 According to the “Classification for Casualty Accidents of Enterprise Staff and
Workers”, each one fatality is counted as 6,000 lost days.
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The Group launched annual evaluation and supervision appraisal
for excellent operational management. 39 safety and environmental
protection experts were successively arranged to participate in 14 batches
of annual appraisal for excellent operational management. A total of 34
cement (grinding stations) plants and 55 concrete batching plants were
evaluated. These assessments found that every plants had gradually put
strong emphasis on the intelligentization work of safety management and
raised the safety management standards by full use of various means
such as video surveillance. The management aspects of inspections
and repairs, storage yards and dust emissions had been enhanced and
improved. We will focus on raising the safety management standards of
counterparties in the future.

Safety Inspections

During the year, the Group conducted EHS research study inspections
and special inspections on 34 plants, covering cement plants, concrete
plants, the businesses of prefabricated construction and aggregates.
Special supervision inspections and internal audit on EHS management
system were conducted to review and check the execution of EHS works
of units in Guangdong and Guangxi and drill comprehensively on the
reasons for management issues, which had enhanced improvement on
management systems, standardized management process, strengthened
safety risk management and promoted better safety management.
Throughout the year, 1,169 large-scale comprehensive inspections and
1,067 special inspections were done in all major operating regions and
production plants.

Safety Training

The Group actively implemented safety training and combined online and
offline training methods. Videos of safety emergency drills were uploaded
on the Group’s online learning platform at the learning system of China
Resources University to encourage our staff to self-study. In 2020, the
aggregate duration of safety training for the Group's staff amounted to
approximately 347,000 hours, whereas that for counterparties amounted
to approximately 69,000 hours. At the same time, online safety tests had
been created. “Health and Safety Tests” of the Company was organized
for all employees in December, which had effectively enhanced the
employees’ safety awareness, created safety ambience and raised the
management standards of health and safety.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Safety Innovation

The Group has preliminarily formed a practice method with the
features of cement industry to proactively advocate the full application
of EHS management elements and encourage systemization of EHS
management. We actively promoted the intelligent management of
storage yards. The projects of intelligent safety alert systems for vehicles in
materials storage yards completed construction at the cement production
plants located in Luoding, Guangdong and Nanning, Guangxi. Visible and
isolated switch boxes were gradually promoted to reduce safety risks and
further increase the intrinsic safety standards of equipment. Concrete
production plants in Jiangmen, Guangdong and Nanning, Guangxi had
advanced the pilot project for intelligent supervision and control system
of concrete vehicles and cabs of pump trucks to further strengthen
supervision and control on safe driving and raise the intrinsic safety
standards. Blasting of mixed explosives was promoted. The mines of 11
plants had been using on-site mixed explosives to initiate blasting. 9 mines
had maintained a consistent utilization rate of mixed explosives at above
90%, which had increased the intrinsic safety standards of mine blasting.

Safety Activities

The Group organized a wide variety of safety activities to promote all-staff
participation in safety management, arouse corporate safety culture and
implant the concept of safety management in staff, families and society.
During the year, the Group organized 1,228 emergency drills with 18,665
participants in attendance, 34 sessions of safety open days with 2,451
participants in attendance, safety alert education sessions with 13,816
participants in attendance, 80 sessions of knowledge competitions with
3,964 participants in attendance, and 104 sessions of traffic safety
activities with 4,941 participants in attendance.
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Emergency drill for mine blasting incidents in Guangxi by China Resources Cement (Nanning)
Limited in 2020
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Management of Counterparties

The Group reinforced safety management on counterparties in
accordance with the “Policy for Safety Management on Counterparties
(Trial)” of the Company. Contractors of construction projects, service
providers for maintenance and repairs of equipment, transportation
providers, headhunters, suppliers, waste handlers, tenants and technical
service providers are all included in the scope of counterparties. The
Group manages counterparties on the basis of classification and levels.
Counterparties working at higher risk are subject to the mechanism of
advanced notice, filing of cases and regular monitoring. The Group would
review and verify the safety qualifications of each counterparty prior to
signing a contract with it. Safety requirements would be incorporated
in the contract, and the counterparty would have to enter into a safety
agreement simultaneously. Before a counterparty may enter our factories,
the Group would confirm the protective gears, safety method statement
and contingency rescue plans. Upon entering the site, all personnel are
required to attend pre-entrance safety training and site safety training to
secure the safety and health of the counterparties.

CUSTOMERS

We wholeheartedly provide quality service to our customers based on
the customer-oriented principle, whilst upholding the core values of
honesty and trustworthiness and strictly abiding by business ethics. By
improving communications with customers and taking the utmost care of
the rights and interests of our customers and consumers, we have met or
even exceeded our customers’ expectations for enhancing our customer
satisfaction.
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1. QUALITY MANAGEMENT

The Group is in strict compliance with the Product Quality Law of
the People’s Republic of China. In addition, pursuant to the “Quality
Management Series” in the “Management Manual” of the Company,
there are clear and stringent requirements on managing every detail
of production process, including the management quality standards
of materials, coal, raw materials and clinker. The “Management
Measures for Grinding Agents” and the “Management Standards
of Coal Sampling and Preparation” of the Company standardize the
quality acceptance inspection and use of incoming raw fuel materials.
Repairs and maintenance, inspection requirements, operating guidance,
environmental configuration and filing records of laboratory equipment are
all standardized and covered in the management manual. All production
plants of the Group had passed the ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management
System Certification, 1ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management
System Certification and OHSAS 18001:2007 Occupational Health &
Safety Management System Certification. Coverage rate was 100%.

During the year, the Group promoted hydrogen gauge and weighing
management system of coal at the cement production plants which
used coal mining in Fujian, Yunnan, Guizhou and Shanxi, which had
further enhanced the capability on coal inspection and minimized the
risks of acceptance inspection of coal. The construction of standardized
laboratories was completed at the cement production plants in Nanning
and Hepu of Guangxi, Changzhi and Fulong of Shanxi, which had further
enhanced the standard of quality control.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Group continuously takes action for quality enhancement. Special
sample checks on quality of cement and concrete were being performed
in every quarter of 2020, covering incoming raw materials and finished
products of cement and concrete, to strengthen acceptance inspections of
raw materials throughout the process of production lines and management
and control of product quality. In every quarter of 2020, comparison on
the Company’s and competitors’ cement was done in terms of cement
performance and quality control indicators, and the comparative results
were feedbacked to relevant production departments for improving
the shortcomings of the Company’s products and raising product
competitiveness. In cooperation with the National Quality Supervision and
Testing Center for Cement, the Group persistently drove for continuous
improvement on standards of quality supervision and testing. In the Large-
Scale Comparison Competition on Cement Chemical Analysis held by
the National Quality Supervision and Testing Center for Cement in 2020,
our production plant in Huizhou, Guangdong was awarded the grand
prize of “Concrete Glorious Cup” in the seventeenth national large-scale
comparison on cement chemical analysis. This was the fourth consecutive
time that our Huizhou plant had won the grand prize for cement
enterprises.

The Group had established a system for quality control throughout
the whole production process covering raw materials, process control,
product delivery and after-sales service, which organized production in
strict compliance with standards including those for auxiliary materials
of raw materials, techniques, semi-finished products, finished products,
packaging and inspection. Quality of input materials was controlled
in every connected step of production. The production process of
clinker and cement was supervised and tested on a 24-hour basis for
implementing comprehensive quality management. The Group relies on
a comprehensive and effective quality management system to manage
and evaluate the quality of our products. Key quality indicators of
production process and products had been incorporated into the scope
of performance appraisal of the major operating regions and production
plants as a continuous drive for better quality across all units through
performance management, so as to provide consumers with products of
excellent quality. The Group also continuously enhances its management
standards in terms of quality and techniques through the implementation
of various lean improvement projects.
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The Group's process of quality check is as follows:

Quality Planning

To produce cement products according to market demand, and
reasonably arrange resources of mineral admixture.

To test each batch of incoming raw materials.
To carry out general surveys on the quality of raw material

resources at the production plants, and build a comprehensive
record of resources.

Quality Control

To supervise and test the production process of clinker and
cement on a 24-hour basis by quality management department.

To monitor each step throughout the production process, and
implement quality assessments.

Quality Assurance

To conduct comparative tests in cooperation with the National
Quality Supervision and Testing Center for Cement.

To conduct special sample checks on quality with full coverage
from raw materials to products twice every year, and focus on
investigation, control and management of toxic substances
including chloride ions, hexavalent chromium and radioactive
substances.
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Quality Improvement

To conduct market research for providing front-end services for
production.

To continuously improve the products based on customers’
feedback after use.

° To roll out innovative research at the Technology Research and
Development Centre.

The Group had set up standards for managing quality incidents,
which identify and diagnose the incidents, provide solutions to handle
substandard products and offer compensation standards, recall
mechanism and process flow. Once discovered and confirmed that
substandard products have left our factories or there are serious quality
issues in the process of using the products, we would immediately
inform the relevant customers to stop using or isolate that batch of
products, organize recall on that batch of products if unused, confirm and
compensate damages to customers. We will also conduct investigation
and analysis on the quality incidents, formulate rectification measures and
account for responsibilities, and verify the rectification results.

No products sold or shipped were subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.

2. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

The Group pays keen attention to the protection of intellectual property
rights by proactively initiating protection on intellectual property. The
“Policy on Management of Intellectual Property Rights” of the Company
had been fully and thoroughly implemented. The “Policy on Management
of Patents” and the “Guidelines for Brand Protection” of the Company
were effectively implemented to continuously enhance the operational
strength of intellectual property and strengthen the soft power of the
Company’s brand.
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In terms of management and protection of trademarks, we launched
onshore and offshore work on the registration, right confirmation and
protection of trademarks including “Runfeng” and “Wang Pai Gong
Jiang”. We continuously authorized all major operating regions and joint
ventures to use the Company's trademarks including “Runfeng” and
“Jin Yang”, collected information on the use of the Company’s important
trademarks in the cement industry and sales regions, and fully cooperated
with the administrative authorities in the defense of our trademark rights
and crackdown on counterfeit goods. In 2020, there was no occurrence of
counterfeit cases and events in all major operating regions which involved
investigation of the administrative authorities or the judiciary. Meanwhile,
we had been working on trademark registration for the new materials
business since May 2020 to further meet the Company’s management
requirements for transformation and innovation and gradually advance the
construction of intellectual property of the Company’s new businesses.

Regarding the management, discovery and innovation of patents, in
2020, the Group included patent technology into the appraisal system
for excellent operational management for the first time to highlight the
strategic value of the Company’s patent technology. The number of patent
applications showed a significant upward trend. As of the end of 2020, the
Group held 200 patent licenses, including 28 inventions and 172 utility
models.

3. CUSTOMER SERVICE AND RIGHTS AND
INTERESTS OF CUSTOMERS

In 2020, our customer service, sales and marketing teams in all operating
regions organized training and sharing activities on “fundamental
knowledge on cement”, “user guide of cement”, “brand knowledge” and
“forums for key users” for customer groups including dealers, downstream
shops and key users to deepen customers’ recognition on the Company’s

brand and increase customer stickiness.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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To enhance the customer satisfaction level, the Group strengthened
customer visits, enhanced product quality, and focused on following
up with the issues on fluctuations of product indicators and quality of
packaging bags as well as customers’ aspirations and suggestions on
production and delivery of products. Rectification plans were formulated
based on the feedback comments and progress of rectifications was
continuously followed up to promote improvements on products
and services. The Group designated staff from the customer service
department in our major operating regions, the quality management
department of our cement production plants and sales personnel to
handle our customers’ complaints within 24 hours, and had achieved a
handling rate of 100%.

The Group treats customer data as core trade secrets. Customer data
is in strict confidence and independent files pursuant to the relevant
management requirements including the “Regulations on Managing
Confidentiality Work” and the “Management Measures on Trade Secrets”
of the Company. Designated staff are in charge of data collection, filing
and update. We also set up corresponding access rights for inquiry and
export of data to ensure security of customer data.

The Group implemented management standards including the “Measures
on Cyber-Security Management”, optimized and updated technical
specifications including the “Regulations on Cyber-Security Technology”
to steadily advance the construction of protection capability according
to the blueprint plans with balanced emphasis on security management
and technical protection. During the year, the Group strengthened the
width and depth in protection capability of information system, reinforced
protection on data transmission and terminal data, and conducted drills
of cyber-security attack and defense to enhance identification of cyber-
security risks and capability on emergency handling. We also rolled out
checks on effectiveness and recovery drills of disaster back-up data to
secure safe and useable data of business and customers. During the year,
there was no occurrence of cyber-security incidents or cases of breach of
customers’ privacy rights.
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Number of suppliers

11,524

8,007 9,074

2018 2019 2020

1 08 HERORERABRAR

SUPPLY CHAIN

The Group had established a transparent, dynamic and traceable
supply chain. We are dedicated to creating an effective procurement
management system and focus on the management and control of
procurement compliance.

1. GENERAL INFORMATION OF SUPPLIERS

According to the statistics of the Group’s supplier relationship
management system, the number of suppliers and a breakdown of
suppliers by geographical region are set out as follows:

“ECTFEMESSEREESE
Number of suppliers by geographical region in 2020

© FEERE @ =i
Southern China Other regions

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



2 -HERTEER

FEBBANBRTFBR - BIF - H5 BOHE
REBRG BHEERCEESHRATEE
XEHREHERT RBFER RLEE
Z2RFE BETREZE2 HEELEESHE
EEMRERE ETHEE BFHE HFEH
BRI FEEREREN BB EMNBTAATN
(RBEEMNE) (HEBEEWE) (83
BEFE) HERREF  BALRBRL
B> B E R R EARTEBIERER
REBHERERE BE - SF TEF2BERE
HEEAEEMEBEAMBENEIEETAN
HiER  EREEHRE(EEL Z2ENE)
DREREFNETIZ2 AaRBEHNBRE
o ERMEHBELERNIT(ZRRRTB
F)(BHES) AR ENENRRNRES
HESNEREE - AEESEERAGHER
HEEHRNEES  BBRNAHHERRRE
BEZCE AR (EHEREETATR)
REEENESEINE BBHERERS
REH RGBT (Mg ERERER
Fhe

RIERTEEERS
ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

2. SUPPLY CHAIN RESPONSIBILITY
MANAGEMENT

The Group is devoted to building an “open, collaborative, win-win”
supply chain ecosystem. We incorporate concepts of integrity and
compliant operation into corporate culture and business development,
and promote concepts of business ethics, standardized management,
safety and environmental protection, employee’s health and safety,
and data privacy to upstream and downstream enterprises along the
supply chain to grow hand in hand together and mutually create the
capability of sustainable development. Tender procurement process
had been standardized and the proportion of public tender increased
through formation and implementation of the “Policy on Procurement
Management”, the “Measures on Supplier Management” and the “Policy
on Agreement Management” of the Company. Sustainable system for
indicators of admission and evaluation of suppliers was established to
regulate the whole process of development, selection, cooperation and
evaluation of suppliers. Suppliers which had operating behaviors in the
factories of the Group’s plants were further required to strictly complete
the “Safety Pre-Assessment on Counterparties” to ensure the safety of the
employees of both parties. During the process of fulfilling the agreements,
suppliers were required to sign and strictly implement the “Safety and
Environmental Protection Agreement” and the “Sunshine Declaration”,
which enhanced corporate profitability whilst improving the overall quality
of suppliers. The Group pays keen attention to cultivating shared values
with partners through reinforcing suppliers’ training on national laws and
regulations, the “China Resources Group Code of Business Conduct” and
procurement management policies. These are conducive to arousing the
compliance consciousness and social responsibility of our suppliers and
strengthen the overall competitiveness of the supply chain.
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In strict compliance with the principles of openness, fairness and
impartiality, the Group implemented procurement through the supplier
relationship management system, achieved full-lifecycle supplier
management on admission, cooperation, evaluation and exit, continued
to optimize the supplier management system, standardized supplier
examination reports, specified the management requirements for
associated enterprises, and persistently optimized the supplier structure
through the real-time and dynamic management on admission and
evaluation of suppliers. Driven by market forces and demand, the Group
conducted in-depth market research and analysis on procurement
needs for guidance in the decision making on procurement. We select
counterparties which are consistent with the requirements of national
policies, have complete qualifications, comply with environmental
protection standards, and concern safety management. We unleash the
integrative effect of technology and business for promoting procurement
of good value for money to reduce the costs of materials consumption. In
striving to build a fair and impartial competitive environment and foster
healthy competition among suppliers, the Group puts the concept of open
and competitive procurement into practice, continuously increases the
proportion of tenders, and prevents behaviours of bid rigging and collusive
bidding of suppliers by checking associated relationships.

The Group discovers and cultivates potential suppliers through expanding
the scope of sourcing. More suppliers are admitted to continuously enrich
the eligible supplier database. We would procure from the outstanding
suppliers on a priority basis provided that their prices are consistent
with our target costs. Suppliers which require rectifications would be
provided with our timely follow-up on their weaknesses, offered relevant
assistance and examined on their rectification results upon the deadline.
Substandard suppliers would be removed from our eligible supplier
database in a timely manner in executing the dynamic management
mechanism. Suppliers involving violations of regulations or dishonest
behaviors will be added to our blacklisted supplier database.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Group incorporates green, safety and development requirements
into supplier selection. Energy-efficient and environmentally-friendly new
materials and new technology are developed and used. We vigorously
advocate green procurement and promote the use of local industrial waste
such as copper slag, pyrite slag, converter slag, iron ferroalloy slag, lead
and zinc slag, fly ash, etc., to substitute raw mineral resources as raw
materials. Industrial pollution is reduced at the same time of expanding
localized procurement, driving for local business development such as
transportation and creating new job environment for residents in the
vicinity to achieve mutual development. In 2020, the Group’s procurement
of industrial waste as raw materials in Guangdong and Guangxi
reached approximately 9.5 million tons. Use of raw mineral resources is
substantially decreased at the same time of turning waste into treasure,
which has made contribution to ecological environmental protection and
fully showed the Group’s social responsibility for “green environmental
protection”.

The Group persistently drives for the growth of suppliers by organizing
training activities for suppliers from time to time to deliver social
responsibility concepts in the aspects of environmental protection,
safety and health and to enhance the suppliers’ awareness on social
responsibility. In August 2020, the Group organized alert education
training for suppliers to mutually create the ambience for internal
and external probity and achieve positive interaction and sustainable
development. Representatives delegated by major suppliers from each
region participated in this alert education by online or offline means.

PUBLIC

1. INTEGRITY MANAGEMENT AND
PROMOTION OF ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group strictly complies with the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of
China. No person is allowed to take advantage of their position to demand
and receive bribery or obtain benefits by improper means. It is also
forbidden to blackmail, conduct fraud or launder money.
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In 2020, the Group promulgated 5 probity management policies including
the “Measures for Regulating and Handling Decisions and Execution of
Punishment and Disciplinary Impact Period (Trial)” and the “Guide for
Centralized Management of Whistle-Blowing Letters and Clues to Issues
(Trial)” to further regulate the workflow of discipline and inspection.

The Group is committed to maintaining sound corporate governance. We
maintain smooth whistle-blowing channels including telephone hotlines,
in-person visits and online reporting to encourage our employees and
parties who deal with us (including customers, contractors, suppliers,
creditors and debtors) to report any misconducts within the Group. All
investigations on non-compliance issues are handled seriously.

The Group always places strong emphasis on and continuously
strengthens the work for integrity cultivation and probity education of the
Directors and employees. In 2020, the Company organized 2 training
seminars for the Directors with a focus on educating the anti-corruption
laws, the “Anti-Corruption Programme — A Guide for Listed Companies”
issued by the Independent Commission Against Corruption of Hong
Kong and the “China Resources Group Code of Business Conduct”.
Promotional videos of alert education were produced and broadcast.
2 alert education meetings were held, with 1,789 senior and middle-
level managerial staff and staff involved in sensitive roles in participation.
Education of probity and integrity was also offered to suppliers, dealers
and external customers to establish an interactive mechanism for
supervising anti-corruption and advocating integrity. 237 sessions of
“integrity education delivered to the door” were intensively conducted,
reaching 7,153 participants in total. Daily confiding conversations were
initiated with 345 staff. All the senior and middle-level managerial staff
were organized to sign the “Commitment Letter on Integrity and Self-
Discipline”, and over 400 probity files had been set up. 452 responses to
opinions on integrity cultivation were issued.

None of the Group or its employees were involved in any corruption
litigation cases for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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2. COMMUNITY

The Group continuously promotes charitable community business
according to the Charity Law of the People’s Republic of China, relevant
laws, regulations and policy documents issued by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and the Administration Commission of the State Council
regarding fulfillment of social responsibilities of state-owned enterprises
and implementation of external donations, as well as the “Enforcement
Regulations for Charitable Community Activities”. Review, implementation
and accountability management were conducted on charitable community
activities, supervision and discipline of state-owned enterprise in the
aspects of poverty alleviation to reflect the social benefits of the Group'’s
charitable community business.

During the recruitment and hiring process, local residents in the vicinity of
the Group'’s production plants will be given preference in recruitment for
ordinary posts, subject to compliance with national laws and regulations, in
order to fulfil the social responsibility of a state-owned enterprise.

In 2020, in proactive response to the national deployment of epidemic
prevention and control, the Group donated anti-epidemic funds and anti-
epidemic materials amounting to approximately RMB840,000 to 5 units,
and organized all units to purchase unmarketable agricultural products
amounting to approximately RMB950,000 in underprivileged regions.

Besides, the Group proactively participates in community service work.
Through donations of cement products, we help neighbouring towns and
villages in the construction of roads, repairs of bridges and improvement
of local infrastructure through renovation and upgrade of old houses and
launch of hygiene remediation activities. We also make donations in cash
or in kind to underprivileged regions and families in need to solve their
practical difficulties. The Group pays keen attention to caring for special
groups and regularly organizes all major operating regions and production
plants (including departments in Hong Kong and Redland Concrete
Limited) to visit and express solicitude to elderly care institutions, the
elderly without family, people with serious intellectual disabilities or the
disabled, and the general public in need in the neighbouring towns and
villages. We are very concerned regarding education and development for
children in the underprivileged mountainous regions and help to create a
better learning environment and ambience through donations of clothes,
stationery, books, teaching equipment, scholarships, study grants and
launch of charitable subsidized schooling. Data of external donations in
2020 is set out in the charitable donations section of the Report of the
Directors.
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FERIKE (Fess) BRAE —F — EFEIHTFRNEREZE
China Resources Cement (Longyan) Limited expressed warm regards and solitude to the
elderly during the Dragon Boat Festival in 2020

FERIAE (BUE) BRA 122 H
Safety open day of China Resources Cement (Wuxuan) Limited

11 4 EHICRERBRAT
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Migk— : RARENIEE APPENDIX 1: KEY PERFORMANCE

INDICATORS (“KPI”)

—BI%F “T-hE TB)N\E
2020 2019 2018
IRIRIRIE Environmental Indicators
aeyEnE ) G21) Emission of nitrogen oxides (tons) (note 1) 36,194 37,584 39,822
A CYHRERE Emission intensity of nitrogen oxides
(RFr/MERRIES) (371) (kg per ton of clinker produced) (note 1) 0.5146 0.5439 05715
KA Y TFIHBRE Average emission concentration of nitrogen oxides
(@R UHXK) (1) (mg/m?) (note 1) 197 240 254
—&thEimE () (G21) Emission of sulphur dioxide (tons) (note 1) 1,646 1,824 2,352
o Emission intensity of sulphur dioxide
(AF /AR ES) (1) (kg per ton of clinker produced) (note 1) 0.0234 0.0264 0.0338
e MR E Average emission concentration of sulphur dioxide
(ER/IUHK) (1) (mg/m?) (note 1) 10 13 18
ERYHERE M) (1) Emission of particulate matters (tons) (note 1) 1,777 2,083 2,361
FENYFREE Emission intensity of particulate matters
(AF/MERRIES) (371) (kg per ton of clinker produced) (note 1) 0.0253 0.0301 0.0339
SR EHIRE Average emission concentration of particulate
(%, 1UHK) Gt1) matters (mg/m?) (note 1) 7 9 11
BERBHRE Emission of greenhouse gases
(FTH_SEHRES) 1) (000 tons of carbon dioxide equivalent) (note 1) 59,605 58,710 59,710
BERBEIRERE Emission intensity of greenhouse gases
Mg tRES (tons of carbon dioxide equivalent per
MERARIES) (71) ton of clinker produced) (note 1) 0.8472 0.8497 0.8569
HEE BETRR) G2) Electricity consumption (million kwh) (note 2) 6,518 6,426 6,500
KERARFEES Electricity consumption of cement and clinker
BEEBTER) (G22) (million kwh) (note 2) 6,489 6,398 6,473
RRTEESE Electricity consumption of concrete
(BBETRE) 2) (million kwh) (note 2) 29 28 27
WEACEERE (FTRE) Electricity consumption per ton of cement (kwh) 72.2 729 73.0
U AKERETEE (TRE)  Electricity consumption per m? of concrete (kwh) 2.2 21 2.0
FEHE (T Coal consumption (‘000 tons) 9,943 10,033 10,254
MK BB LIEFE (A7) Unit coal consumption per ton of clinker (kg) 141.3 1452 1472
MERRHEEIEEE (A FT) Standard coal consumption per ton of clinker (kg) 104.4 105.5 106.5
rERERHES (THEEE) Consolidated energy consumption
('000 tons of standard coal) 7,917 7915 8,035
ZEITHEER 1 1 5
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—EIF _EBhE _FT)N\FE
2020 2019 2018
BrEELERSERE Consolidated energy consumption per RMB10,000

MR BT AR output (ton standard coal per RMB10,000) 2.60 265 273
BriginEr B asEiE Consolidated energy consumption per RMB10,000

(R BT AR value addition (ton standard coal per RMB10,000) 5.58 5.85 6.14
BEEMECEESE (M) (G£3) Consumption of packaging materials (tons) (note 3) 60,276 63,765 70,330
BEMMEERE Consumption intensity of packaging materials

(AFr/MESREENCEES) (723) (kg per ton of cement packed in bag) (note 3) 2.08 2.17 2.19
TEESGREH AR Industrial waste utilized (‘000 tons) (note 4)

(F0g) F#4) 21,010 21,080 21,840
WA ENIRGREIEES ()  Municipal solid waste co-processed (tons) 183,100 162,700 166,000
MBS RHEERES (M) (325) Urban sludge co-processed (tons) (note 5) 52,800 56,500 49,300
TEBREYHREESE M)  Hazardous industrial waste co-processed (tons) 6,100 7,200 8,700
ENRE R BERC T IS /A Investment in technological upgrade for energy

(BEBTAR®) saving and emission reduction (RMB million) 123 120 %
BRREZAN GETARK Total investment in environmental protection

(RMB million) 441 443 393
HEER Social Indicators
EBEEH (N Total number of employees 19,467 19,816 20,301
hERHES () Number of employees from the Chinese Mainland 19,324 19,665 20,142
EARE (N Number of employees from Hong Kong 143 151 159
BEEE (N Number of male employees 16,187 16,474 16,863
ZMEE (N Number of female employees 3,280 3,342 3,438
BEE N Number of employees from management 391 402 393
A TBUREAM (N) Number of employees from finance,

administration and others 2,498 2,485 2,648
EEAE N Number of production staff 11,198 11,627 11,753
g A& (N Number of technical staff 4,517 4,420 4618
AR (N Number of sales and marketing staff 863 882 889
29 R TEE (N Number of employees aged below 29 2,439 3,023 3,648
30E39%ES (M) Number of employees aged 30 to 39 8,395 8,450 8,635
40Z249% R E (N) Number of employees aged 40 to 49 6,731 6,697 6,524
S0 UL EfBE (M) Number of employees aged 50 or above 1,902 1,646 1,494

—I 1 6 EHICRIERBRAE
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ZEITE ENE ZIZN\F
2020 2019 2018
BESIABRDLT Percentage of employees trained 99.5% 97.3% 99.3%
FUZIABBDL Percentage of male employees trained 99.5% 98.1% 99.3%
TUZIANEERE Percentage of female employees trained 99.5% 93.7% 99.2%
EEEZIIAEBDLE Percentage of employees from management
trained (%) 96.9% 97.5% 99.7%
B TBREMZIIAE Percentage of employees from finance
Ekais administration and others trained 99.9% 97.9% 99.5%
FEANBXIABERHL Percentage of production staff trained 99.5% 96.8% 99.1%
EiMAEZINAET DL Percentage of technical staff trained 99.6% 99.6% 99.6%
EIEABTIAEB DL Percentage of sales and marketing staff trained 99.9% 90.5% 99.3%
HAEE AR () Total number of suppliers 11,524 9,074 8,007
BT TEEHREEH (N Number of staff injured at work 13 13 9
—RR U EEHELEH () Number of incidents of general or above level 1 2 3
EHIETH (N Fatalities 1 2 1
EHRETTFAFETE %) Fatality rate (%o) 0.051 0.099 0.049
ZRIENAR Number of participants in safety training 257,902 245,398 218,716
ZEENBEER (%) Safety training coverage rate (%) 100 100 100
ZREZBERRH Number of safety emergency drills 1,228 1,135 991
ERZEEEAEEE (M) Number of specialized safety
management personnel 200 192 212
ZEEBABRFEAH N Number of licensed safety management personnel 1,943 1,277 1,064
ZREELZA (EBTARE)  Investment in production safety (RMB million) 152 156 146
7 Notes:
FetEEARERNICEEERMNEEF RO 1. Scope of statistics includes the major discharge outlets of the Group’s cement
production plants.
2. Scope of statistics includes the power purchased externally for production.
3. Packaging materials refer to the packaging for cement sold in bags
Scope of statistics of industrial waste includes coal gangue, stone residue, de-sulphur

gypsum, fly ash and blast furnace slag
80% moisture content for wet sludge.
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BEE R AE R B o

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

B ER]) KRB EE2) REREHNE QEE) k MER) BE MUEE

SB FELHHE) o

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

FELEEEEMEE CUEHE) &k (ER) BE (USESE( §BRM:H) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of

production volume, per facility).

FEEREEENEE CUEHE) &k (ER) BE (MUSESE( BRI o

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of

production volume, per facility).

HIPTE] LMHIE B IR R AE B L B RARERAN S 5o

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

%J&Ei@ﬁ EREEEEMNG S BRI I REE R R AENE LB EATRR
5o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of

reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
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A R

A Environmental

A2. EBEH

A2. Use of Resources

23 BIERXAER
A3. The Environment and
Natural Resources

A4, TIRETL
A4. Climate Change

—MRIRE
General Disclosure
BHERER (BEER KREMRME) EER-

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials.

RSRENIEIEA2]l  RIBREINNERLE/ JEEER WS RIUh £FE UTETRENE) REE @
UEESE( BRI o

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in
‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

FRENIERA22 BFEKERBE (USESE( §ERMHE) o

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

MIRENIERA23  HPTE] AR RE RN G B IR kA ERIE L B R SR o

KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

MRENIERA2A  BIUREGER KR E R B EARRE  MURPTET B AK K B 12 R AEEI S L B ZPTR
i

KPI A2 4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency

target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

FIREMIEEA2S HARMAEEMRNEE QUES) k ER) SEEE(hE.

KPIA2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference
to per unit produced.

—REE
General Disclosure
REETABRERRAREFREREAFENESE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and natural resources.

FREMIERAS]l HIERERHRERAAE RNEAT EREFNERA MY ENTH-
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and
the actions taken to manage them.

—fRIRER

General Disclosure

WA REH BRI EGHETAEL T ENEARBEAEENER-

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

FRENISEM]  BIBERAIEERETAELRENEARGEESE REHTE.
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
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Page

B #g

B Social

ERRETER

1. Employment and Labour Practices

Bl B
B1. Employment

B2 BEAZE
B2. Health and Safety

—MiRE
General Disclosure
ARG RRE BEREFH TR RIA TEHE b REGUREMGFEREN |
Information on:
(a) B R
the policies; and
(b) BFHETABEAYENEMEERAGNER
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

FIREMIEIEBLL MR REEY (2 BEE) FRa B DNESES -

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

FIRENIEEBL2 MR FEAR BRI DNEERALE .

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

—RRI e
General Disclosure
BRREZ2 TFRERREREESCHENLLEN
Information on:
(@) BE; &
the policies; and
(b) BTHETANAERYENEMEERRAINER
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

MigENdERe2] BE=F OEERERE) SFRITHNARKLE-

KPIB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years including the
reporting year.

MRENIEER22 RIGBEATEEH

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

MRENIERE23 HEFMRMNBERRAR2HE URERITRERE e

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are implemented

and monitored.
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B #&
B Social
INMEBRSTHER
1. Employment and Labour Practices
B3, ZRRIE —MRIRE 8991
B3. Development General Disclosure
and Training BRRARERT LIEBE MR RANBUR  fiE E8) -
Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
FIREMIEER]  ZURIRESER WESREEE FAEER) ASNTIEREEHLL- 90, 117
KPIB3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).
FIRENIEEBR32 RURIREESERNED SAEETMRIINTIIRE - D
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category.
B4, HTEf —fRIRE 86, 88
B4. Labour General Disclosure
Standards BEBLEET IS TH
Information on:
(@) B &

the policies; and
(b) BFHETABEAY2NEMEERAGNER

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

FIRENIEERA] W BREANERN SR ET RARHS T 86, 88
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour.
MRENIERBA2 B ERERBRR HRBRERPIRI S 86
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.
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B #&
B Social
I EEER
II. Operating Practices
B5, HERERE —RIRE 108-111
B5. Supply Chain General Disclosure
Management EREEENRIE R ERBER
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
FIRENISIERE] BRI N RMERHE 108
KPIB5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.
FIRENIERER52 W EMERUREENES nENTEREANEEEHE  UWREHNTRERS 109111
ko
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices

are being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored.
MIRENIEERE3 BN HEESERENRE R G RENEL UREBRTRERA - 109-111

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply chain,

and how they are implemented and monitored.
FIRENISIERS A BT REMERREESARRERIRBNE UREBHITREE - 109-111
KPIB5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services when

selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B6. ERET —REE 101-107
B6. Product General Disclosure
Responsibility BREMEHERNRENREAZ S ES RERDEEEURAERA AN
Information on:
(@) B &
the policies; and
(b) BTHETABEAFENEMARRROAINER
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and

methods of redress.

MgENIERE0] BEAREXRERLHTPAZ2ARFEEHMALNNE AL 105

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
FIRENIERB62 RN ERKRBNEHFEE URES %o 106-107
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with.
MIRENIERB63  HlEEERREHHERBRNIEBA 105-106
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights.

MRENIEER04 HMEERTAEKERLINER - 102-105
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

MIRENIERBES HHEEERRERIRER U REERTRER Ao 107

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented and

monitored.
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B #g

B Social

i EEIER
II. Qperating Practices

B7. RE'F

B7. Anti-corruption

&
M. Community

B8, #BRE
B8. Community
Investment

—MREE 111-112
General Disclosure
BRI LEBAR  $1R EF RO RN ¢
Information on:
(a) B R
the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
BIHETABEAY2NEMEERAGNER
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
MEENIERR7] RERBRHETAREESRLTEBENESRARGNHUE KFDER 112
KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
MIRENIERB7.2 WM SEERRRER UREERTRER A Ee 112
KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
MRENIERRT3 HRMESRETRENRESE . 112
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.
—MiRE 113

General Disclosure

AR B2 ER T REEMTHRRENRREES IS E L BHEN @mHBER

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

MIRENIEERS] FAEMEE MHB REEE SRR BE N H#H) - 113-114
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).
RIRENIEERS2 HRAIREMBHAER WEEHER) - 113
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.
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Mr. LI Fuli, aged 55, has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board, a
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Nomination Committee of
the Company since December 2020. Mr. LI joined China Resources Group
in September 2018 and is currently the Vice General Manager and Chief
Financial Officer of CR Holdings. He worked in China Minmetals Corporation
Group from 1991 to 2018 and served as the Senior Vice President of China
Minmetals Corporation, the Chairman of Minmetals Resources Limited,
the Chairman of Minmetals Non-ferrous Metals Holding Co. Ltd, and the
Chairman of Hunan Nonferrous Metals Holdings Group Company Limited,
etc., as well as the Chairman and non-executive director of Minmetals Land
Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) from May 2017 to
January 2019 and the Chairman of China Resources Microelectronics Limited
(listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) from April 2019 to April 2020. Mr. LI
obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics and an executive master's degree
in business administration. He has over 30 years’ experience in strategic
investment, corporate finance and financial management.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Mr. ZHOU Longshan, aged 60, has been re-designated as a non-executive
Director since December 2020, and was an executive Director from March
2003 to December 2020, the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the
Executive Committee from October 2011 to December 2020, and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company from August 2008 to October 2011. He is
a member of the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company and an
authorised representative of the Company, and currently serves as the director
of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. ZHOU obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from the Jilin Finance and Trade Institute, China in
1983. He joined China Resources Group in 1984, was the Assistant General
Manager of CR Holdings from October 2011 to November 2020, and has
over 30 years’ experience in international trade and corporate management.
He was the Vice Chairman of the China Building Materials Federation and the
Vice Chairman of the China Cement Association.
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Mr. CHEN Ying, aged 50, was appointed a non-executive Director in May
2012. He joined China Resources Group in 1993 and is currently the Chief
Strategy Officer of CR Holdings and the General Manager of its Strategy
Management Department. He has been a non-executive director of China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources Land Limited
and China Resources Gas Group Limited (all listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange) since June 2012. Mr. CHEN obtained a bachelor’'s degree of
architectural management from the Tsinghua University, China, in 1993 and a
master's degree of business administration from the University of Oxford, the
United Kingdom, in 2007.
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Mr. WANG Yan, aged 49, was appointed a non-executive Director in August
2014. He is a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. WANG
joined China Resources National Corporation (currently known as China
Resources Company Limited) in August 1994. He has been the General
Manager of the Internal Audit Department of CR Holdings since February
2016, a non-executive director of China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited, China Resources Land Limited and China Resources Gas Group
Limited since August 2014, and a non-executive director of China Resources
Medical Holdings Company Limited (all listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange) since November 2016. Mr. WANG holds a bachelor's degree in
economics from the Finance and Accounting Department, Capital University
of Economics and Business, and a master of business administration degree
from the University of South Australia, and is a qualified PRC Certified
Accountant.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Madam WAN Suet Fei, aged 44, has been appointed a non-executive
Director since May 2018. She is a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Madam WAN joined China Resources Group in August 2008 and
is currently the Senior Deputy General Manager of the Finance Department of
CR Holdings. She has been a non-executive director of China Resources Gas
Group Limited since August 2018. Madam WAN obtained a bachelor’s degree
of business administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1999
and a master’s degree of science in finance from the University of Durham,
the United Kingdom, in 2003. She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a Chartered Financial Analyst. She previously
served investment bank, multi-national corporations and audit firm in equity
research, strategic development analysis of various industries, finance and
audit respectively.
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Mr. JING Shiqing, aged 40, has been appointed a non-executive Director
since May 2018. He is a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. JING joined China Resources
Group in July 2003. He has worked in various aspects including production
technology, human resources management and administration management.
Mr. JING has worked in the Human Resources Department of CR Holdings
since February 2012, and has been appointed as Deputy General Manager of
the Human Resources Department since May 2018 with extensive experience
in selection of corporate senior management, leadership development
and talent team building. He has been a non-executive director of China
Resources Gas Group Limited since August 2018. Mr. JING obtained a
bachelor's degree in engineering from the Changsha University of Science and
Technology, China, in 2003 and a master’s degree of business administration
from the Nanjing University, China, in 2011.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Mr. JI Youhong, aged 56, has been appointed an executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since September 2016. He is
a member of the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company, and an authorised
representative of the Company. He joined the Group in October 2003 and
had served various managerial positions of the Company including the
general manager of various cement and concrete subsidiaries, the Marketing
Controller from November 2008 to December 2012 and the Regional General
Manager (Guangxi) from April 2012 to September 2016. He currently serves
as the director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. JI is a senior
engineer of building materials accredited by the Private Enterprise Senior
Engineer Panel of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region. He graduated from
the Nanjing Industrial College (currently known as Southeast University),
China with a bachelor's degree in engineering in 1985 and a master's
degree in inorganic and non-metallic materials in 1988. He has over 30
years of experience in construction materials engineering and marketing. He
is currently the Vice Chairman of the China Building Materials Federation,
the Vice Chairman of the China Cement Association and the Vice President
of the eighth Session Council of the China Concrete and Cement Products
Association.
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Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, aged 69, has been an independent non-executive
Director since August 2008. He is the chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company and a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. IP graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a degree in social
sciences in 1973. Mr. IP joined the Hong Kong Government in November
1973 and was promoted to the rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He
worked in the Hong Kong Government as a Principal Official from July 1997 to
June 2007. Senior positions held by Mr. IP in the past include Commissioner
of Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and
Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took up the position of Secretary for
Economic Development and Labour in July 2002. His portfolio in respect of
economic development covered air and sea transport, logistics development,
tourism, energy, postal services, meteorological services, competition and
consumer protection. He was also responsible for labour policies including
matters relating to employment services, labour relations and employees
rights.

In his capacity as Secretary for Economic Development and Labour, Mr. IP
was a member of the Hong Kong Airport Authority Board, the Mandatory
Provident Fund Authority Board, the Hong Kong International Theme Parks
Company Board as well as the Chairman of the Logistics Development
Council, Port Development Board, Maritime Industry Council and Aviation
Development Advisory Committee. Mr. IP retired from the Hong Kong
Government in July 2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia Star award
from the Hong Kong Government in 2001, and is an unofficial Justice of the
Peace. Mr. IP was an independent non-executive director of Synergis Holdings
Limited from September 2008 to December 2017. Mr. IP has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of six other listed companies on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, namely, Lai Sun Development Company
Limited since December 2009, Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited since
May 2011, Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited since October 2011,
Nameson Holdings Limited since April 2018, Million Cities Holdings Limited
since June 2018 and C-Mer Eye Care Holdings Limited since November
2020.
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Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, aged 75, has been an independent
non-executive Director since January 2011. He is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company and a member of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of
the Company. Mr. SHEK was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in 1995,
awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star in 2007 and awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star
in 2013. Mr. SHEK has been a member of the Legislative Council for Hong
Kong representing the real estate and construction functional constituency
since 2000.

Mr. SHEK has been appointed as the Vice Chairman of Goldin Financial
Holdings Limited, and re-designated from independent non-executive
Director to executive Director since March 2021. He acts as an independent
non-executive director of numerous companies listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange, including Paliburg Holdings Limited since July
2002, Lifestyle International Holdings Limited since March 2004, Chuang’s
Consortium International Limited since May 2004, NWS Holdings Limited
since September 2004, Regal Portfolio Management Limited (the manager
of Regal Real Estate Investment Trust) since February 2006, Eagle Asset
Management (CP) Limited (the manager of Champion Real Estate Investment
Trust) since March 2006, Country Garden Holdings Company Limited since
December 2006, SJM Holdings Limited since October 2007, Chuang's
China Investments Limited since April 2008, ITC Properties Group Limited
since September 2010, Lai Fung Holdings Limited since December 2012,
Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited since December 2013,
Everbright Grand China Assets Limited since January 2018, CSI Properties
Limited since July 2018, Far East Consortium International Limited since June
2019, Landing International Development Limited since August 2020 and Hao
Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited since October 2020.
Mr. SHEK was also an independent non-executive director of MTR Corporation
Limited from December 2007 to May 2019, Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited
from September 2007 to June 2020, and Goldin Financial Holdings Limited
from January 2017 to March 2021, companies listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. SHEK is an Honorary Court member of the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology, a Court and Council Member of the
University of Hong Kong, an Independent Member of the Board of Governors
and Chairman of English Schools Foundation, a member of the Advisory
Committee on Corruption of the Independent Commission Against Corruption,
an independent non-executive director of Ping An OneConnect Bank (Hong
Kong) Limited, and a member of the Executive Committee of Hong Kong
Sheng Kung Hui Welfare Council Limited. Mr. SHEK graduated from the
University of Sydney, Australia with a Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Diploma
in Education.
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Madam ZENG Xuemin, aged 76, has been an independent non-executive
Director since August 2008. She is a member of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Madam ZENG is a senior engineer
at professor level accredited by the State Economic and Trade Commission
and a registered consulting engineer (investment) accredited by the National
Development and Reform Commission of China. She studied at the Beijing
Architecture and Industrial Institute from 1963 to 1968 and started her
career and served at Benxi Gongyuan Cement Factory as a technician and
director of the laboratory between 1969 and 1983. From 1984 to March
2001, she worked at the Production Division and the Planning Division of
the State Building Materials Bureau and served as the deputy director and
the director of the various departments and divisions. She was the Vice
President of the China Cement Association from April 2001 to April 2014
and has been appointed as a distinguished expert since July 2014. She has
been the branch officer of China Association for Engineering Construction
Standardization from July 2002 to date. Madam ZENG is specialized on
managing the development and planning for, and the scientific advancement,
policies and laws and regulations, construction investment as well as setting
up the relevant standards and quotas applicable to the building materials
industry. She took the lead in formulating the relevant building materials
industry development plans for the Seventh Five-Year Plan, Eighth Five-Year
Plan, Ninth Five-Year Plan and Tenth Five-Year Plan and in setting up a wide
spectrum of construction standards and quotas for the building materials
industry, including the standards of design for a cement factory. In the area of
engineering and construction management, she was awarded with a number
of Grade 1 and Grade 2 prizes at the provincial level.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, aged 52, has been an independent non-executive
Director since August 2008. He is the chairman of the Audit Committee of
the Company and a member of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. He
has been a practicing director of Nelson CPA Limited. He has extensive
experience in professional accountancy in Hong Kong, in particular in advising
and speaking on issues relating to International and Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards in Hong Kong and other Asian cities. He obtained a
bachelor's degree in business administration from the Hong Kong Baptist
University in 1992, a master degree of business administration from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 1998 and a master
of science degree in finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in
2001. Mr. LAM has been appointed a member of the Air Transport Licensing
Authority of Hong Kong since August 2013, a member of Transport Advisory
Committee of Hong Kong since October 2019, and a member of Consumer
Council since January 2021. Mr. LAM is a practicing fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of several
professional bodies in Australia, the USA and the United Kingdom, including
CPA Australia, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales. He is also a CFA
charter holder and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
Mr. LAM has been appointed as a Justice of the Peace since October 2020,
and an independent non-executive director of Hydoo International Holding
Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) since March 2013.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHANG Liang, aged 58, has been appointed the Senior Vice
President of the Company since January 2014, and has been acting as
the Regional General Manager (Guangdong) of the Company since August
2016. He joined China Resources Group in 1994 and had since then
been responsible for marketing and promotional activities. He was the
Regional General Manager (Sichuan) of China Resources Snow Breweries
Limited and the Deputy General Manager of China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. He joined the Group in January 2013 and had
served various managerial positions including the Chief Marketing Officer
and the Regional General Manager (Hainan). Mr. ZHANG obtained a
bachelor's degree in engineering from the Dalian Institute of Light Industry
(currently known as Dalian Polytechnic University), China in 1984. He has
over 30 years of experience in marketing and corporate management.

Mr. ZHANG Yingzhong, aged 54, has been appointed the Chief Safety
and Environmental Protection Officer of the Company since January 2014.
He joined the Group in September 2007 and was the Chief Operating
Officer from February 2010 to January 2014. Mr. ZHANG completed an
associate programme in ceramic technology profession from the Wuhan
University of Technology, China in 1995. He has over 30 years of working
experience in the building materials and cement industry.

Mr. LIU Guixin, aged 56, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Guangxi) of the Company since September 2016. He joined
the Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial positions
including the Regional General Manager (Shanxi), the General Manager
of the Technology Research and Development Centre, the Chief Operating
Officer and the Regional General Manager (Guizhou). Mr. LIU obtained
a bachelor's degree in engineering from the Wuhan University of
Technology, China in 1987. He has over 30 years of working experience in
the building materials and cement industry.

Mr. HUANG Ting, aged 51, has been appointed the Chief Procurement
Officer of the Company since October 2019. He joined China Resources
National Corporation (currently known as China Resources Company
Limited) in 1992. He joined the Group in July 2003 and had served
various managerial positions including the Deputy General Manager
(Guangdong), the Financial Controller and the Chief Financial Officer. Mr.
HUANG obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from the Xiamen
University, China in 1992. He has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Mr. HE Youdong, aged 57, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Fujian) of the Company since January 2013. He joined the
Group in June 2010 and had served as the Deputy Regional General
Manager (Fujian). Mr. HE obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering
from the Fuzhou University, China in 1984. He has over 30 years of
working experience in building materials and cement industry.

Mr. ZHENG Qinghong, aged 55, has been appointed the Regional
General Manager (Yunnan) of the Company since November 2015.
He joined the Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial
positions including the Deputy Regional General Manager (Guangdong),
the Regional General Manager (Fujian) and the Chief Logistics Officer.
Mr. ZHENG obtained a master's degree in engineering from the Wuhan
University of Technology, China in 1993. He has over 30 years of working
experience in building materials and cement industry.

Mr. WANG Xiaohu, aged 54, has been appointed the Chief Human
Resources Officer of the Company since April 2018. Mr. WANG joined
China Resources Machinery Company Limited in 1991. He joined the
Group in July 2003 and had served as the Deputy Marketing Controller
and the Person-in-Charge of Shanxi Region. Mr. WANG obtained a
bachelor's degree in engineering from the Northern Jiaotong University
(currently known as the Beijing Jiaotong University) in 1988 and
completed a master’s candidate programme in Management Science from
the University of Science and Technology of China in 1999. He has over
20 years of experience in corporate management.

Mr. LI Baojun, aged 52, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Hainan) of the Company since March 2020. Mr. LI joined China
Resources Group in September 2002 and served as the General Manager
of the Strategic & Management Department of China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited as well as the Assistant General Manager of
the Strategic Management Department of China Resources Group. He
joined the Group in January 2014 and had served as the Chief Strategy
Officer and the General Manager of the International Department of
the Company. Mr. LI obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering from
the Tianjin University, China in 1990, a master's degree in industrial
engineering from the Hebei University of Technology, China in 2003 and
a master's degree in business administration from the China Europe
International Business School, China in 2012. He has approximately 20
years of experience in strategic development and corporate management.
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Mr. LI Chuanji, aged 50, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Guizhou) of the Company since April 2020. He joined the
Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial positions
including the Chief Logistics Officer, the Deputy General Manager of the
Marketing Department, the Deputy Regional General Manager (Fujian)
and the Deputy Regional General Manager (Yunnan). Mr. LI obtained a
bachelor's degree in economics from the Shanghai University of Finance
and Economics, China in 1992 and a master's degree in business
administration from the Hong Kong Baptist University in 2013. He is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
has over 20 years of experience in financial, marketing and corporate
management.

Mr. CAl Xiang, aged 53, has been appointed the Chief Operating Officer of
the Company since October 2019. He joined the Group in July 2003 and
had served various managerial positions including the Deputy Regional
General Manager (Guangdong), the Regional General Manager (Guizhou)
and the Chief Procurement Officer. Mr. CAl completed an undergraduate
programme in business administration from the Wuhan University of
Technology, China in 2006. He has over 30 years of working experience in
building materials and cement industry.

Mr. LI Wei, aged 52, has been appointed the Head of the New Business
Office of the Company since March 2020. He joined the Group in January
2005 and had served various managerial positions including the Regional
Marketing Controller (Guangdong), the Deputy Regional General Manager
(Guangxi), the Deputy Regional General Manager (Hainan), the Chief
Procurement Officer and the Chief Marketing Officer. Mr. LI obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from the Queen’s University of
Brighton, USA in 2009. He has approximately 30 years of experience in
marketing and corporate management.

Mr. WANG Yue, aged 44, has been appointed the Head of the Office
of Discipline Inspection Commission of the Company since April 2018.
He joined the Company in October 2012 as the General Manager of the
Internal Audit Department, responsible for the internal audit and risk
management functions of the Company. Mr. WANG obtained a bachelor's
degree in economics from the Zhongnan University of Finance and
Economics (currently known as Zhongnan University of Economics and
Law), China in 1998. He has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of cement, concrete
and related products and services. Details of the principal activities of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on page 193.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of HK$0.34 per
Share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$0.335
per Share). Such final dividend will not be subject to any withholding tax in
Hong Kong.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.275 per Share in cash
for 2020 (2019: HK$0.26 per Share) and the total distribution for the year
ended 31 December 2020 will be HK$0.615 per Share (2019: HK$0.595
per Share).

The Company has adopted a dividend policy to provide returns to
our shareholders. Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rules,
regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company
may declare and pay dividends to our shareholders provided that such
declaration and payment of dividends does not affect the Group’s normal
operations.
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In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board will take into account, among others, the
Group's earnings performance, financial position, liquidity position,
current and future operations, capital requirements, the interests of our
shareholders and any other factors which the Board deems relevant.

The dividend policy will be continuously reviewed from time to time. There
can be no assurance from the Company that a dividend will be proposed
or declared in any particular amount for any given periods.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
10 May 2021 to Friday, 14 May 2021, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote
at the annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 14 May 2021, all
share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 7 May 2021 with the
Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

Subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
Monday, 7 June 2021 to shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company after the close of
business of the Company at 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 24 May 2021 and
the register of members of the Company will be closed on Monday, 24
May 2021, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates shall
be lodged not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 21 May 2021 with the
Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Company’s business, a discussion and analysis of
the Group's development and performance during the year, the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group, the material factors underlying
its results and financial position, and the future development of the
Company’s business are set out in the Chairman’s Statement and the
Management Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

In addition, the Group’s environmental and social policies and
performance, as well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group and the Company’s
relationships with its key stakeholders are discussed in the Environmental
and Social Responsibility Report and the Corporate Governance Report of
this annual report.

FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of the movements in fixed assets and investment property of the
Group during the year are set out in Notes 15 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 46
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the authorized share capital of the Company
during the year. Details of the authorized and issued share capital of the
Company for the year are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DEBENTURES

Details of the unsecured medium-term notes of the Company for the year
are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various form
of raw materials and finished goods in the total amount of approximately
HK$9,439,000 (2019: HK$2,737,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF

According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, there are currently no taxes
levied on individuals or corporations by reason of holding of Shares based
upon profits, income, gains or appreciations and there is no taxation in the
nature of inheritance tax or estate duty.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$3,169.3
million (2019: HK$2,959.3 million).

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Non-executive Directors

LI Fuli (appointed with effect from 15 December 2020)

ZHOU Longshan (re-designated with effect from 15 December 2020)
CHEN Ying

WANG Yan

WAN Suet Fei

JING Shiging

Executive Director
JI Youhong
Independent non-executive Directors

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
ZENG Xuemin

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. LI Fuli shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. CHEN Ying, Mr. WANG Yan, Madam WAN Suet Fei and Mr. JING
Shiging shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Directors are entitled to fees fixed by the Board under the authorization
of the annual general meeting with reference to the prevailing market
conditions and his duties and responsibilities with the Company. The
executive Directors are entitled to salaries, allowances and discretionary
bonuses determined by the Board having regard to the Group’s
performance, the prevailing market condition and recommendation made
by the Remuneration Committee. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set
out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its parent company, any of its fellow subsidiaries or
its subsidiaries were a party and in which a Director or his/her connected
entities had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries, or its parent company a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or chief executives or any of their spouse or children
under the age of 18 or nominees to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Directors, chief executives of the Company
or their associates held certain interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
as follows:

(a) Z&H=AF (@  The Company
FRiFEiE K B3 R A RARZ 17 B 4T B 42
EENR 15 R EE HEBITRIPHIEES G2
(%)
Number of
ordinary Aggregate long position in Shares and
Name of Director Capacity Shares held underlying Shares to issued Shares (nofe)
(%)
AL [l Er A 1,000,000 0.01
ZHOU Longshan Interest of spouse
wRA EnEAA 60,000 0.01
JI Youhong Beneficial owner
[ E EmBEEA 230,000 0.01
CHEN Ying Beneficial owner
N REAATDNR_E_EF+-A=+— note: Based on 6,982,937,817 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2020.

HE31782156,982,937,817KR 15 -
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(b) ERWEA (R ARAE (FAFH ()

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited, an

B EE) associated corporation of the Company
R AR B AR A R 5 RO 4F B 48 8K
FRfsE & LEEE A (ER) ARAR
EENy 515 RIZEE BRITRMHIILES G2
(%)
Aggregate long position in shares and
Number of underlying shares to issued shares of
ordinary China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Name of Director Capacity shares held Company Limited (nofe)
(%)
2 BEaolEAA 167,999 0.01

WANG Yan Beneficial owner

=2 REERERE (R ARABDNZ

ZEBF+_A=+—HEEBETRH
3,244,176,905f% 518 ©

() ERBNERBRAE (FAFHME (0

note: Based on 3,244,176,905 shares of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2020.

China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, an

Btk E) associated corporation of the Company
R AR B AR A B 5 RO 4F B 4R 8K
FRFEiE GERENIZERBRAT
EENA 15 K &E EBITRMAIEER 2
(%)
Aggregate long position in shares and
Number of underlying shares to issued shares of
ordinary China Resources Power Holdings
Name of Director Capacity shares held Company Limited (note)
(%)
2 BmBEBA 44,000 0.01

WANG Yan Beneficial owner

2. REEEBNZERARAANR-D
EE+_BAZ=Z+—HEBETERMHD
4,810,443, 7400851 & o
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(d) EHEMBRAE (EATMEREZE (d)  China Resources Land Limited, an associated corporation of the
=) Company

PR R AR ARG A5 RO 4F B 428K

FRrfsE&i&E HEHEMBRAR

EEHA 13 RHEE BEEBITRMAIEER 2

(%)

Number of Aggregate long position in shares and

ordinary underlying shares to issued shares of

Name of Director Capacity shares held China Resources Land Limited (rofe)

(%)

P JEE EnEAA 500,000 0.01
CHEN Ying Beneficial owner

m S TR EmEAA 8,000 0.01
WAN Suet Fei Beneficial owner

#: REZEBRARAIR-S=
TE+-AZ+—BBHTRG
7,130,939,5798% 5t & ©

() EBRMRIERBMRAE (FAFHME

(e)

note: Based on 7,130,939,579 shares of China Resources Land Limited in issue
as at 31 December 2020.

China Resources Gas Group Limited, an associated corporation

e of the Company
R AR R AR ARG 15 R 4F B 42 8K
FRiFEE HERRRIERBERAR
54 15 ianE 4= BEITRMH LS G2
(%)
Number of Aggregate long position in shares and
ordinary underlying shares to issued shares of
Name of Director Capacity shares held China Resources Gas Group Limited (nofe)
(%)
BEEL BmEBA 6,000 0.01

ZHOU Longshan Beneficial owner
REZEHRIRERERABNR-E
“EE+ZA=+—HBEITER®
2,314,012,8718&5t8 -

03

note: Based on 2,314,012,871 shares of China Resources Gas Group Limited in

issue as at 31 December 2020.
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f EHERREFFRAR (XATHHE ® China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited, an associated
BiEE) corporation of the Company

RRIA RAERRG T EEHK

FRrfsEi&E (EHBREERARAR
EEEs 13 K EB BERBITRMAIEER 2
(%)
Aggregate long position in shares and
Number of underlying shares to issued shares of China
ordinary Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
Name of Director Capacity shares held (note)
(%)
FE BB m 2,000 0.01
WANG Yan Interest of spouse
it REEHEEZEEFERABN T note: Based on 6,282,510,461 shares of China Resources Pharmaceutical
ZEFE+ZA=+—HEETERM Group Limited in issue as at 31 December 2020.
6,282,510,461 8518

(g EHEREETERAGE (SATHE (g)  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited, an associated
e corporation of the Company

I BRI R AR RR AR A7 BV 47 R 4R #K

FRiFEiE HEREREETRRAT
S5 15 RiH &8 BRITRM LS G2
(%)
Aggregate long position in shares and
Number of underlying shares to issued shares of China
ordinary Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited
Name of Director Capacity shares held (note)
(%)
PR IE BEalEAA 3,461 0.01
CHEN Ying Beneficial owner
& REEBEREETBERATN_-E note: Based on 2,282,500,000 shares of China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services
“EFE+ZA=+—HEBETER® Limited in issue as at 31 December 2020.
2,282,500,00088 5+ »
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, so far as is known
to the Directors, no interests and short positions were held or deemed
or taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by any Director or chief
executives of the Company or their respective associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code
or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be recorded
in the register referred to therein. None of the Directors and the chief
executives (including their spouses and children under the age of 18) had,
as at 31 December 2020, any interest in, or had been granted any right to
subscribe for the securities and options of the Company and its associated
corporations within the meaning of the SFO, or had exercised any such
rights.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased and maintained directors and officers
liability insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover
for the directors and officers of the Group against their potential legal
liabilities to third parties that may be incurred in the course of performing
their duties. The level of the coverage is reviewed annually.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Group regards the executive Directors, senior vice presidents and vice
presidents of the Company as members of the senior management team.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, total remunerations paid to
memobers of the senior management team who are not executive Directors
are as follows:

—ETHF —ZT—hE
FHT FHET
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
¥ KRG Salaries and allowances 14,368 13,854
FIBTEAL Discretionary bonus 22,402 40,025
BIRER A Pension costs and mandatory provident fund

SEEIMEATEEHR contributions 1,783 2,438
38,553 56,317

TECTEFR
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The remunerations of the members of the senior management team who
are not executive Directors are within the following bands:

Z 21,000,000 7T

1,000,001 75 % 1,500,000/ 70
1,500,001 775 22,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001 75 £ 2,500,0007% 70
2,500,001 77T & 3,000,0007% 75
3,000,001 77T % 3,500,000 7T
3,500,001 77T %4,000,0007% 7T
4,000,0017 75 24,500,000 7T
4,500,001 7 75 5,000,000 7T
5,000,001 7T £ 5,500,000 7T
5,500,001 75 26,000,000/ 7T

REFRAPNSREEZEZNENEEER
REFREFKSREEAERE—HAR

Zo

1 50 FERNORERBRAR

Nil — HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

A
Number of individuals

—ECEHF “E—hF
2020 2019

3 _

3 1

5 1

1 4

1 1

- 3

- 2

- 1

The biographies of members of the senior management team at the date
of this annual report are disclosed in the section on Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management in this annual report.
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons, not being a Director or chief executives of the Company, had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:

BAEZALTRE BE %A RBE RESHBEDIEE

(%)

Approximate

Name of interested parties Long position/Short position Number of Shares shareholding

(%)

FEZEBEBRAR G Fa 4,798,453,749 68.72
China Resources Company Limited (note) Long position

EHRD D) S5=) 4,798,453,749 68.72
CRI (note) Long position

CRC Bluesky Limited (5%) 5] 4,798,453,749 68.72
CRC Bluesky Limited (note) Long position

=H &® &) Sy 4,798,453,749 68.72
CR Holdings (note) Long position

EHER (KR BRAR GF) A 4,792,189,749 68.63
CRH (Cement) Limited (note) Long position

i FEERERABLERRM I EBITRAN  note: China Resources Company Limited is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share

EEER A MEEBCRC Bluesky Limited2ZE
ITRR AN E = A A > CRC Bluesky Limited7x2
EHEE) 2N EFITRANERES A MEH
(@) AlAEBER OO BRADREEAR
NEEHEBITRANER[EE A -EBHER (K
JB) AR A B EIEREH4,792,189, 749/ B3 15 > 14
KRB EEITRAEAL68.63% 6aBARARANEA
1#15756,264, 0000 B2 15 (5 A A B B EBITRAEL
0.09% °

PR EXXPRIREESN MEEFA R -T2 F
TZR=T—R > BIEEMATERRRES
K BRE R B EEXVED 52357 BRI FR & 7R A A
NE N PAR BN BAEH BN AR REE
FREAEIRF E336FEFHN BT MPRIER
BN AR REIRR (7 B s 3 A o

capital of CRI, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital
of CRC Bluesky Limited, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of CR Holdings, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of CRH (Cement) Limited and Commotra Company Limited. CRH
(Cement) Limited directly held 4,792,189,749 Shares representing approximately
68.63% of the issued share capital of the Company, whereas Commotra Company
Limited directly held 6,264,000 Shares representing approximately 0.09% of the

issued share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31
December 2020, no other person had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.
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FEREXRS CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

AP IRRM AP IR ERNE TR 53 Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 45 to the
SIEALTRBE+HNAZEBFERER  consolidated financial statements also fall under the definition of
GHEHZE - EN  NATETHEBATIERIE  continuing connected transactions in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
ATETHNERZZFERRTT - Details of such transactions conducted by certain subsidiaries of the

Company with connected persons during the year are summarized below:

EHRAFREET

=% REE LR
ARETFTT ARBTT
Annual cap

permitted under
Amount  the Listing Rules

RMB’000 RMB’000
BEBENEEREES Purchase of electricity from CR Power 993,883 1,050,000
(1) Group (note 1)
BEBABLBRAS Purchase of garments, promotional 36,391 50,000
EEARED () BIR AR K materials, safety shoes, labour protective
HESBZMBABKE products and tools from China
AREE N (REE A~ S5 R EE Resources Textiles Company Limited,
YRAM&ATIA F2) China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
Company Limited and their respective
subsidiaries (note 2)
W REEREENER Maximum daily aggregate amount of loans 1,183,952 1,200,000
KAERH) S E H R =485 and related interests due from China
(7#3) Resources Group (note 3)
REREEBIRITRD Maximum daily aggregate amount of 797,419 847,500
BREABNEREHRS4E%E deposits with China Resources Bank of
(BEEWFE) GE4) Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (inclusive of interests

receivable) (note 4)

1 52 FERNORERBRAR
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Purchase of electricity from CR Power Group

On 1 November 2017, the Company entered into an agreement
with China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited for
the purchase of electricity by the Group from CR Power Group,
including but not limited to direct power supply (where CR Power
Group generates the electricity to be supplied) and agency power
supply (where CR Power Group purchases the electricity for
supply to the Group), for the term of three years from 1 January
2018 to 31 December 2020. The agreement would enable
the Group to secure electricity supply at a fair, reasonable and
competitive price which is lower than the normal on-grid tariffs,
which in turn reduces operating costs of the Group. Under the
agreement, the electricity fees payable by the Group would be
determined after arm’s length negotiation in accordance with
the relevant national and provincial power supply system reform
policies and with reference to prices in the open market, which
shall be no less favourable than the price for similar transactions
with independent third parties. As CR Holdings is a controlling
shareholder of both China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited and the Company, China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited is a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Details of the above transactions were disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 1 November 2017.
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Purchase of garments, promotional materials, safety shoes,
labour protective products and tools from China Resources
Textiles Company Limited, China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
Company Limited and their respective subsidiaries

On 25 October 2019, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with China Resources Textiles Company Limited for
the procurement of garments and promotional materials and a
framework agreement with China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
Company Limited for the procurement of safety shoes, labour
protective products and tools respectively for a term of three years
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 in order to enable the
Group to have a greater flexibility in the choice of relevant products
on normal commercial terms and on a scale which would not
place the Group’s resources at risk or affect its relationship with
other independent third-party suppliers. Under these agreements,
the purchase prices of each relevant product would be determined
after arm’s length negotiation with reference to the prevailing
market prices of similar products. Such prices shall be no less
favourable than those available from other independent third-party
suppliers. In view of the substantial increase in the demand for
procurement of protective masks and other epidemic prevention
gears of the Group since early 2020 due to the emergency events
of COVID-19 epidemic and the relatively high level of continuous
demand for relevant procurement subject to regular epidemic
prevention and control, the Board envisaged that the annual
caps contemplated under the framework agreement with China
Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited dated 25 October
2019 could not meet the business requirements of the Company.
Therefore, on 23 October 2020, the Company and China
Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited entered into a
supplemental framework agreement to revise the annual caps. As
China Resources Textiles Company Limited and China Resources
Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited are indirectly wholly owned
subsidiaries of CR Holdings, China Resources Textiles Company
Limited and China Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company
Limited are connected persons of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Details of the above transactions were disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 25 October 2019 and 23
October 2020. The transaction amount set out on the table above
was the aggregate transaction amounts of the Group with China
Resources Textiles Company Limited, China Resources Fashion
(Holdings) Company Limited and their respective subsidiaries for
the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Master Lending Agreements with CR Holdings and CRI

On 9 December 2019, the Company entered into an agreement
with CR Holdings for loan facilities denominated in HK$, RMB and
US$, whereby the interest rate would not be less than the higher of
(i) the rate at which CR Holdings or a corporate borrower of similar
standing is able to borrow in Hong Kong in an amount equal to
the relevant advance in the applicable currency from a bank or
a financial institution for the relevant period and (ii) the deposit
rate in Hong Kong which could have been obtained from a bank
or a financial institution for such relevant amount and period. On
the same day, the Company entered into an agreement with CRI
for loan facilities denominated in RMB, whereby the interest rate
would be no less than the higher of (i) the rate at which CRI or
a corporate borrower of similar standing is able to borrow in the
Chinese Mainland in an amount equal to the relevant advance in
RMB from a bank or a financial institution for the relevant period
and (i) the RMB deposit rate which could have been obtained
from a bank or a financial institution in the Chinese Mainland for
such relevant amount and period. The above two agreements will
provide the Company with greater flexibility in the management
of its surplus cash resources by enabling it to lend a portion of
its surplus cash resources and those of its subsidiaries to other
China Resources Group companies, including CR Holdings and
CRI. The terms of the above two agreements are three years
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022. Details of the above
transactions were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 9 December 2019. As at 31 December 2020, the Group
had outstanding loans due from China Resources Group in the
amount of RMB1,100,000,000 (equivalent to HK$1,306,976,000)
and related interests in the amount of RMB2,626,000 (equivalent
to HK$3,120,000) under these two Master Lending Agreements.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Deposit services and financial products provided by China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.

On 20 October 2017, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co.,
Ltd., pursuant to which, China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
shall provide deposit services and financial products to the Group,
including but not limited to letters of credit, bill of exchange,
discounting, assignment of receivables, etc. The term of the
strategic cooperation agreement was three years from 1 January
2018 to 31 December 2020. The strategic cooperation agreement
would enable the Group to enhance its overall liquidity, optimize its
utilization of cash and capital and provide greater flexibility in cash
management for generation of better return on normal commercial
terms and on a scale which will not place the Group’s resources at
risk or affect its relationship with other financial institutions. Under
the strategic cooperation agreement, the deposit rates would be
determined with reference to the benchmark rates published by
the People’s Bank of China or other preferred rates in the market
as offered by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. to its
other independent preferred customers, whereas the prices of
financial products would not be higher than those published by
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. that are applicable to its
independent preferred customers. As CRI holds more than 50% of
the registered capital of China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.,
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. is a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the above
transaction were disclosed in the Company’'s announcement
dated 20 October 2017. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had
aggregate balance of deposits of RMB753,270,000 (equivalent to
HK$895,005,000) placed with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Co., Ltd. (inclusive of interests receivable). During the year ended
31 December 2020, the Group did not use any financial product
provided by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
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Financial products provided by China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd.

On 20 October 2017, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with China Resources SZITIC Trust Co.,
Ltd., pursuant to which, China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.
shall provide financial products to the Group, including but not
limited to cash management, asset management, assignment of
receivables, etc. The term of the strategic cooperation agreement
was three years from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020.
The strategic cooperation agreement would enable the Group to
enhance its overall liquidity, optimize its utilization of cash and
capital and provide greater flexibility in cash management for
generation of better return on normal commercial terms and on a
scale which will not place the Group’s resources at risk or affect
its relationship with other financial institutions. Under the strategic
cooperation agreement, the prices of financial products would
not be higher than those published by China Resources SZITIC
Trust Co., Ltd. that are applicable to its independent preferred
customers. As CRI holds more than 50% of the registered capital
of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd., China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Details of the above transaction were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 20 October
2017. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
did not use any financial products provided by China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions
have been entered into:

(@

(b)

(c)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
on normal commercial terms or better; and

according to the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Based on work performed, Ernst & Young, our independent auditor, has
confirmed in a letter to the Board to the effect that nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that the above transactions:

(a) have not been approved by the Board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

(c) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the caps disclosed in the previous
announcements.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total
purchases.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 160 to 185 of
this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company's issued shares
as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and its assets and liabilities for the past
five years is set out on page 304.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited
by Ernst & Young. A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Ernst & Young as
independent auditor of the Company.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the independent auditor of the
Company with effect from the close of the annual general meeting held
on 11 May 2018. The appointment of Ernst & Young as the independent
auditor of the Company following the retirement of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu was approved by shareholders at the same meeting.

By Order of the Board

LI Fuli
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 March 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieving and maintaining
the highest standards of corporate governance and have adopted the
principles of the CG Code in the construction of our corporate governance
code. The Board believes that effective corporate governance practices are
fundamental to enhancing shareholder value and safeguarding interests
of our shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company
has adopted sound corporate governance principles that emphasize on
the quality of the Board, effective risk management and internal control,
stringent disclosure practices, and transparency and accountability to all
stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company had complied
with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except for the
deviation as disclosed below.

DEVIATION FROM CG CODE

In respect of code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all non-executive
Directors were not appointed for a specific term. Since all Directors are
subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company at annual general
meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation basis
in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, there are
sufficient measures to ensure the Company complies with the same level
as that required under this provision.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Company’s code of conduct and the
Model Code regarding their securities transactions during 2020.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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THE BOARD

Composition

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives and
overseeing the management of the business of the Company. The
Directors are accountable for promoting the success of the Company and
making decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

In order to maintain highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility and
swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when necessary, may
delegate its managing and administrative powers to the management,
and provide clear directions regarding such delegation so as to avoid
seriously impeding or undermining the overall capabilities of the Board in
exercising its powers. Duties and authorities delegated to the various board
committees are described in the respective sections below.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced composition
of executive Directors and non-executive Directors helps to ensure the
independence of the Board and enables the Board to make independent
judgments effectively. The operation and management of the Board and
the day-to-day management of the Company’s business should be clearly
divided at the Board level to ensure that there is a balance of power and
authority and that power will not be concentrated on any one individual.

In 2020, the following changes to members of the Board and its
committees took place. With effect from 15 December 2020, (1) Mr.
Z/HOU Longshan had ceased to be the Chairman of the Board, an
executive Director, the chairman of Executive Committee, a member
of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee, and has been re-designated as a non-executive Director;
(2) Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen had ceased to be the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and has been re-designated as a member of the
Nomination Committee; and (3) Mr. LI Fuli had been appointed as the
Chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director and the chairman of the
Nomination Committee. As at 31 December 2020, the Board comprised
eleven Directors, including six non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. LI
Fuli (Chairman), Mr. ZHOU Longshan, Mr. CHEN Ying, Mr. WANG Yan,
Madam WAN Suet Fei and Mr. JING Shiging; one executive Director,
namely, Mr. JI Youhong (Chief Executive Officer); and four independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai
Him Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson. The
independent non-executive Directors represents at least one third of the
Board as required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2020. A description of the Directors is set out in
the Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management Section on
pages 124 to 138 and on the Company’s website.
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Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors

All Directors have entered into formal letters of appointment with the
Company and they are subject to re-election by shareholders at annual
general meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation
basis in accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association of
the Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election
of retiring Directors at annual general meetings is dealt with by separate
individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are
identified, selected and recommended to the Board by the Nomination
Committee as more fully explained below under the section on Nomination
Committee. Any Director(s) so appointed shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting in accordance with Article 16.2 of
the Articles of Association of the Company.

Directors’ Training

Upon appointment to the Board, the Directors receive a package
of orientation materials about the Group and are provided with
a comprehensive induction to the Group's businesses by senior
management. The package includes a copy of “A Guide on Directors’
Duties” issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong. Continuing
education and information are provided to the Directors regularly to ensure
that the Directors are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial,
legal and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
businesses.

In addition, the Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has arranged in-house trainings for Directors in the form of
seminar and reading materials.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Participation of Directors in continuous professional development during

REERRREY

Types of continuous professional development

SM(EREE RARMEESRN

SMEZRZ HRTATA) BRFRREHR

R g Bl E HEBNER

Attending training Reading regulatory

seminar of the updates or

Attending training “China Resources information relevant

seminar of probity and Group Code of to the Company or

integrity of directors Business Conduct” its business

FEN (R ZZE_ZFF L Fuli (appointed with effect from A EH TER 4
FoA+EHEZE) 15 December 2020) Not applicable Not applicable

Bl (*=ZF-FF  7HOU Longshan (re-designated with effect v v v

+_F+AHET) from 15 December 2020)

BE CHEN Ying v _ /

Iz WANG Yan - - v

BER WAN Suet Fei v / v

=itE JING Shiging v v v

R4 JI Youhong v / v

E3epe IP Shu Kwan Stephen v v v

Vot SHEK Lai Him Abraham v/ / v/

= ZENG Xuemin v/ v v

MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson v/ v v
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Independence

For a Director to be considered independent, the Nomination Committee
and the Board must be satisfied that the Director does not and will
not have any direct or indirect material relationship with the Group. In
determining the independence of Directors, the Nomination Committee
and the Board follow the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and
consider all of the independent non-executive Directors as independent.
In addition, the Company has received annual written confirmation
of independence from all the independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. None of the Directors has
or maintained any financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship with any of the other Directors.

Board Meetings

The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a year.
Between scheduled meetings, the senior management of the Group
provides information to Directors on a regular basis regarding the activities
and development in the businesses of the Group. The Directors shall have
full access to information on the Group and independent professional
advice at all times whenever considered necessary by the Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will be
given written notice of the meeting at least fourteen days in advance
and an agenda together with supporting papers no less than three days
prior to the meeting. For other meetings, Directors are given as much
advance notice as reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles of Association
of the Company, a Director who has a material interest in any contract,
transaction, arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the
Board for consideration shall abstain from voting on the relevant resolution
and such Director shall not be counted for quorum determination
purposes.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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During 2020, six meetings (including one meeting by way of circulation
of written resolutions) were held by the Board. The attendances at these

LEEENHEBRIOT . meetings are as follows:
HiE BT EMREE
ERHY RE &5t
Meetings Written

Attended/Held Resolutions Total
EHITES Non-executive Directors
=@ (R ZEZEF LI Fuli (appointed with effect from 0/0 0/0 0/0

+_—H+L HEZST) 15 December 2020)
BREW (R = _=ZF ZHOU Longshan (re-designated with 5/5 1/1 6/6
+ZHA+#HHBT) effect from 15 December 2020)

PR CHEN Ying 4/5 11 5/6
2 WANG Yan 1/5 171 2/6
SR WAN Suet Fei 5/5 1/1 6/6
StE JING Shiging 5/5 1/1 6/6
BiITES Executive Director
AoRAT JI Youhong 5/5 1/1 6/6
B IEMITES Independent non-executive Directors
= IP Shu Kwan Stephen 5/5 11 6/6
Afes# SHEK Lai Him Abraham 5/5 11 6/6
B2y ZENG Xuemin 5/5 1/1 6/6
M= LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 5/5 11 6/6

RIE-EEETHNEEREEMIKRNE
REEFRM TN FRREEKRAEES

BRERS B _T-NEFRE TN
FERBEAMEEERS) T _FFHH

RE B2 _EFF-NETEMBERS
MAHTEERSREEABIRNIISIEA 1B
LR IBIL IERITE BN - AEET
BB - BHAS UAREE - EERTE
B EERETZESTRNNENEFTEE
Ho

The matters covered in the meetings of the Board held during 2020
include adoption of the risk management and internal control report
2019; approval of annual report 2019 (inclusive of Environmental
and Social Responsibility Report 2019), interim report 2020, the first
and third quarterly financial reports in 2020, payment of discretionary
bonus to executive Directors and senior management, remunerations of
independent auditor and independent non-executive Directors, continuing
connected transactions of the Group, publication of announcements,
as well as changes of Directors, Chairman of the Board, chairmen and
members of the Board committees, etc.
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ROLES AND FUNCTIONS OF CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman

The roles of the Chairman are segregated from the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman approves and monitors the Company’s strategies and
policies, annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance
of the Company, and supervises the management of the Company.

Such division of responsibilities also helps to reinforce their independence
and accountability. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership
to, and overseeing the functioning of, the Board to ensure that it acts
in the best interests of the Group and that Board meetings are planned
and conducted in an effective manner. The Chairman is also responsible
for setting the agenda for each Board meeting upon considering, where
appropriate, matters proposed by the Directors and the Company
Secretary. With the support of executive Director(s) and the Company
Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
informed of issues arising at Board meetings and provided in a timely
manner with adequate information which is accurate, clear, complete
and reliable. The Chairman also actively encourages the Directors to be
engaged in the Board’s affairs and contribute to the Board’s functions.
The Chairman holds physical meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors not less than
once a year. The Board, under the leadership of the Chairman, has
complied with the corporate governance practices and procedures and
has taken appropriate steps to ensure effective communication with our
shareholders and other stakeholders.

During the period when the Chairman is absent and the normal functions
of the Chairman cannot be carried out, the Board may choose another
Director to take the role as the acting Chairman until the Chairman
resumes carrying out his normal duties or a new Chairman has been
elected and appointed by the Board, subject to compliance with
applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of Association of the
Company.

Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the businesses
of the Group, coordinating overall business operations, attending to the
formulation and successful implementation of the Group’s policies and
strategies approved by the Board and assuming full accountability to the
Board for all the day-to-day operations of the Group.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Chief Executive Officer is directly responsible for maintaining the
operational performance of the Group. He also works with the Chief
Financial Officer and the senior management team and presents the
annual budgets to the Board for consideration and approval, and ensures
that the Board is provided with all the necessary information relating to
the funding requirements of the businesses of the Group and that the
funding requirements are met. He closely monitors the operating and
financial results of the businesses against the relevant plans and budgets,
and takes remedial action if necessary. He communicates regularly with
the Chairman and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all major
business development and issues.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 2 September 2009, the
Executive Committee on 13 January 2010, and the Corporate Governance
Committee on 29 February 2012.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

With effect from 15 December 2020, Mr. ZHOU Longshan had ceased to
be an executive Director and the chairman of the Executive Committee. As
at the date of this report, the Executive Committee temporarily comprises
the executive Director, Mr. JI Youhong only, and the vacancy of the
chairman has not been filled. The number of executive Director(s) who
might be appointed as member(s) of the Executive Committee pursuant to
clause 3 of the terms of reference for the Executive Committee falls below
two, and therefore there is no quorum for the Executive Committee. The
Company is endeavouring to identify suitable candidate(s) with appropriate
professional qualifications or relevant expertise to be appointed as
executive Director(s) and member(s) of the Executive Committee and
fill the associated vacancy for the Executive Committee as soon as
practicable to ensure the continuous operation of the Executive Committee
with sufficient quorum. The Board has authorized Mr. JI Youhong, an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, to
temporarily assume all the scopes of authority and duties of the Executive
Committee during the interim period. The Company will make further
announcement(s) in relation to the above as and when appropriate.
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The terms of reference for the Executive Committee have been uploaded
to the Company’s website. The Executive Committee shall monitor the
execution of the Company’s strategic plans and the operations of all
business units, exercise the functions and responsibilities of the Board
between regular Board meetings, establish and authorize its committees to
deal with daily business operations or ad-hoc projects, and deal with any
other specific business authorized by the Board. Resolutions passed by
the Executive Committee will be subsequently reviewed and ratified by the
Board.

During 2020, eight meetings were held by the Executive Committee which
covered mostly the obtaining of banking facilities, changes of authorised
signatories of bank accounts. The attendances at these meetings are as
follows:

HE BT

BRERY

Meetings

Attended/Held

BREW (R -E_=ZF ZHOU Longshan 8/3
+_—A+7EHFHEE) (ceased to act with effect from 15 December 2020)

wRAL JI Youhong 8/8

B%EEYE AUDIT COMMITTEE
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As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises all the
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen,
Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi
Yuen Nelson, and two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. WANG Yan
and Madam WAN Suet Fei, and is chaired by Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson.

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee have been uploaded
to the Stock Exchange’s website, the Company’s website and its official
website for corporate communications. The duties of the Audit Committee
shall include but are not limited to: reviewing and monitoring the external
auditor’'s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards; discussing issues and
qualifications arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters the
external auditor may wish to discuss; monitoring integrity of the Group'’s
financial statements, annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them; reviewing the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems; and ensuring that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the Group, and reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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During 2020, four meetings were held by the Audit Committee to
review the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019, the three months ended 31 March 2020, the six months
ended 30 June 2020 and the nine months ended 30 September 2020,
annual report 2019, interim report 2020 and the risk management and
internal control report 2019. In these meetings, the Audit Committee
also reviewed the continuing connected transactions of the Group, the
risk management and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function and the independence of the external
auditor. Recommendation was made to the Board for the remuneration
of independent auditor as well. The attendances at these meetings are as

FoRFGENLEEROT ! follows:

&/ 817

BERY™

Meetings

Attended/Held

MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 4/4
B IP Shu Kwan Stephen 4/4
PR SHEK Lai Him Abraham 4/4
BE ZENG Xuemin 4/4
FE WANG Yan 1/4
mER WAN Suet Fei 3/4

NEEE

BTE-ZE+"/A+AHE BRELSLESR
BECHNEZEGTHE - NAHRE BE FM
ZEEHMNRBYIFNTES EHELE
AEHRAE  BERL I RMBIERSL) —%
FHTEFREFREUR—BATESL
RALFCE/ERY W AEMRTEREETE -

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

With effect from 15 December 2020, Mr. ZHOU Longshan had ceased
to be a member of the Remuneration Committee. As at the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee comprises four independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him
Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, one non-
executive Director, Mr. JING Shiging, and one executive Director, Mr. JI
Youhong, and is chaired by Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham.
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The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee have
been uploaded to the Stock Exchange's website, the Company’s
website and its official website for corporate communications. The
Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. It should
also be responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management (this should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment) and the remuneration of non-
executive Directors.

During 2020, one meeting (by way of circulation of written resolutions)
was held by the Remuneration Committee to make recommendation to

ELRSHREEAERNMIIBIEALULIEIIIE  the Board for the payment of discretionary bonus to executive Directors
WITESHNHFINDESBIREEZ 52N E3E  and senior management as well as remuneration of independent non-
HNHEEBEROT : executive Directors. The attendance at this meeting is as follows:
EMREE
RE
Written
Resolutions
ArEE SHEK Lai Him Abraham 1/1
= apes] IP Shu Kwan Stephen 1/1
B2 ZENG Xuemin 11
wEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 11
S5 JING Shiging 1/1
WAL JI Youhong 1/1
Bl (R ZEZFF ZHOU Longshan 1/1

+=A+EATHEER
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(ceased to act with effect from 15 December 2020)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

With effect from 15 December 2020, (1) Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen had
ceased to be the chairman of the Nomination Committee and has been
re-designated as a member of the Nomination Committee; (2) Mr. LI Fuli
had been appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee; and
(3) Mr. ZHOU Longshan had ceased to be a member of the Nomination
Committee. As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP
Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen
Nelson, and two non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. LI Fuli and Mr. JING
Shiging, and is chaired by Mr. LI Fuli.

The terms of reference for the Nomination Committee have been
uploaded to the Stock Exchange’s website, the Company’s website and its
official website for corporate communications.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the talents, skills, knowledge,
regional and industry experience, professional experience, cultural and
educational background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining the
optimal composition of the Board and when possible should be balanced
appropriately. In reviewing and assessing the composition of the Board,
the Nomination Committee will consider all aspects, including but not
limited to those described above, in order to maintain a truly diverse
Board. In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board,
the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merits against
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the composition of the
Board and makes recommendations to the Board on appointment of
new Directors, and also oversees the conduct of the annual review of the
effectiveness of the Board.
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Measurable objectives: The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree
annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly.

Monitoring and reporting: The Nomination Committee will report annually,
in the corporate governance report of the Company, on the process it
has used in relation to Board appointments. Such report will include a
summary of the Board Diversity Policy, the measurable objectives set
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and progress made towards
achieving these measurable objectives.

Review of the Board Diversity Policy: The Nomination Committee
will review the Board Diversity Policy annually, which will include an
assessment of the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Policy sets out the nomination procedures and the
process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend suitable candidates of directorship.

In assessing the suitability of a candidate as Director, the Nomination
Committee would consider character and integrity; qualities in all its
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional and educational qualifications, skills,
knowledge, expertise, experience and accomplishment that are relevant
to the Group’s business and corporate strategy; commitment to devote
adequate time to effectively discharge duties as a member of the Board
and relevant committees of the Company; requirement for the Board
to have independent directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;
the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by the
Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board; and such
other perspectives applicable to the Group. These factors are for reference
only, and not meant to be exhaustive.
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The Nomination Committee shall identify and select candidates as
Directors pursuant to the criteria as set out above, and invite nominations
of candidates from Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee may use any
process it deems appropriate to evaluate the candidates, which may
include personal interviews, background checks, presentations or written
submissions by the candidates and third party references.

A shareholder may also propose a person for election as a Director, details
of which are set out in the section on procedures for shareholders to
nominate a person for election as a Director of this report. For any person
that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a Director at the general
meeting of the Company, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring Director and determine
whether the retiring Director continues to meet the criteria as set out
above. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
Director at the general meeting.

During 2020, two meetings were held by the Nomination Committee to
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, assess
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors, and
make recommendations to the Board for changes to chairman of the
Board, chairmen and members of the Board and its committees. The
attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HE BT

EERY

Meetings

Attended/Held

EREH (R -EFF LI Fuli (appointed with effect from 15 December 2020) 0/0
+_—B+7HHEZE)

=R IP Shu Kwan Stephen 2/2

a8k SHEK Lai Him Abraham 2/2

MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 212

=5 JING Shiging 2/2

BREW (R _=ZF ZHOU Longshan 2/2

+ =B +EHATHEEL

(ceased to act with effect from 15 December 2020)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Corporate Governance Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP
Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham and Mr. LAM Chi
Yuen Nelson, one non-executive Director, Mr. ZHOU Longshan, and one
executive Director, Mr. JI Youhong, and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan
Stephen.

The terms of reference for the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the Stock Exchange's website, the Company’s website
and its official website for corporate communications. The Company
realizes the importance of good corporate governance practice and is
endeavored to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
on corporate governance through the development, review and monitor
of the policies and practices of the Company on corporate governance,
the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to Directors
and employees of the Company. The Corporate Governance Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board with regard to any necessary
changes.

During 2020, one meeting were held by the Corporate Governance
Committee to review the training and continuous professional development

EZ$/A\E_\L%T'/JL\¥ BEATRIMIE N 525 ®&  records of Directors and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.
HNHEEBROT : The attendance at this meeting is as follows:

&/ BT
BERH
Meeting
Attended/Held
E=apes] IP Shu Kwan Stephen 11
fiEs SHEK Lai Him Abraham 171
WEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson /1
BREW ZHOU Longshan 11
wRAL JI Youhong 1/1
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HEKRRKE ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETING

FER RRTRITT—RIREAZBIFA S During the year, the Company held one general meeting, namely, the
TEFENAZTNAEEBR O REBEPEZER  annual general meeting, at Island Ballroom, Level 5, Island Shangri-La,
EATESBEEREBNABELEEER  Hong Kong, Pacific Place, Supreme Court Road, Central, Hong Kong on
BIT7REEEARZT RZFFBEZFIERIEZE Monday, 29 June 2020. Details of the matters resolved and the poll results
RRERDRRREBARGRITEIZEDE20M  were published on the Stock Exchange’s website, the Company’s website
SEOAMRREAGERBERETHFAEUE  and its official website for corporate communications at least 20 clear
KNB)HUE K A BB B 5 Auh 2 o business days before the general meeting and after the general meeting
on that day respectively.

BEEFMEETZE N EEHEEHERSE  Chairmen of the Board and its committees all attended the annual general
BERE EFHEZRGENERAOT : meeting. The attendance of the Directors at this meeting is as follows:

RIEZEF
~AZ+AhH
BITHNEE
Meeting

held on

29 June 2020

EHITES Non-executive Directors

BREl (R - —ZFF ZHOU Longshan v
+_—H+7EHHBEE) (re-designated with effect from 15 December 2020)

[ E CHEN Ying _

2 WANG Yan -

mE R WAN Suet Fei -

SHtE JING Shiging _

BiTES Executive Director

wRA JI Youhong v

BIIEMITES Independent non-executive Directors

g ipes IP Shu Kwan Stephen v/

A1Es SHEK Lai Him Abraham v

B2 ZENG Xuemin -

WEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson v

—B_TEER
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AR RHEVEE HEA IMPORTANT SHAREHOLDERS’ DATES
BER S —FNEERHBENT : The important dates for shareholders in 2021 are as follows:
=I5 sHEIBHA
Events Planned Dates
NMEEESE - —F=-A=+—HILE=@ERZ —EC-FENBZ+=H
%ﬂ%@é&%%ﬁﬁ
Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information 23 April 2021

for the three months ending 31 March 2021

BEXERMEFEREBFEAGYNE FREZ B XHNREZIAR —EC—FH/AtHTFHER=F7
Deadline for lodging transfer documents for attendance and voting 7 l\/Iay 2021, 4:.30 PM

at the annual general meeting

BITRRBFARGR Y EHEERFEBH B2 -FHA+HE+TTNHE

Book closure dates prior to annual general meeting 10-14 May 2021

RRBERE B2 —FRATHATF=R=+%

Annual general meeting 14 May 2021, 3:30 PM

BRI ZZZFERAREZRMNRERZH “E2Z—FRA+NH

Last day of dealings in Shares with entitlement to final dividend 2020 18 May 2021

REH “E—FRAZ+H

Ex-dividend date 20 May 2021
RERWBM-Z-SFRARE 2B XN RERR T EC-FRAZ+—HBTFOEE=+D

Deadllne for lodging transfer documents for entitlement to 21 May 2021, 4:30 PM

final dividend 2020

TECERFRARECEENEBRFERRN 2 -FHAT+MMH
Book closure date for final dividend 2020 24 May 2021

KN ZE2ZEFRARE 2T —FERAtH
Payment of final dividend 2020 7 June 2021~
RHEEE_ZE_—FRA=THLERERZ REEZLMBER 2 )N\A+=8"
Announcement of the unaudited financial information 13 August 2021*

for the six months ending 30 June 2021

RMEBEE_ZE_—FAA=THLENERZ AKEXZEMBEY —T_—F+A°+8*
Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information 22 QOctober 2021*
for the nine months ending 30 September 2021

* BEHH * Tentative dates
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
annual reports, interim reports, quarterly reports and the consolidated
financial statements of the Company that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
statement by the independent auditor about its reporting responsibilities
relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020
is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 186 to 192. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. It
receives each year the letter from the independent auditor confirming their
independence and objectivity and holds meetings with representatives
of the independent auditor to consider the scope of its audit, and the
scope and appropriateness of non-audit services, if any, to be provided
by it. The Audit Committee then makes recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment, removal, remuneration and terms of
engagement of the independent auditor. The Group’s policy regarding the
engagement of Ernst & Young for the various services listed below is as
follows:

o Audit services — include audit services provided in connection with
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and the financial statements of the individual subsidiaries.

o Audit related services — include services that would normally be
provided by an independent auditor but not generally included
in audit fees, for example, review of financial statements for the
purpose of interim report, due diligence and accounting advice
relating to mergers and acquisitions and internal control reviews
of systems and/or processes. The independent auditor is to be
invited to undertake those services that it must or is best placed to
undertake in their capacity as auditor.
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o Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and tax
planning services, except for those services which are provided
in connection with the audit. The Group uses the services of the
independent auditor where it is best suited. All other significant
taxation related work is undertaken by other parties as appropriate.

° Other services — include, for example, risk management
diagnostics and assessments, non-financial systems consultations
and corporate governance compliance assessment. The
independent auditor is also permitted to assist management and
the Group's Internal Audit Department with internal investigations
and fact-finding into alleged improprieties. These services are
subject to specific approval by the Audit Committee.

° General consulting services — the independent auditor is not
eligible to provide services involving general consulting work.

An analysis of the fees of Ernst & Young and other independent auditors
relating to the audit of the financial statements of the Company and
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2020 is shown in Note
8 to the financial statements. For the year ended 31 December 2020,
a provision of HK$4,136,000 was made in the financial statements for
service fee payable to Ernst & Young for the annual audit and the Group
paid HK$808,000 and HK$286,000 to Ernst & Young as service fees
for review of 2020 interim financial statements and tax consultation
respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for and is highly concerned with the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, and assessment
and management of risks. In meeting its responsibility, the Board seeks
to increase risk awareness across the Group’s business operations
and has put in place policies and procedures, including parameters of
authority delegation, which provide a framework for the identification and
management of risks. It also reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems to ensure that the policies
and procedures in place are adequate and appropriate.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Reporting and review activities include review and approval by the
executive Directors and the Board of detailed operational and financial
reports, budgets and plans provided by the regional management, review
by the Board of actual results against the budgets, review by the Audit
Committee of the ongoing work of the Group’s internal audit function and
risk management function, as well as regular business reviews by the
executive Directors.

Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives, they do not provide absolute assurance against material
misstatement, errors, omissions or fraud.

Internal Control Environment

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall operations of the
businesses within the Group. The Group’s internal control procedures
include a comprehensive system for reporting information to the
executive Directors. Business plans and budgets are prepared annually
by the regional management and subject to review and approval by the
executive Directors as part of the Group’s five-year corporate planning
cycle. Financial reports for the current year are prepared on a monthly
basis, reviewed for variances to the budget and for approval. When setting
budgets and forecasts, the management identifies, evaluates and reports
on the likelihood and potential financial impact of significant business
risks. The executive Directors review the monthly management reports
on the financial results and key operating statistics of each business unit
and hold monthly meetings with the senior management team to review
these reports, business performance against budgets, forecasts, significant
business risk sensitivities and strategies.

The Group maintains a centralized cash management system for its
subsidiaries’ operations. The Group has established guidelines and
procedures for the approval and control of expenditures. Operating
expenses are subject to overall budget control and are controlled within
each business unit with approval levels set by reference to the level of
responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital expenditures are
subject to overall control within the annual budget review and approval
process, and more specific control and approval by the executive Directors
are required for unbudgeted expenditures prior to commitment.
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Internal Audit

The Company’s Internal Audit Department is responsible for assessing
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, formulating
an impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the
Audit Committee, Chairman of the Board and the senior management
concerned as well as following up on the rectification of all issues
found in audit to ensure that all issues have been reasonably resolved.
Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure of individual
business units, the scope of work performed by the Internal Audit
Department includes reviews of all important aspects of internal controls
(including financial, operational, information technology, risk management,
legal and compliance controls, etc.), recurring audits and dawn raids.
Representatives from the Internal Audit Department will meet with the
Audit Committee and the independent auditor at least once a year to
discuss on the findings from the Internal Audit Department and any
potential risks that may exist. A report on the review of risk management
and internal control of the Group in accordance with the annual internal
audit plan will be submitted by the Internal Audit Department to the Audit
Committee and the Board for approval after the end of the relevant year.

Continuing Connected Transactions

In order to ensure that all continuing connected transactions of the Group
comply with the Listing Rules, the Company has in place an internal
control policy which sets forth the procedures for entering into agreements
and managing the conduct of continuing connected transactions. The
framework agreements approved by the Board set out the major terms
and conditions of the continuing connected transactions which could
be entered into by the individual business units of the Company. Prior
approval by the Company’s senior management, Finance Department
and Legal and Compliance Department is required before each individual
continuing connected transaction may be entered into. Individual business
units are required to obtain and compare the quotations and pricing
terms from a connected person and at least two independent third parties
which are market competitors of the connected person. The Finance
Department and the Legal and Compliance Department shall check,
among other things, the compliance of such pricing terms with the pricing
policies or mechanisms under the framework agreements. The Finance
Department shall also monitor the aggregate transaction amounts on
an ongoing basis to ensure the annual caps not to be exceeded. The
Internal Audit Department shall review the effectiveness and adequacy
of the abovementioned internal control policy and procedures. The
independent non-executive Directors and independent auditor shall review
the continuing connected transactions annually in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. Details of our continuing connected
transactions have been disclosed in the relevant announcements
published on the Stock Exchange’s website, the Company’s website and
its official website for corporate communications. Results of the annual
review are reported on pages 152 to 158 of this annual report.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Inside information

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure that the market and shareholders are fully
and promptly informed about the material developments in the Company’s
business, the Board has adopted the Inside Information Disclosure Policy
regarding the procedures of proper information disclosure. Release of
inside information is subject to the approval of the Board. Unless duly
authorized, all staff members of the Company shall not communicate
inside information to any external parties and shall not respond to market
speculation and rumours. In addition, all external presentation materials or
publications must be pre-vetted before release.

Review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems

On the Audit Committee’s recommendation, the Board approved the
report on the review of the risk management and internal control of
the Group for 2020 submitted by the Internal Audit Department and
considered the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group have been effective, adequate and appropriate.

Group Risk Management

Directors and officers liability insurance has been purchased and
maintained to protect directors and officers of the Group against their
potential legal liabilities to third parties that may be incurred in the course
of performing their duties.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. LO Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor in
Hong Kong. Mr. LO, aged 71, was appointed as the Company Secretary
on 29 May 2009. He qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1976 and
has been in continuous practice since qualification. He is currently a
partner of Messrs. Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo. Although Mr. LO is not a full time
employee of the Company, he reports to the Board and in his capacity as
Company Secretary advises the Board on corporate governance matters.
The primary contact person of the Company with Mr. LO is Mr. JI Youhong,
an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer. Mr. LO confirmed
that he had fulfilled the 15 hours of Continuing Professional Development
training required of a solicitor in respect of 2020.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During 2020, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward
Proposals (other than proposing a person for election as a Director) at
General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association of the Company, an
extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on the written requisition
of (1) any two or more members of the Company; or (2) any one member
of the Company which is a recognized clearing house (or its nominees(s))
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
(Room 4606-08, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong) for the attention of the Board or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal place of business in Hong Kong, the
registered office of the Company (PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands) for the attention of the Board.

The written requisition shall specify the objects of the extraordinary
general meeting and be signed by the requisitionist(s), provided that such
requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit of the written requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the voting right at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not, within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
written requisition, proceed duly to convene the extraordinary general
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which extraordinary general
meeting may be convened by the Board, provided that any extraordinary
general meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
3 months from the date of deposit of the written requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Procedures for shareholders to nominate a person for election as a
Director

Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides that no
person shall, unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless during the period,
which shall be at least 7 days, commencing no earlier than the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting, there has
been given to the Company Secretary notice in writing by a member of
the Company (not being the person to be proposed), entitled to attend
and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of his intention to
propose such person for election and also notice in writing signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a person
to stand for election as a Director at the annual general meeting, the
following documents must be validly served on the Company Secretary at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong within the period
specified in Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
namely, (1) the shareholder’s notice of intention to propose a resolution to
elect a nominated candidate as a Director at the annual general meeting;
(2) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s
willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s information as
required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4)
the nominated candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board (i) in writing to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong (Room 4606-
08, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong) for attention to the Board; (ii) by attending the Company’s annual
general meeting or extraordinary general meeting; or (iii) by email at
crcement@crc.com.hk.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s website
and its official website for corporate communications.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had 1,304 registered
shareholders and total public float capitalization amounted to
HK$18,917,632,000. In addition to individual shareholders, some Shares
are held by institutional investors, or by individuals and organizations
through financial intermediaries such as nominees, investment funds and
the Central Clearing and Settlement System of Hong Kong. The names
of the shareholders, other than the Directors, holding 5% or more of
the Shares as at 31 December 2020 are disclosed in the Report of the
Directors on page 151 of the annual report.

As the core principles of corporate governance, the Board gives
high priority to maintaining effective, transparent and constructive
communications with shareholders and other investors, and believes
that the Company’s relationship with shareholders is critical to its
future success. The Board is accountable to shareholders for effective
governance of business and value creation. The Company keeps in touch
with its shareholders and other investors through various channels to
facilitate their understanding on the Company’s performance, strategies,
prospects and the market environment in which the Company has
operations. We believe shareholders’ value can be enhanced through
efficient and transparent communications with investors.

In order to ensure shareholders’ exercise of their rights in an informed
manner, a shareholders’ communication policy of the Company has been
established. A dedicated investor relations team has been established
as the primary contact of the Company with shareholders, investors
and analysts. The Company actively responds to daily inquiries from
shareholders and investors, and publishes important information of the
Company on the Company’s website and its official website for corporate
communications for equal and timely access by all stakeholders. The
Company also holds results presentation meetings for investors after
the release of annual results and interim results via either telephone
conference, video conference or on-site presentations to ensure
that overseas shareholders and investors can timely and adequately
understand the Company’s business operations and future development
strategies.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Company keeps close contact with the investment community and
makes every effort to maintain stable and effective communications
with shareholders and investors. To this end, the Company regularly
participates in different activities including investor meetings, roadshows
and investor conferences held by various investment banks in order
to increase interactions with shareholders and investors. In 2020, in
addition to results roadshows, the Company participated in 14 investor
forums and a total of approximately 173 investor meetings, which
enabled communications with over 1,290 domestic and international fund
managers and analysts. Among which, meetings were mainly conducted
via online formats such as video conference or telephone conference due
to the impact of the coronavirus epidemic.

In January 2021, the Company organized the annual reverse roadshow
with a total of 39 analysts and representatives from banks in participation.
This roadshow was held via video conference, during which the
Company’s achievements in fighting the coronavirus epidemic, resumption
of work and production, business development, brand marketing and
green development were displayed via online videos. We also engaged
analysts in in-depth discussions on major topics such as the current status
and outlook of the cement industry, energy saving, emission reduction,
carbon emissions and development opportunities of the aggregates
and prefabricated construction businesses. This further deepened the
investors” knowledge and understanding of the cement industry and the
future development of the Company.

The Board always welcomes views and inputs from shareholders and
investors, who can send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company’s Investor Relations Department by
letter, telephone, fax or email. Details of the contact information can be
found on page 4 of this annual report.
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TKEFEIEER Ernst & Young
HEDIRRNEEIR 22/F, CITIC Tower
h{ERKE2218 1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as "the Group") set out on pages 193 to 303, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2020, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit matter
due to the involvement of significant judgements and assumptions in the
performance of this assessment.

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, determining
whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in
use of the cash-generating units ("CGUs") to which goodwill has been
allocated. During the year, the value in use calculation required the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
estimation uncertainty mainly included the gross margin, discount rate
and growth rate.

The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2020 was
HK$1,203,549,000 and, for the purpose of impairment testing, as
disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill has
been allocated to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement operating
segment and concrete operating segment. The carrying amounts of
goodwill allocated to the cement operating segment and the concrete
operating segment were HK$1,161,589,000 and HK$41,960,000,
respectively, at 31 December 2020. The management of the Group
assessed and concluded that there was no significant impairment of
goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

Obtaining an understanding of the basis adopted in the value in use
calculations prepared by management;

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by
management, including the growth rates by comparing the prior year cash
flow projections with the current year actual cash flows;

Testing the appropriateness of the key inputs applied by management,
including revenues, cost of sales and operating expenses by
benchmarking them against the economic and industry data;

Assessing the key factors in determining the discount rate, including the
Group's debt and equity ratio, return on investments and other risk factors,
and comparing to discount rates adopted in the cement industry for
evaluating the reasonableness; and

Evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by management in respect of
the growth rate and discount rate to evaluate the extent of impact on the
calculations of the value in use.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key
audit matter due to the use of judgement and estimates in assessing the
allowance for doubtful debts.

At 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$2,991,597,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$324,673,000) as disclosed in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements. Management used a provision matrix to calculate expected
credit losses for trade receivables. The matrix was initially based on the
Group's historical default rates, and specific factors that management
considered in the estimation of the rates including the type of customers,
ageing of the balances and recent historical payment patterns.
Management then calibrated the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information, such as the existence of
disputes and forecasted economic conditions.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of trade receivables included:

Obtaining an understanding of how the allowance for doubtful debts was
estimated by management and testing the key controls of the Group
relating to the credit control, debt collection and estimation of expected
credit losses;

Checking the ageing analysis of the trade receivables throughout the year
to understand movements in the ageing and the settlement pattern of the
customers;

Testing the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, on a sample basis, to
the source documents, including sales invoices and good delivery notes;
and

Assessing the reasonableness of allowance for doubtful debts with
reference to the credit profile including default or delay in payments,
settlement records, subsequent settlements and the ageing analysis
of the trade receivables, evaluating whether the historical loss rates
are appropriately adjusted based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information and, examining the actual losses recorded
during the current financial year.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

TSR ER
Annual Report 2020

189



B ZHENR S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

EEMFRSMBRRAEN
B

EABREFRAEREETAGMATRM
WEBYHRESERREBRBFAIBIKE
RERBEEMTHNGREMBRES THE
R EREMBRENRE N FEANR
SF O $E 5R T 15 20 Y B8 K B8 SR R 2t P 7R RO PO 6
ERag-

ARFEREYBRERN EF88HE 85
EFECENES WAEBEABR M REER
BEEARANER URERAFESER T
ER-RIFEFAER SEEBENFLE
o hEEMBRNENT R

BEZZEgHY BREEFETEE &F
BN BREREFINET.

R BiHE A MIEHRR
AIENEE

HFNER EHGREMBRRERESTE
TR EREF R R T B BB B A IE SR R AL EY
BEERSD LRERAMABEZZRFERED
BT (FRER HASERMERZHE
| o BRILLUSN  FFIBVIRE NPT B IEE A
we AW AFULREZ AT HEMEMAL
EEEAEEREREAES

BIEREESKENRE  BFREFRERRE
BEFERETHNESH TR —EXRERRIT
TFERTARAE 3 IR - SHERMR A AT LA R BREF S #8 3R
51 RS ETEHE M B IG N EAREER AT AE
FTEEOGMBRREAERBM BRRF
HBYAEE R TE » R A BIRV SRR PR A PI RAR FEE
%o

FERNORERBRAR

190

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

Identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

12 March 2021

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



nv'F iﬁl&ﬁi
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE_Z"EZE+"B=+—HIEEE For the year ended 31 December 2020
izt :FFETB TAET
2020 2019
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
=0 Turnover 5 40,086,867 38,955,561
THEE R AR Cost of sales (24,450,839) (23,298,019)
EF] Gross profit 15,636,028 15,657,542
=Rl N Other income 6 730,567 603,380
KEYENTEE Change in fair value of an investment
) property 17 (10,000) 5,000
HERDHER Selling and distribution expenses (1,796,146) (1,986,672)
—ﬂ;}i’zﬁﬁz%ﬁﬁ General and administrative expenses (3,193,357) (2,328,548)
LU E (E518) Exchange gain (loss) 103,629 (36,509)
Eﬁ’“%ﬁﬁ Finance costs 7 (273,906) (453,634)
ELIE N B EE Share of results of associates 425,529 326,689
N 3 Share of results of joint ventures 270,919 220,998
FRIGRIB A Profit before taxation 8 11,893,263 12,008,246
RIE Taxation 11 (2,863,667) (3,313,881)
FEER Profit for the year 9,029,596 8,694,365
Ht2mWlA ER) : Other comprehensive income
(expense):
HETSEMTEE ltemns that will not be subsequently
BmbYEE - reclassified to profit or loss:
MBERE5 G Exchange differences arising
ELENERELE on translation to presentation
currency 3,015,479 (934,817)
HB BN FEEEE  Change in fair value of
other investment (24,902) (39,114)
B#ESEHFLEETIERAT ltem that will be subsequently
EHH reclassified to profit or loss:
FE(LEE AR EH M Share of other comprehensive
2@ (BEA) WA (expense) income of associates (20,209) 26,908
FEEMEEUA (BEHB) Other comprehensive income
(expense) for the year 2,970,368 (947,023)
FEZEWALLRE Total comprehensive income
for the year 11,999,964 7,747 342
MTFALTEIEEERF] . Profit for the year attributable to:
i N/NEIEZ 2 =N Owners of the Company 8,959,865 8,617,503
JEER R Non-controlling interests 69,731 76,862
9,029,596 8,694,365
MTFALTEEEESRE  Total comprehensive income for the
N year attributable to:
KABER A Owners of the Company 11,906,742 7,676,111
JEPERS MR Non-controlling interests 93,222 71,231
11,999,964 7,747,342
SREARF) (B Basic earnings per share (HK$) 14 1.283 1.234
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RIZE-ZHFE+"H=+—H At31 December 2020
—ETEHF “E—hF
izt FHT THET
2020 2019
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERBNEE Non-current assets
ETEE Fixed assets 15 28,485,137 27,080,617
EREEE Right-of-use assets 16 3,410,139 2,922,031
- d—L7/ES Investment property 17 120,000 130,000
HiMg&E Other investment 18 72,295 97,197
B EE Intangible assets 19 2,702,986 2,461,792
RE=E AT R Interests in associates 21 6,635,957 6,580,670
SEE AR R Interests in joint ventures 22 1,563,639 1,426,602
EEEEI]E Deposits for acquisition of assets 4,028,926 1,031,817
R IEE E Deferred tax assets 23 375,578 219,766
RHBFE W18 Long term receivables 24 288,511 260,553
BEEIRIRITEM Pledged bank deposits 30 273,573 216,985
47,956,741 42,428,030
MENEE Current assets
=FE Inventories 25 1,853,151 1,509,704
FEU B SRR Trade receivables 26 2,991,597 2,386,126
HAnEWRIE Other receivables 27 1,065,768 1,129,719
F—HARMBATM  Loan to a fellow subsidiary
=N 28 477,957 -
F—REHEZERATH  Loan to an intermediate
B holding company 29 832,139 805,240
AJ4RIRIE Taxation recoverable 9,362 64,203
BEERIRITER Pledged bank deposits 30 118,816 -
RE R IRITAEER Cash and bank balances 31 13,226,924 12,847,838
20,575,714 18,742,830
mEIBE Current liabilities
BT B ZR™ Trade payables 32 3,723,079 3,174,237
HAE IR Other payables 33 5,604,670 5,080,770
FE(SHRIE Taxation payable 1,349,896 1,770,521
IR Unsecured medium term notes 35 3,564,480 -
IRTTE™R Bank loans — amount due
—R—EREH within one year 34 - 1,297,954
14,242,125 11,323,482
TMENEEFE Net current assets 6,333,589 7,419,348
BEEEERREEE Total assets less current liabilities 54,290,330 49,847 378
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZEZTF+"F=+—H At31 December 2020

k- 2.2 “EB-hF
HizE FHET FEIT
2020 2019
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
ERHEaRE Non-current liabilities
RITE™R Bank loans — amount due
—R—FEBE|H after one year 34 3,300,000 3,279,151
IR PR Unsecured medium term notes 35 - 3,349,050
HhREAEIRIE Other long term payables 36 543,508 448,828
EIERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 23 422,989 504,171
4,266,497 7,581,200
50,023,833 42,266,178
REAS e Capital and reserves
%N Share capital 37 698,294 698,294
B Reserves 48,928,528 41,281,378
FABEB AEMEREZ  Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 49,626,822 41,979,672
JEITR R Non-controlling interests 397,011 286,506
Rt 4B EA Total equity 50,023,833 42,266,178

FINEEFEIBENGEPHFRREN T
=B+ HESERMEREETIE
TWEHFHNATARSEE !

ZEEF LI FULI
ZEZE DIRECTOR

The consolidated financial statements on pages 193 to 303 were
approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 12 March
2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

42K 4L JI YOUHONG

ZEZE DIRECTOR
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REEmEER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BETTZFTH=1+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2020
TAFRER NE( R
bt
1ERitEl NEER
BEx  RAEE ks AbHEE i BERE AR RERY o FEREE  RGEE
ThEn TAx TR TR TERL TAT TERL TET TERL TEn TEn
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Long term
award Property Non-
Share Share scheme Merger  revaluation  Translation Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total interests equity
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
RIZ—nE-F—H  Atllanuay 2019 698294 5623939 (139,206) (35,193) 21317 (941,844) (22717) 32459266 37663856 20384 37,867,740
Hitr2E ER) WA Other comprehensive
(expense) income
-ERER - exchange diferences - - - - - (929180) - - (929,186) (5631)  (934,817)
~[ElEHEAT — share of other comprehensive
E2ERA income of associates - - - - - - 26,908 - 26908 - 26908
—HMBENATEE - changein fair value of
o) other investment - - - - - - (39.114) - (39,114) - (39,114)
EERF Profit for the year - - - - - - - 8617503 8617503 76862 8,694,365
EELE BE) WALE  Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - - - (929,186) (122000 8617503 7676111 T30 7747342
B \ERHERE 2018 final dividend - (1906,342) - - - - - - (1,906,342) - (1906342
ZE-NERERE 2019 interim dividend - (1,815564) - - - - - - (1,815564) - (1815564
RERIRE BINRER  Recognition under the
long term award scheme - - 139,206 - - - - 222405 361611 - 361,611
HE-BRENE Disposal of an investment
property - - - - (3,507) - - 3507 - - -
FERBRMERLE  Caplal contributions by
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - - 11391 11391
RIT-NE At 31 December 2019
+-A=1+-H 698294 1,902,033 - (35,193) 17810 (1,871,030) (34923) 41302681 41979672 286506 42,266,178
Eftr2EHA &) Other comprehensive income
(expense)
-ERER - exchange differences - - - - - 299198 - - 2991938 23491 3015479
~[ElERE AT - share of other comprehensive
Hih2EER expense of associates - - - - - - (20209) - (20,209) - (20,200)
—EMREOATEE - changein fair value of
28 other investment - - - - - - (24.902) - (24902) - (24902)
EERA Profit for the year - - - - - - - 8959865 8959865 69,731 9,029.5%
FERANA (BE) % Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year - - - - - 2991988 (5111) 8959865 11,906,742 93222 1199994
“E-NERHRE 2019 final dividend - (1902,033) - - - - - (437251)  (2339.284) - (2339.284)
TECRERERE 2020 interim dividend - - - - - - - (1920308 (1920308) - (1,920,308
FERRENERLE  Capital contributions by
non-controling shareholders - - - - - - - - - 17283 17283
RIZI%E At 31 December 2020
+ZA=1-H 698,294 - - (35,193) 17810 1,120,958 (80,034) 47904987 49626822 397011 50023833
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE_ S ZF+_F=+—HIEEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2020

t- Gt 2.2 3 —E-hE
FAET TFAET
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
KELKLEEHWIREME  Cash flows from operating activities
bR AT ZF Profit before taxation 11,893,263 12,008,246
MTIZIBEIEHAEE Adjustments for:
EEEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,882,889 1,888,494
EREEEITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 126,659 120,366
PROEREEE Amortization of mining rights 126,215 117,422
KREME AT EEES Loss (gain) on changes in fair value
EEREE WE) of an investment property 10,000 (5,000)
F) B WA Interest income (199,591) (149,527)
FERZ Interest expenses 273,906 453,634
=N Share of results of associates (425,529) (326,689)
FEIEEENBIEE Share of results of joint ventures (270,919) (220,998)
HEBTEEERE Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed assets
(Wz) 36,315 (2,152)
HETREEERR Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (5,942) (12,725)
HE—BREMENG Gain on disposal of an investment property - (5,517)
BEEMB AR WaE Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (46,236) (550)
EFERE (REREE) Impairment (reversal of impairment)
of inventories 19,057 (5,929)
RIBRBEIR Allowance for doubtful debts 55,213 16,953
HAnFEUGRIER IR Allowance (reversal of allowance) for
Bi% (EigEE) doubtful debts of other receivables 111,594 (1,183)
EEEERE Impairment of fixed assets 206,705 55,867
RIERE A Impairment of mining rights 15,950 -
R—EEATH Impairment of interest in an associate
%*ﬁiﬁ 537,958 -
RERE Exchange difference (32,711) 23,605
SEEBTEIFIN Operating cash inflows before movements in
KEIRSMA working capital 14,314,796 13,954,317
75 (g Rl (Increase) decrease in inventories (252,875) 431,352
FEWE 5 BRFIE 0 Increase in trade receivables (483,157) (88,788)
HAhFEWFRIE (20) 8/ (Increase) decrease in other receivables (60,428) 28,033
FEAT B ZERFIEM GF’L)  Increase (decrease) in trade payables 327,676 (214,310)
HAh eI =R IEE N Increase in other payables 218,319 302,065
RETEEENIRE Cash generated from operations 14,064,331 14,412,669
BNEEER Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (6,234) -
ST EARMEZEFRRSEH Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax paid (3,539,420) (2,697,728)
BAFE Interest paid (250,250) (430,056)
ESEENESERIREIREE  Net cash generated from operating activities 10,268,427 11,284,885
Ann@ﬁgp?rﬁ%;g 197



mAaRTRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEZ_ZF+_"_F=+—HLEEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

1 98 FERNORERBRAR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

—ZTHF —E-hE
FAET TET
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
KEREEHWIREMRE  Cash flows from investing activities
TR BRI M S Y Purchases and deposits paid for
BEREKRE]E acquisition of mining rights (3,276,961) (101,556)
THWBEEEEMSZIIBY  Purchases and deposits paid for
WERIEKR]E acquisition of fixed assets (1,703,372) (1,954,520)
FERMBARNER Loan to fellow subsidiaries (967,906) -
fERBEEEL Additions of right-of-use assets (219,914) (54,762)
BEERIRITERIE 0 Increase in pledged bank deposits (152,860) (141,155)
RE=Z QBN EE Capital injection in associates (71,160)
EHAFE U R IEIZ N Additions of long term receivables (29,181) (3,559)
RBEEEWEEKHIE/AT  Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries
EOENEA in prior years (1,712) -
KE—KEZWBASR  Repayment from a fellow subsidiary
B 492,642 -
IEN R BB E A TR R Dividends received from associates 292,142 -
BEUF 2 Interest received 218,077 114,608
IR BE S8/ ATIMAEE  Dividends received from joint ventures 185,408 187,635
KEMBERBER Repayments from associates 132,495 116,037
BEENBRREME Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 57,835 -
HEBTEEEMSMIE Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 29,625 115,724
HEFRAESEMSHRIE  Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets 6,288 55,582
EERIAEWIE Repayments of long term receivables 4,291 74,117
W —KEE A E] Acquisition of an associate - (906,511)
FT—KEFERATN Loan to an intermediate holding company
&% - (795,760)
B E M E Acquisition of other investment - (136,311)
BHENBNEBR Advances to joint ventures - (3,200)
TE—KEIZER AT Repayment from an intermediate
B holding company - 798,164
HE—IBIREY= Proceeds from disposal of an
FRiSFRIE investment property - 17,913
SESEEIFTAAIIREIFEE  Net cash used in investing activities (5,004,263) (2,617,554)
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—ZTHF “E—hF
FAET FHET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

KEMEEHIRERE  Cash flows from financing activities

BEIRE Dividends paid (4,259,592) (3,721,906)

EERIRITER Repayments of long term bank loans (2,033,016) (7,507,463)

RHRIRITERURLD Decrease in short term bank loans (219,390) (918)

SHHEEEE Payments of lease liabilities (174,909) (49,470)

S EMERRENRIA Settlement of other long term payables (18,109) (11,668)

B EHRIRTTER Long term bank loans raised 1,000,000 3,080,998

KB IFERALERDY Capital contributions from

BEALE non-controlling shareholders 17,283 11,391
R IFEHASEBISTEIUWERRY  Cash received from termination of the
HE long term award scheme - 361,611

MEEFFTAEMIREREE  Net cash used in financing activities (5,687,733) (7,837,425)
FERSRIBESHEY)EE Net (decrease) increase in cash and

CRiZL) 180 cash equivalents for the year (423,569) 829,906
FYRERIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning

of the year 12,847,838 12,301,501

EREHHIRE R Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on

IRITHERHNEE cash and bank balances 802,655 (283,569)
FEXRBERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year,

EIRE RIRTTASBR representing cash and bank balances 13,226,924 12,847,838
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1.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company
Law (2002 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2003
and its shares were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 6 October 2009. Its immediate holding company is
CRH (Cement) Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands. Its ultimate holding company is China Resources
Company Limited, a company established in the Chinese
Mainland.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter collectively
referred to as the "Group") are principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of cement, concrete and other related
products and services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$") while the functional currency of the Company
is Renminbi ("RMB"). The Company has adopted HK$ as its
presentation currency because management considered that
it is more beneficial to the users of the consolidated financial
statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

The Group has adopted the conceptual framework for financial
reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs for the first time
in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest rate benchmark reform

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent

concessions (early adopted)

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of material

The application of the conceptual framework for financial reporting
2018 and the revised standards has had no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17 and amendments
to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Annual Report 2020

Reference to the conceptual
framework?

Interest rate benchmark reform
— phase 2!

Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its
associate or joint venture®

Insurance contracts®

Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current*

Property, plant and
equipment: proceeds
before intended use?

Onerous contracts — cost of
fulfilling a contract?

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, illustrative examples
accompanying HKFRS 16,
and HKAS 412

“ETFEFR

201



AR A TR MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZ_ZF+_"_F=+—HLEEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. FERIIREBETIEAR 2.
RS ER (TEBIHBER
HEA) @

! RIBEZ—F—F—HRAZBFHBIF

ERARTERS o

2 RZEZ—F—F—HRAZERHIRFE
ERBRT LS -

J RoEZ=ZF—F—HRAZBEHEIF

EHEERMREAR - FE_FEA1FE
HH BB FIREERZ175 (1E5T2K)
BIFER s R B =i —F— [ Z B
HIFERR > BB EREERE45E
TELHIEST » R R A IRIEN ST BB &
SR FE395M IF B BRI B R B9

THIE 3T
4 RIBZ=ZF—F—HRAZBFHBIF

BRI ENREBEETERFIR
(IEET7) BI#E R BB ZFEBOH I HR
KHEZH-—EAANHBEREREBIF
KO EHEAI D EEN —FE_FFA
FEITIERT » X KB A S IR 15 — 2T
SRRIT T
o KATEEZ HAFEZ & FIE 09 E R
ES3vE

EXZUATAREANIREETES
MBERSENRZEFEHAEERD
OMBRRERERTE -

2 0 2 FERNORERBRAR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
as a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and as
a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation
5 Presentation of financial statements — classification by the borrower of
a term loan that contains a repayment on demand clause was revised
in October 2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion.

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of new and
revised HKFRSs and Interpretations will have material impact on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E-ZTZEA+"H=+—HIEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for investment property, equity
investment designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and certain trade receivables, which have been measured
at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realizable value in
HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E-ZTZEA+"H=+—HIEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's relevant components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-controlled interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognized. A gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred to the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognized
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 "Income
taxes" and HKAS 19 "Employee benefits" respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
"Share-based payment" at the acquisition date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 "Non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations" are measured
in accordance with that standard.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share
of the recognized amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period, and additional
assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognized at that date.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Fixed assets

Fixed assets including land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described below)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Construction in progress including fixed assets in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate categories of fixed asset
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost of items
of fixed assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets other
than construction in progress are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the unexpired lease terms

Plant and machinery 310 40 years
Logistics equipment 10 to 40 years
Others 3to 35 years

An item of fixed assets is derecognized upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of fixed assets is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognized.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately or acquired in a business
combination and with finite useful lives are carried at costs
and at their fair value at the acquisition date, respectively, less
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortization for mining rights, which have finite useful
lives, is recognized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

A mining right is derecognized on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gain or
loss arising from derecognition of mining right is measured at the
difference between the net disposal proceed and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognized.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognized in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognize the Group's share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the associate or joint venture other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group's share of losses of
an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognizing its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognized
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or
joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity
method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in
the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognized in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal or
partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment
in an associate. There is no re-measurement to fair value upon
such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognized in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognized in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Cost of inventories are determined using the weighted average
method. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

FE+"H=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(a) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on acceptance of the goods by
customers.

(b) Provision of services

Revenue from the provision of services is recognized over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognized on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Group has received a consideration (or
an amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group transfers goods
or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognized when
the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

The Group’s contract liabilities are recognized as deposits from
customers which is included in other payables.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from "profit before taxation" as reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from internal
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognized to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognizes as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognized as a deduction from the carrying
amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognized in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on acquisitions of group entities are treated as assets
and liabilities of that group entities and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognized in other comprehensive income.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group
recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-
use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease
component and non-lease components, the Group adopts the
practical expedient not to separate non-lease components and to
account for the lease component and the associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

FE+"H=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognized at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated

useful lives of the assets as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease terms plus

extension option period

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the

estimated useful life of the asset.
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BEREHBER @ 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

hE @ Leases (Continued)

FTEFEHEABEAN (B The Group as lessee (Continued)

(b) MHEEE (b)  Lease liabilities
HEaERHMERKRE & Lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date
HERANGEHNAENCHRIR of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
BRI -HENMEIETEENR made over the lease term. The lease payments include
(EEETERE BETME fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
IWFEE B E  BURRIEH A X less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
X BV a] B BT 70 U FEHA payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
EFRIGREBEER N (TSR expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
HENARITBEAERSER The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
ETENEERIERENTERE purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
REEEARMAERITERL the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
ISR R IEFEEmME SN lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
BIEIRR e REUR PR IE R S FIZER option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do
AEAENRERETRNE not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as an
TR EENEERER A expense in the period in which the event or condition that
Bz o triggers the payment occurs.
EETEAENRIRER AR In calculating the present value of lease payments,
HERREESHFELRZEE > & the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
SEEAHEERM®R B AR lease commencement date because the interest rate
B E-ERrEEEZE implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
EaENEEEMRRAEDN commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
1800 BE D BB TR (EHRVAR increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
B ttih > mEEER A for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
SHREs) - HETRES (B amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
W B E FI =B 5| BRI R 2R modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
HENHED)  NESEEE lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
EREERTTLEE ) BB resulting from a change in an index or a rate) or a change
=SHESGENEEE. in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying

asset.

AEBNHESBFTAELME The Group's lease liabilities are included in other payables
IR IE R it R HAFE (SIS o and other long term payables.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases
of low-value assets to leases that are considered to be of
low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognized as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.
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E-ZTZEA+"H=+—HIEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortized cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognized on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized, modified or impaired.
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E-ZTZEA+"H=+—HIEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognized in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognized
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognized in other comprehensive
income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Dividends
are recognized as other income in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12
month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification.
At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt
investments are considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group may consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortized cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12 month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognized in profit or
loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables, unsecured medium term notes, bank loans and other
long term payables.

Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities at amortized cost

After initial recognition, bank loans are subsequently measured
at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the
effective interest rate amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortization
is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is
recognized in profit or loss.

TSR ER
Annual Report 2020

231



fe= A
=]

RATS AR PR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZ_ZF+_"_F=+—HLEEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

3.

BAESEE @

s

HEBEFHERIRAREY CAENHE
) RBRALEBEAERMALNER
&% BIFEsD B - 1R P (A5t A B

EiEXED

HITREEBEA BRI ETER
HERTRFEEEHIREI LR
BERRZRE HRSEHEEMELER
TRREZRENGES2EBERARE

0.0

FEESBETRIEEESEFELE
Ty B R IR h BV AR B K ARG PR
MRERBES R S MIFHBI AT - EE—
BRREEERZENEEMMAEE
ERY IS MIRIG R B TR EL - A&
B st HRRIRIBEE R IR R
BEDNKREBESETRE TIFHIREKIE
TR AERENFETE X
HEtRBEERMEZED BA 2% T
REFHR ILRREBRREEERE
R & ENREBRIIRE TG UE
BRTENREABANBETEENHA
SIRME - REERIER B E R RIEDTT
RBER -EZaB/IP At RABAR
IR EESRE St AR EB B RE
BRESEE L AmER-

FERNORERBRAR

232

3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Provision

A provision is recognized when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognized
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Provisions for the Group’s obligations for environmental restoration
are based on estimates of required expenditure at the mines
in accordance with the rules and regulations of the PRC. The
obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the ground
environment is disturbed at the production location. The Group
estimates its liabilities for final environmental restoration and mine
closure based upon detailed calculations of the amount and timing
of the future cash expenditures to perform the required work.
Spending estimates are escalated for inflation, then discounted
at a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability such
that the amount of provision reflects the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
When the liability is initially recognized in other long term payables,
the present value of the estimated cost is capitalized by increasing
the carrying amount of the mining rights.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Provision (Continued)

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in
the present value based on the appropriate discount rate. The
periodic unwinding of the discount is recognized within finance
costs in profit or loss. The asset is amortized using the straight-
line method over its expected life and the liability is accreted
to the projected expenditure date. Additional disturbances or
changes in estimates (such as mine plan revisions, changes
in estimated costs, or changes in timing of the performance of
reclamation activities) will be recognized as additions or charges to
the corresponding assets and environmental restoration liabilities
when they occur at the appropriate discount rate.

Employee benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
government-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognized as an expense
when employees have rendered services entiting them to the
contributions.

Provisions for other employee benefits are recognized when the
Group has a present obligation to provide such benefits to its
employees and are measured at the Directors' best estimate of
the future obligations discounted to their present value where the
effect is material.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of
contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension
and termination options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to renew or
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change
in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the value in use of the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
estimation uncertainty mainly included gross margin, discount rate
and growth rate.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the carrying amounts of
goodwill were HK$ 1,203,549,000 and HK$1,184,366,000,
respectively. Details of the of the recoverable amount calculation
are disclosed in Note 20.

Deferred tax assets

The realizability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future
profits generated are less than or more than expected, a reversal
or a recognition of deferred tax assets would be recognized in
profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year in which such a reversal or recognition
takes place. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets were HK$375,578,000 and
HK$219,766,000, respectively (see Note 23).
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(ECEEBE+"H=+—HLEEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on the aging days for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
GDP) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analyzed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of customer's actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in Note 26 to the financial
statements. The changes in ECLs resulted from the changes in the
historical observed default rates and forecast economic conditions
as at 31 December 2020 have had no significant impact on
the profit or loss. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
carrying amounts of trade receivables were HK$2,991,597,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$324,673,000) and
HK$2,386,126,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$246,529,000), respectively.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of fixed assets

The carrying amounts of fixed assets are assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amounts
of the fixed assets may exceed their recoverable amounts.
The Group's determination as to whether the fixed assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of
the assets. The Directors exercise their judgement in estimating
the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is
less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. The
Directors conducted a review of the Group's production assets
and determined that the assets of certain subsidiaries were
fully impaired because it is expected that these assets will not
generate future benefit to the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2020, an impairment loss of HK$206,705,000 (2019:
HK$55,867,000) has been recognized in respect of those fixed
assets (see Note 15).

Provision for environmental restoration

Provision for environmental restoration is based on estimates
of future expenditures incurred by management to undertake
environmental restoration work which are discounted at a rate
reflecting the term and nature of the obligation to their present
value. Significant estimates and assumptions are made in
determining the provision for environmental restoration as
there are numerous factors that will affect the ultimate liability
payable. These factors include estimates of the extent and costs
of environmental restoration activities, technological changes,
regulatory changes, cost increases and changes in the discount
rate. Those uncertainties may result in future actual expenditures
differing from the amounts currently provided. The provision at the
end of the reporting period represents management's best estimate
of the present value of the future environmental restoration costs
required. Changes to estimated future costs are recognized in
the consolidated statement of financial position by adjusting the
environmental restoration asset and liability. The carrying amount
of provision for environmental restoration as at 31 December 2020
was HK$350,788,000 (2019: HK$325,296,000) (see Note 36).
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E-ZTZEA+"H=+—HIEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Segment information has been identified on the basis of different
products in internal management reports which are prepared in
accordance with accounting policies conformed with HKFRSs,
that are regularly reviewed by the chief executive officer in order to
allocate resources to the operating segments and to assess their
performance.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are as follows:
Cement — manufacture and sale of cement and related products

Concrete — manufacture and sale of concrete and related products

Turnover represents the amounts received and receivable for
goods sold to outside customers.

Segment results represent the profits earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, Directors'
salaries, share of results of associates and joint ventures, interest
income, finance costs and exchange differences.

All of the revenue in cement segment and concrete segment
are from sale of goods, which are recognized when the goods
are transferred at a point in time. The performance obligation is
satisfied upon delivery of goods.
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5. EXBEKRDHER @ 5.

DEBEABERFIIT

HE_ZE_EH+_A=1+—HLt=EE

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

The information of the segment results is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

K BRL iy 4z
FET FET FET FERT
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EHIE—HEULE  TURNOVER - SEGMENT
REVENUE
HIMEE External sales 33,530,575 6,556,292 - 40,086,867
NE 2 BIHE Inter-segment sales 1,055,962 1,616 (1,057,578) -
34,586,537 6,557,908 (1,057,578) 40,086,867

DERZ EEHE IR T HIHERE

ES

DEPEAE

FIB A
R
MHER
RAEREFHX
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RESULTS
Segment results

Interest income

Exchange gain

Finance costs

Unallocated net corporate
expenses

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before taxation

EHICRERBRAT
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

11,627,746

455,033

- 12,082,779

199,591
103,629
(273,906)

(915,278)
425,529
270,919

11,893,263
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SEBERDBEHN @ 5.

HE-S—NE+-A=+—BiLER

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

WKiPE R HiH 4az8
FET FET FET FHET
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEE—-HERUE  TURNOVER - SEGMENT
REVENUE
HIMNEE External sales 32,044,266 6,911,295 - 38,955,561
Pz EIHE Inter-segment sales 1,046,006 2,193 (1,048,199) -
33,090,272 6,913,488 (1,048,199) 38,955,561

DERZ BN RIBTHIHERFE

£
NEBEAE

MBWA
EEREE
MHER
RPECARFFX

S =YNSIES
BIEEEREFE

BRMAI B )

RESULTS
Segment results

Interest income

Exchange loss

Finance costs

Unallocated net corporate
expenses

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before taxation

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

11,790,468

463,821 -

TSR ER
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12,254,289

149,527
(36,509)
(453,634)

(453,114)
326,689

220,998
12,008,246
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5. EXHERTHBEN @ 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)
DEEEESHEENERGHFIDOT Information of segment assets and segment liabilities is as follows:
R+ZB=+—H
—EEHF —E-NEF
FHET TAET
As at 31 December
2020 2019
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
DEE E Segment assets
— KB — Cement 39,075,700 33,900,877
—RERT — Concrete 3,959,354 3,042,427
43,035,054 36,943,304
REE QTR Interests in associates 6,635,957 6,580,670
RN LY 3 Interests in joint ventures 1,563,639 1,426,602
IRIERIEE B Deferred tax assets 375,578 219,766
ARG Taxation recoverable 9,362 64,203
KD ABEE (Fa) Unallocated corporate assets (note a) 16,912,865 15,936,315
OB EMRT Consolidated total assets 68,532,455 61,170,360
aE Liabilities
DEEE Segment liabilities
—7KIE — Cement 7,163,274 6,001,415
—BERT — Concrete 1,774,929 1,759,558
8,938,203 7,760,973
FIERIAE(E Deferred tax liabilities 422,989 504,171
FEIIRIE Taxation payable 1,349,896 1,770,521
FOBELABIEE (GEb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (note b) 7,797,534 8,869,017
o aEmn Consolidated total liabilities 18,508,622 18,904,682
&t notes:
a. RN ADEEIERERIRTEGF - BE a. Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and bank balances, pledged
HIRTEF T REZRMBLAEMNE bank deposits, loan to a fellow subsidiary, loan to an intermediate holding
T T -REBERABNER R AESE company and assets of the headquarters.
Eo
b. FPEL AT ABGEIERTER  EIKHRHH b. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank loans, unsecured medium
EE A B E MR RIS - HANIRTTE term notes and other payables of the headquarters. The bank loans and
R AR P AR R R A SR E R FS AR P unsecured medium term notes are classified as unallocated corporate
EREE BRZEFIBEADBERDER liabilities because they are managed centrally by the treasury function of the
SafsEe Group.
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SEBERDBEHN @ 5.

HE_E-_EH+_A=+—HLE=EE

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2020

KR RERL AREE IREHagE
FET FET FET FET
Corporate  Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
NEETEE Additions to fixed assets 1,482,443 418,605 99 1,901,147
PREEREIE I Additions to mining rights 289,479 - - 289,479
EREEEEM Additions to right-of-use assets 164,149 225,066 67,410 456,625
BEEEETSEM  Increase (decrease) in deposits
(AL for acquisition of assets 3,000,592 (3,483) - 2,997,109
RIErEE Y Amortization of mining right 125,903 312 - 126,215
FIEEIR (FBIREE)  (Reversal of allowance)
B allowance for doubtful debts (2,425) 57,638 - 55,213
HEWEIERE  Allowance (reversal of
IRMEIR (IR allowance) for doubtful debts
#[a)) of other receivables 374 (1,806) 113,026 111,594
EEBENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,770,239 112,413 237 1,882,889
FREESEITE Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 81,710 27,199 17,750 126,659
EEEERE Impairment of fixed assets 198,466 8,239 - 206,705
HEFREEE Gain on disposal of right-of-use
Wa assets (5,927) (15) - (5,942)
BRI E Impairment of mining rights 15,950 - - 15,950
HEBETEERE  Loss on disposal of fixed assets 33,370 2,641 304 36,315
EFERE Impairment of inventories 19,057 - - 19,057
LEYEATE@E  Loss on change in fair value
EEHELIEE of investment property - 10,000 - 10,000
Ann@ﬁgp?rﬁ%;g 241
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HEZ_ZF+_"_F=+—HLEEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

5. EXERDTHBEHR @ 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)
HthoaEER (&) Other segment information (Continued)
BHE_Z—NEF+_A=1+—HLEEE For the year ended 31 December 2019
KB g AREE iREieEE
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Corporate Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
hEETEE Additions to fixed assets 1,014,300 237,436 507 1,252,243
PRIBREIE Additions to mining rights 413,491 - 413,491
FREEELM Additions to right-of-use assets 12,951 54,896 - 67,847
BESESEM  Increase in deposits for
acquisition of assets 527,750 6,910 - 534,660
RIBERBIR Allowance for doubtful debts 985 15,968 16,953
H A ERIE Allowance (reversal of
RIRERBIR allowance) for doubtful
(g5 E) debts of other receivables 231 (1,414) - (1,183)
PRUEE Amortization of mining rights 117,397 25 117,422
EEEEINE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,759,768 128,183 538 1,888,494
FRAREEINE Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 78,445 25,320 16,601 120,366
BTEERE Impairment of fixed assets 55,867 - 55,867
PE—BREYE  Gainon disposal of an
Wi investment property (5,517) - - (5,517)
HEFHEEE Gain on disposal of right-of-use
W assets (8941) (3,784) (12,725)
GFERERTD] Reversal of impairment of
inventories (4,589) (1,340) - (5,929)
HEBTEERE  Loss (gain) on disposal of
(W) fixed assets 16,617 (15,951) (2,818) (2,152)
KEWENAFEE  Gainon changes in fair value
EEEEING of investment property - (5,000) - (5,000)
ERETEERNEN Information about major customers
REZMmBEEERN ZEBHENER No sales to an individual customer contributed over 10% of the
i EEMEBEAERHEEEDN total sales of the Group for both years.
10%°
MEER Geographical information
REBNFBRARIERBIEEES All revenue and non-current assets of the Group are arisen in and
TR B (LS AR B P 3 R B 78 o located in the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong.
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6. HfthligA 6. OTHER INCOME
—EIEHF —E—hEF
FHET AT
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 2D (52) Government incentives
(note) 133,172 125,914
FEUA Interest income 199,591 149,527
HE R R BE R Sales of raw materials and
scrap 153,225 134,339
ARFEUA Service income 4,197 3,995
WA Rental income 55,253 54,709
KB RRBEEE Compensation received
from insurance 6,412 17,365
REMERE T EEE Compensation received
from suppliers and
customers 24,235 21,373
HEFRAEEERR Gain on disposal of right-of-
use assets 5,942 12,725
HE—BREY=Ra Gain on disposal of an
investment property - 5,517
== NEIl & Gain on disposal of
subsidiaries 46,236 550
HAh Others 102,304 77,366
730,567 603,380
2N ERT 228 = EEH 5 BUR BRI - S8/ note: ~ Government incentives mainly represented tax refunds, operating subsidies

Bh R BEHE IR HY 22

and energy reduction incentives from local governments.

7. BMBEHR 7. FINANCE COSTS
—ECEF “E—hF
FHT FET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
IFEEBFE Interests on:
IRTTER R EIGIFP IR Bank loans and unsecured
medium term notes 250,250 430,056
IRIBEEEE Provision for environmental
restoration 16,201 15,486
HEaRE Lease liabilities 7,455 8,092
273,906 453,634
“ETERFEFR
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HEZ_ZF+_"_F=+—HLEEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

8. KRIRAIZF 8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—EEHF —EF—NEF
FHT TFHET
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRIAIERFI B GTA) UTEIE Profit before taxation has
been arrived at after
charging (crediting):
EEME #a29) Directors' emoluments
(Note 9) 10,566 19,207
BT (FEEES) BrRENAK Pension costs and
AEIME AR S MR mandatory provident
fund contributions for
staff, excluding Directors 97,702 294,814
HME TR Other staff costs 3,541,318 3,345,564
BT 44828 Total staff costs 3,649,586 3,659,585
RIZRBIR Allowance for doubtful
debts 55,213 16,953
HhEWGERIE RIBREIE (BigEEE) Allowance (reversal of
allowance) for doubtful
debts of other receivables 111,594 (1,183)
IRIEREESY (Bt A —MRERITHRER) Amortization of mining
rights (included
in general and
administrative expenses) 126,215 117,422
1Z e B Auditor's remuneration 5,026 4,366
EEEETE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,882,889 1,888,494
CREEEITE Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 126,659 120,366
EE&EE/RE Impairment of fixed assets 206,705 55,867
EFERE CRERRE) Impairment (reversal
of impairment) of
inventories 19,057 (5,929)
B RE Impairment of mining rights 15,950 -
N—REBE AT NERRE Impairment of interest in
an associate 537,958 -
HEBTEERE W) Loss (gain) on disposal of
fixed assets 36,315 (2,152)
HEFRHEERD Gain on disposal of
right-of-use assets (5,942) (12,725)
HE—BREMENZ Gain on disposal of an
investment property - (5,517)
BEEMB AW Gain on disposal of
subsidiaries (46,236) (550)
HAMRE R Short term lease payments 14,402 17,702
AIEHENR Variable lease payments
—A8 — motor vehicles 545,055 533,025
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9. EEME 9. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
BE_E-_TF+-_A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

RIERAE
R4

BEfiE  HERER  NREHR RBIEA fit

TR TR TR TR TR
Pension
costs and
mandatory
Salaries provident

Directors’ and fund Discretionary
L Name of Director fees allowances  contributions honus Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHTEE Non-executive Directors
FHEH LI Ful* - - - - -
Bael ZHOU Longshan® - 2,120 100 3,136 5,356
] CHEN Ying - - - i i
Iz WANG Yan - - - - -
AR WAN Suet Fei - - - - _
BHE JING Shiging - - - - _
INg Sub-fofal - 2,120 100 3,136 5,356
HITEE Executive Director
RrA JI'Youhong - 1,447 211 2,392 4,050
BUHHTEE Independent non-executive Directors
351000 IP Shu Kwan Stephen 290 - - - 290
hfgs® SHEK Lai Him Abraham 290 - - - 290
228 ZENG Xuemin 290 - - - 290
HEZ LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 290 - - - 290
INg Sub-fofal 1,160 - - - 1,160
1,160 3,567 311 5,528 10,566

* N ZECZFE+ R+ AHESRE * Appointed with effect from 15 December 2020.

' BRELEEE-F_FF+_A+5HH # Mr. ZHOU Longshan has ceased to be an executive Director with effect
EABBENTES WAERIFMITE from 15 December 2020, and has been re-designated as a non-executive
oM ABERELIEH AR L o R BB Director. The total includes the emolument of Mr. ZHOU Longshan for the
Ee whole year.

SECREER
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9. EEME W 9. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)
HEZS-NF+BA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019
RIKEHA
Pl =
Exfie  HeRkEl  ABEERM BERL REEE st
TEr TEr TEr TEr TEr TEr
Pension
costs and
mandatory Long
Salaries provident term
Directors’ and fund  Discretionary award
EEi4 Name of Director fees  allowances  contributions bonus scheme Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

HiTEZE Executive Directors
FgEL ZHOU Longshan - 2,111 211 5817 - 8,139
R4 JIYouhong - 1437 222 4,265 - 5,924
2| R LAU Chung Kwok Robert? - 616 48 3440 - 4104
NGt Sub-total - 4164 481 13522 - 18,167
FHTEE Non-executive Directors
RE CHEN Ying - - _ _ _
IE WANG Yan - - - _ _ _
BER WAN Suet Fei - - - - - -
sttE JING Shiging - - - - - -
NGt Sub-total - - - - -
BUFHTEE  Independent non-execubive Directors
Euy IP Shu Kwan Stephen 260 - - - - 260
Yavir SHEK Lai Him Abraham 260 - - - - 260
225 ZENG Xuemin 260 - - - 260
MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 260 - - - - 260
NGt Sub-fotal 1,040 - - - - 1,040
1,040 4164 481 13,522 - 19207
# RZZ—NERB+REME- # Retired with effect from 10 May 2019.
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10.

AR E TR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E-ZTZEA+"H=+—HIEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The executive directors' emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive directors
shown above were paid for their services as directors of the
Company.

EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATIONS

The five highest paid individuals in 2020 included two Director
(2019: two) whose emoluments are included in the disclosures
in Note 9 above. Total remunerations paid to the five highest paid
individuals are:

—EEF “EF—NEF
FHET THET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
e B R IBTEAL Salaries, allowances and
discretionary bonus 19,641 29,359
BIRE A SR M ATE S HRR Pension costs and
mandatory provident
fund contributions 825 1,121
20,466 30,480
TECTEFR 2 47
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HEZ_ZF+_"_F=+—HLEEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

10. EE#FHM @

RERFBNNFUTEE :

10. EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATIONS (Continued)

Their remunerations were within the following bands:

=t A
2020 2019
3,000,001 75 23,500,000 ¢ HK$3,000,001 to
HK$3,500,000 1 -
3,500,001 75 24,000,000 75 HK$3,500,001 to
HK$4,000,000 1 -
4,000,001 7715 %E4,500,00078 7T HK$4,000,001 to
HK$4,500,000 2 -
5,000,001 7t &E5,500,0007 7T HK$5,000,001 to
HK$5,500,000 1 2
5,500,001 787t £6,000,00078 7T HK$5,500,001 to
HK$6,000,000 - 2
8,000,001 75 28,500,000 7T HK$8,000,001 to
HK$8,500,000 - 1
5 5
11. I8 11. TAXATION
=t
FHT FHET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BIEATRIE Current taxation
EAEFER Hong Kong Profits Tax 11,328 9,236
FR[EE Pt (B 22 PSR Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax 3,080,714 3,147,143
3,092,042 3,156,379
REBEFEE (BREEMF) BETR (Overprovision)
underprovision in
prior years
EENER Hong Kong Profits Tax (154) (118)
FR[EE Pt (B 22 PSR Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax 13,453 4,155
13,299 4,037
IEIERRIE (BE223) Deferred taxation (Note 23)
&8 Hong Kong 396 (7,386)
R E Py 3t Chinese Mainland (242,070) 160,851
(241,674) 153,465
2,863,667 3,313,881
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AR E TR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E-ZTZEA+"H=+—HIEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

11.

TAXATION (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Chinese Mainland Enterprises Income Tax includes the income
tax calculated at 25% on the taxable income of the group
entities in the Chinese Mainland for both years, the withholding
tax calculated at 5% (2019:10%) on dividends in the Chinese
Mainland, and the deferred tax calculated at 5% (2019:10%) on
the intended distribution profits from subsidiaries in the Chinese
Mainland to a holding company in Hong Kong. Such changes in
tax rates contributed to a decrease of approximately HK$474.2
million in taxation during the year.

No deferred tax liability has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to the undistributed retained profits
of HK$35,829,892,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
HK$31,472,271,000) earned by the subsidiaries established in
the Chinese Mainland as the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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11. IRIBE @) 11. TAXATION (continued)

FEENRX A BRRAGEETNY

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the consolidated

BREOTE - profit before taxation as follows:
ZECEE —NE
FAT THET
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRIGRIB A Profit before taxation 11,893,263 12,008,246
¥R E 9 it 1 2 FR 1SR TR 25 % 80 Tax at the Chinese
Mainland Enterprise
Income Tax rate of 25% 2,973,316 3,002,062
BETRERFREFERRIDGHERNRBEFE  Taxeffect of expenses
that are not deductible
in determining taxable
profit 201,130 137,669
?ziﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ BT EMAUM AR Tax effect of income
METE that is not taxable in
determining taxable
profit (40,289) (65,740)
HTHERMNE AR ERRIEEA R Tax effect of tax exemptions
Gk granted to certain
Chinese Mainland
subsidiaries (8,682) (15,950)
RIERRFERIENNTE T E Tax effect of tax losses not
recognized 66,099 114,689
BABEERERNRIBEENR I E Tax effect of utilization of
tax losses not previously
recognized (6,502) (146,136)
ELEG S A B EENR B E Tax effect of share of results
of associates (106,382) (81,672)
EhEE AR EENRBEEE Tax effect of share of results
of joint ventures (67,730) (55,250)
FEMBEZHEERENINE AN Effect of different tax rates
TERENZE of subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdictions (6,789) (1,109)
DIKFEAHE A B BFINR T2 Tax effect of distributable
profits of Chinese
Mainland subsidiaries (159,865) 415,560
DIKFEAMSE AR RIINRFE Tax effect of distributable
profits of Chinese
Mainland joint ventures 6,062 5,721
RBEFERETE Underprovision in
prior years 13,299 4,037
REENRBHZ Taxation expense for the
year 2,863,667 3,313,881
) N=heidsing INT
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AR E TR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E-ZTZEA+"H=+—HIEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Employees in Hong Kong may be offered to participate in the
Group's defined contribution retirement schemes or to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme ("MPF"). The assets of the
defined contribution retirement schemes are held separately in
independently administered funds. The amount of contributions is
based on a specified percentage of the basic salaries of employees
and is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Any forfeited contributions in respect of unvested benefits
of staff leavers will be used to reduce the Group's contributions.
There was no significant amount of unutilized forfeited
contributions at the end of each reporting period. The assets
under the MPF are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of the trustee. The Group and each of the
employees make monthly contributions to the MPF.

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefit schemes
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to these schemes is to make the specified contributions.
Employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are also offered
to participate in the Group’s defined contribution retirement
schemes.
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13. KR 13. DIVIDENDS
“E-RE _EF-NE
THET AT
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAEEREDIRBEKE : Dividends recognized as
distribution during
the year:
—EFFh#f-8R0.2758 7T 2020 Interim — HK$0.275
(CE—NE  §R0.26E7T) per share (2019:
HK$0.26 per share) 1,920,308 1,815,564
“E-NFRI-8R0.3358 T 2019 Final — HK$0.335
—EF—)\F : 8k0.273%87T) per share (2018:
HK$0.273 per share) 2,339,284 1,906,342
4,259,592 3,721,906
RREHRE - BE_Z2_SF+_H Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend
=+—HLEFEENFRAKESR0.34 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of HK$0.34
B BEZE-NE+ZBE=1+—H per share (HK$0.335 per share in respect of the year ended
IFEESR0.3358 ) EHESRES 31 December 2019) has been proposed by the Directors and
TS EBERBENIEEREEFEARS is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
FHUER  HEEB o IRIBA AT R K annual general meeting. The total amount of HK$2,374,199,000
FHRAPEZTROBEFENES (2019: HK$2,339,284,000) of the proposed final dividend,
SRERRG B 48%E2,374,199,0008 75 (=& calculated based on the Company's number of shares issued at
— LA 1 2,339,284,00078 7T) i L 4R the date of this annual report, is not recognized as a liability in the
EFBRAERANER A —EEE. consolidated statement of financial position.
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HE_Z-ZFE+"HA=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

14. ERKREF 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
KRBIHEBEANELEREABALE The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
RUATEIRSTEMA owners of the Company is based on the following data:

—ETEH —EFNEF

FET FHT

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

BH Earnings

NEREABIMENALABHE ARGEREF]  Eamings attributable to the
owners of the Company
for the purpose of basic

earnings per share 8,959,865 8,617,503

“ECEE —EANE

2020 2019
& E Number of shares
MEREARBIME RO INETEEE Weighted average number of

shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share 6,982,937,817  6,982,937,817

HRAABW EmERERRZITEBE No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company did
T D 25 SREERT] o not have any potential ordinary shares outstanding.
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15. BIEEE 15. FIXED ASSETS
TR
BEY RBERRHE MR Htt  #EIR FeEE
FAT TER TAR TAT TAT FAT
Land and Plant and Logistics Construction
buildings machinery  equipment Others in progress Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
[HE: COST
RZE—-NE—HB—H At 1 January 2019 12813405 25,467,106 2,308,810 1,611,553 1451104 43651978
"B Additions 4850 159,763 16,784 21,217 1,049,629 1,252,243
ERIRBTREE Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 325,049 197,122 15,679 24,764 (562,614) -
HE /HHiss Disposals/written off (98,984) (162,823) (106,383) (44,250) (82,073) (494,513)
[ERAE Exchange adjustments (284,788) (556,695) (49,113) (34,251) (30,647) (955,494)
RIE—N%F At 31 December 2019
+-A=+—H 12,799,532 25,104,473 2,185,777 1,579,033 1825399 43454214
HE Additions 40,549 105,202 40,605 80,255 1,634,536 1,901,147
ERTIRBT RaEs Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 797,032 669,721 340 17,240 (1,484,333) -
HE /HHisd Disposals/written off (62,557) (194,024) (133,069) (25,462) - (415,112)
[ERHE Exchange adjustments 801,330 1,614,029 138961 103,963 208,834 2,867,667
RIZ-TE At 31 December 2020
+-B=+—H 14,336,386 27,299,401 2,232,614 1,755,029 2184486 47807916
REHNERAE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
RZE—NE—HB—H At 1 January 2019 2,622,130 10,505,393 1,072,809 717,651 244207 15,162,190
FERY Charge for the year 376,355 1,310,412 117,569 84,158 - 1,888,494
RIBRAREN Impairment loss recognized in
BERSE ) profit or loss (note) - - - - 55,867 55,867
HE /Hiss Disposals/written off (31,013) (139,807) (95,894) (32,192) (82,033) (380,939)
[ERAE Exchange adjustments (61,165) (248,110) (22,792) (15,989) (3959) (352,015)
RIZE—-hE& At 31 December 2019
+-A=+—H 2906,307 11,427,888 1,071,692 753,628 214082 16,373,597
FERY Charge for the year 363,571 1,294,685 102,656 121977 - 1,882,889
PRIBTRAHESERIRIERE  Impairment loss recognized in
) profit or loss (note) 96,215 77,297 17,578 489 15,126 206,705
HE /HHisd Disposals/written off (16,411) (125,302) (115,908) (18,500) - (276,121)
ER AT Exchange adjustments 204,789 799,108 65,336 52,664 13812 1,135,709
R_E_THE At 31 December 2020
+-A=+—H 3,564,471 13,473,676 1,141,354 910,258 243020 19,322,779
SREfE CARRYING VALUE
A_E_RE At 31 December 2020
+-A=+—H 10,781,915 13,825,725 1,091,260 844,771 1941466 28485137
RIB—N%F At 31 December 2019
+-A=+—-H 9853225 13,676,585 1,114,085 825,405 1611317 27080617
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AR E TR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z-ZFE+"HA=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2020
15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

Others mainly comprise office furniture and equipment and
leasehold improvements.

note: During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors conducted a
review of the Group's production assets and determined that the assets of
certain subsidiaries were impaired because it is expected that these assets
will not generate future benefit to the Group. Accordingly, an impairment
loss of HK$206,705,000 (2019: HK$55,867,000) has been recognized in
respect of those fixed assets.

Included in construction in progress at 31 December 2020 was
interest capitalized of HK$1,883,000 (2019: HK$2,076,000).

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE
LIABILITIES

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

RZZ—hF—HF—H
/J\E

HE

FEMX

BE A%

R TE-NFETA=+—H

//J \%

HE

FRIECHAEAVEAREIBY
goEEREIRES]

FEMX
PR

AN —

\—7—7

+=B=+-8

T3 EEEY) HEt
FAET THET TFHET
Land Buildings Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

As at 1 January 2019 3,031,403 51,234 3,082,637
Additions 56,484 11,363 67,847
Disposals (42,857) - (42,857)
Charge for the year (93,286) (27,080) (120,366)
Exchange adjustments (64,673) (557) (65,230)
As at 31 December 2019 2,887,071 34,960 2,922,031
Additions 336,549 120,076 456,625
Disposals (15,199) - (15,199)

Revision of a lease term
arising from a change in
the non-cancellable period

of a lease (6,676) (2,450) (9,126)
Charge for the year (97,240) (29,419) (126,659)
Exchange adjustments 180,744 1,723 182,467

As at 31 December 2020
3,285,249 124,890 3,410,139
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16. EREEE HEAR

(&)
(b) MHE&R

HESENREE Gt ARME
RIER B RAAENRIR) &k

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
other payables and other long term payables) and the

FEREHHUWT movements during the year are as follows:
—EIEF —E—hEF
THET THET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEEER Balance at beginning of
the year 152,635 183,818
N Additions 236,711 13,085
FERX Interest expense 7,455 8,092
INEN Payments (174,909) (49,470)
AR BCHIA RSB E LN Revision of a lease term arising
FHHEBIERT from a change in the non-
cancellable period of a lease (9,126) -
FER AR Exchange adjustments 7,482 (2,890)
FRAGER Balance at end of the year 220,248 152,635
DA Analyzed into:
BIEAER Y (W2£33) Current portion (Note 33) 51,445 37,218
JEBNERER > (BY3236) Non-current portion
(Note 36) 168,803 115,417
220,248 152,635

() FRAEENREESMEBEEAME
P B IR AR M E44(b) ©
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(c) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in Note 44(b)
to the financial statements.
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
—ETEF “E—NEF
FHT FET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEER Balance at beginning of
the year 130,000 137,761

HeE Disposal - (12,396)
N BEES Change in fair value (10,000) 5,000
PE R AR Exchange adjustments - (365)
FRAEER Balance at end of the year 120,000 130,000

AEBRBECEROFAURIES
BIPRA TR ER D RO ERR
EYETLIREYEAR

AEBREERBEREYME-NZZE
TEFE+ A=+ —HEIZE—AEF
+ZB=+—HNAFEEREH
HAAREBMTHBAENBEIISERSEEX
HEMEERTERABDN AR B
BB

AFEEDREDHHELBOEEE
AEERBEFERAZMGES AR

-

RIEFHZEMEN AT EBER REK
REEANYESREERNERNY
o

All of the Group's leasehold interests in land held under operating
leases to earn rental are classified and accounted for as
investment property.

The Group held investment property in Hong Kong. The fair value
as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 has been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective
dates by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group.

The fair value was determined based on the market sales
comparable approach. There has been no change from the
valuation technique used in the prior year.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and best
use of the property is their current use.
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17.

KEYE @ 17.

R_E-TFE+-_RA=+—Hr=F
—NE+ZR=1T—H FEEREY
ENHBREBLATFEESHRONEN
EZTIL I

DIERE ZRAIRENE

RER TEREE ZRAEARE L

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Details of the Group's investment property and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019 are as follows:

ATEE

Fair value
“BE-BE B AF
FHET TFAET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

Investment property

classified as Level 2 120,000 130,000

There were no transfers into or out of Level 2 during the year.

HtigE 18. OTHER INVESTMENT
—ECEHF “EF—NEF
FHT FET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
h#ERRE BATEE Listed equity investment,
at fair value 72,295 97,197

R E A B RIEE B
AFEESFARMEZENRT  RER/ZE
EERSRRERRHKMEE
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The above equity investment was irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group
considers this investment to be strategic in nature.
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mEBEE 19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
[ XU st
FET FET FET
Goodwill Mining rights Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
s COST
RIZZE—hF At 1 January 2019
—HB—H 1,272,345 1,561,871 2,834,216
nE Additions - 413,491 413,491
PE R aEEE Exchange adjustments (11,483) (34,142) (45,625)
RIZE—N%F At 31 December 2019
+-B=+—H 1,260,862 1,941,220 3,202,082
NE Additions 289,479 289,479
HeE Disposal (7,514) (7,514)
PE s EE Exchange adjustments 32,519 124,077 156,596
RNE_EF At 31 December 2020
+-B=+—H 1,285,867 2,354,776 3,640,643
i8R E ACCUMULATED
AMORTIZATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
RIZ—hFE At 1 January 2019
—HB—H 78,518 558,243 636,761
FEMXE Charge for the year - 117,422 117,422
b 2 oE 2L Exchange adjustments (2,022) (11,871) (13,893)
A TE—NEF At 31 December 2019
+-—A=+—H 76,496 663,794 740,290
FEMXE Charge for the year - 126,215 126,215
BE Impairment - 15,950 15,950
bE R Exchange adjustments 5,822 49,380 55,202
R EHF At 31 December 2020
+—-—B=+—H 82,318 855,339 937,657
ERME{E CARRYING VALUES
R BF At 31 December 2020
+-—A=+—H 1,203,549 1,499,437 2,702,986
A E—NE At 31 December 2019
+-B=+—H 1,184,366 1,277,426 2,461,792

IR R E A FHRN I I0F =505

Ao

The useful lives of mining rights ranged from 10 to 50 years.
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e 2 R {5 A 5

EEBEHRAEEEMNEIHENR
TELENRSHEERE

AETREINS B2ENEREMRAK
RS NIRRT A& E DI
HEeESXEMNE DEENERRR
THRSESCEUANEEEREED
BA1,161,589,00058 7T (T BE— 4 :
1,137,306,0007 7T) 5241,960,00058 ¢
(ZZE— N4 47,060,00057T) ©

KO B R e 1 3R < A A BB AE R T UK
CEEREREEEERET WREE
EEMENVBERERANESRE
DR AFERABS% (CTE—NEF 5%)
I EER13% (CT—HF:13%) 1
THREFAB - ZBEXRDEMTRER
RAET TEBAMITENTHRY
BRX hFRENFESRERATIH
RELE -SHEERAEENERRR

REENZ ZEMNERREUNBER
RREZEEHTHERNTARMET

BEEEREGE ZFRRUBEFNEERN
ARERENEH G REITEIERL
KEDMHREEEBBEPTUREE
o
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

Management regularly determines if there is impairment of any of
its CGUs containing goodwill.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated
to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement operating segment
and concrete operating segment. The carrying amounts of
goodwill allocated to the groups of CGUs of cement and concrete
operations are HK$1,161,589,000 (2019: HK$1,137,306,000)
and HK$41,960,000 (2019: HK$47,060,000), respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the groups of CGUs of cement and
concrete operations have been determined based on the value
in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period with a growth rate of 5% (2019: 5%) and a
discount rate of 13% (2019: 13%). This growth rate is based on
the industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. The cash flows
beyond the five year period are extrapolated using zero growth
rate. The key assumption for the value in use calculation is the
budgeted gross margin, which is determined based on the unit's
past performance and management's expectations for the market
development.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of cement and concrete operating segments to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of cement and concrete operating
segments.
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note:

HE_Z-ZFE+"HA=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2020
21. REVE QTN #E R 21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—EFZF “E—NEF
FHET THET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
JEETHRRD » H AR Unlisted shares, at cost 6,696,188 6,561,438
PE 52 Exchange adjustments (78,308) (467,040)
BE G2 Impairment (note) (537,958) -
{HIERNRA REMEEIRA  BRE Share of post-acquisition
profits and other
comprehensive income,
net of dividends 556,035 486,272
6,635,957 6,580,670

The Group’s 40.6% interest in Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Co., Ltd.
(“Mengxi Cement”) is accounted for under the equity method. As at
31 December 2020, the Directors of the Group considered all the facts
and circumstances for the purpose of determining the value in use and
the recoverable amounts and assessed the most appropriate treatment
to account for the Group's investment in Mengxi Cement, resulting in

REBENEESE EMERREEY
537,958,000/ 7T °

impairment amounting to approximately HK$537,958,000.

ELEHREMSBIERBERHE ATFR
B4R 48%E8786,527,0005% T (2
— 4 1 1,290,862,00057T) ©

Included in the cost of unlisted investments is goodwill with a total
amount of HK$786,527,000 (2019: HK$1,290,862,000) arising
on acquisitions of associates.
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P4 —_— A 2L . .
21. REHEATIREDR @ 21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
NEBETEHRZSNTMEBMT : Details of the Group's principal associates are as follows:
FEMEE
BEATRE BRI 2K HMER & AT ER G TEEH
ZECEF “ENE
Proportion of
nominal value of
Place of registered capital
Name of associate incorporation Registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2020 2019

NELRAKERNERAT Bl AR #600,000,0007¢ 40.6% 406% MOERRERLTAEEHE
Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Chinese Mainland RMB600,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Co., Ltd. cement and concrete
RELEM (R BREARE  FEMNM AR #329,411,7007c 49% 49% KERBRLEERHE
Fujian Building Material (Holdings) Chinese Mainland RMB329,411,700 Manufacture and sale of

Company Limited cement and concrete
ERKERMERBRAR HEIAH AR 1,321,220,0007¢ 50% 50% HOERBRTEEEFE
Yunnan Cement & Building Materials ~ Chinese Mainland RMB1,321,220,000 Manufacture and sale of

Group Co., Ltd. cement and concrete
RIkAM R ROBRAT FREIR AR 359997,6107¢ 40% 40% ANEBRRAREERMNT
Universal Marble & Granite Chinese Mainland RMB359,997,610 Manufacture and processing

(Dongguan) Co., Ltd. of engineered stones and

natural stones

EEDA LRIENAEFENBZ A The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
B HEEREESES B ERAE opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the year
EREEFENTEID 55 Eithi or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
AT EEBRTIE details of other associates would result in particulars of excessive
length.

BEEIA ) KEENKES AT 2ZER In the opinion of the Directors, the associates of the Group are
HAEEM=ATE R BN EEE all individually not material to the Group. Aggregate financial
(hEZEHMENTINEEREM2E K information in respect of the Group's shares of these associates'
ANESHERERERES2ElE results and other comprehensive income is set out in the
*xo consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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==

REeEArEs 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—ETEF “E—NEF
FHT FET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
REEATNIE LHRENA Cost of unlisted investments
in joint ventures 1,146,600 1,146,600
PE A% Exchange adjustments (26,921) (78,447)
BB BFER R Share of post-acquisition
profits net of dividends 443,960 358,449
1,563,639 1,426,602
A TETEF+_HA=+—H &5EA As at 31 December 2020, included in the cost of investment
ANKRERATEIERWESE AT in joint ventures was goodwill of HK$141,235,000 (2019:
FrEE £ YR 2141,235,00058 7T (& HK$141,235,000) arising on acquisitions of joint ventures.

— L4 1 141,235,000/ 7T) ©

TSR ER 263

Annual Report 2020



AR A TR MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZ_ZF+_"_F=+—HLEEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

22. REERFINEDR @ 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
REFBFEGEQBNFEBAOT - Details of the Group's principal joint ventures are as follows:
RERTLE AR Lt RS BRTEEREE FAERMEENLE TEEH
“EIEE E-NE
Proportion of
Nominal value nominal value
Place of of issued of shares
Name of joint venture incorporation ordinary shares held by the Group Principal activities
2020 2019
HEELAEBRAE BRE 26,290% 7T 50% 50% KERERT S EREE
China Century Bermuda US$26,290 Manufacture and sale of
Cement Limited cement and concrete
HIEKEBRAE B 10,000 75 50% 50% KEEESHE
Squareal Cement Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement
EETI R LRIHNAEBRBNESER The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in
B HFEXGEEEEFENEHASE the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the
BNEEZFENETEIM &I EMS year or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
ENENFBEEER IR To give details of other joint ventures would result in particulars of

excessive length.

EERA AEENMESEREEA In the opinion of the Directors, all the joint ventures of the Group
BIREX BRAAEEREZEEER are individually not material. Aggregate financial information
BINEBERAEMEEB AN S HEE in respect of the Group's share of these joint ventures' results
AN =S et and other comprehensive income is set out in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.
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23. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets
recognized by the Group and movements thereof during the year.

BREME
MERE ~ EHEHE ATEE RIBRE
nE ATEERR 28 REA I mct
FER FER FER FER FER FET
Change
Fair value in fair
Accelerated  adjustments value of Tax
tax  on business investment losses  Withholding
depreciation  combinations property and others taxes Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

RZE—HF—FB—H AtlJanuary 2019
AEEEA (05 Credit (charge) for the year

(24,095) (49,082) (17,624) 208,358 (258,502) (140,945)

(Wfs211) (Note 11) 844 2,024 (825) 15,171 (170,679) (153,465)
EREE Exchange adjustments - 1,047 - (3,763) 12,721 10,005
RZE—A%E+ZH  At31 December 2019

=t+—H (23,251) (46,011) (18,449) 219,766 (416,460) (284,405)
REEEA (W7i£11)  Credit for the year (Note 11) 773 1,652 1,650 139,705 97,894 241674
RE—XHBRAG Disposal of a subsidiary - - - (3,158) - (3,158)
ER AR Exchange adjustments - (2,870) - 19,265 (17917) (1,522)
RIBZEF At 31 December 2020

+-B=+—H (22,478) (47,229) (16,799) 375,578 (336,483) (47,411)

—_ECEFE —E—hNE

FHT FET

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

IEIEFRIHE B Deferred tax assets 375,578 219,766
R IBEE Deferred tax liabilities (422,989) (504,171)
(47,411) (284,405)

R_E_EF+A=+—H R
TER5183,250,594,00058 7T (Z 2 — 1
£ :3,012,205,000% 75) Y KK E
A2 R A TR M B SR AT A AR A
MEBEE stAREIRNEGEN
E51864,149,0008 T (ZE— N £ :
29,858,000 7T) H%E?EEEEEFEEE
FAREHER - EMhES I8 A SE MR IR AR A &

As at 31 December 2020, no deferred tax asset has been
recognized in respect of the tax losses of HK$3,250,594,000
(2019: HK$3,012,205,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognized tax losses are losses of
HK$64,149,000 (2019: HK$29,858,000) which will expire within
5 years from the year of origination. Other losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.
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24.

25.

26.

R W RRIE

ZRETEREAEERNAEREEST
7 T H B P9 3 BT BY B R s S ol B
BREEGRRIRIBEESMRE 1N —
FREKRBITIEE ST AR IR

24.

LONG TERM RECEIVABLES

The amount mainly represented advances paid to the local
governments in the Chinese Mainland for facilitating the transfer of
land to the Group and deposits paid for environmental restoration
in relation to the construction of production lines. The amount due
within one year was included in other receivables.

=#=8 25. INVENTORIES
—ETEF —E—NEF
FHT FET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

MR B EFE SR Raw materials and
consumables 1,015,476 908,569
M Work in progress 452,978 319,042
HUEY MR Finished goods 384,697 282,093
1,853,151 1,509,704
FE Ut & 5 BR 7R 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES

—ETEF —ENEF
FHT FET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

FEWE = E SRR Trade receivables from
third parties 2,965,209 2,384,112

FEURRARE 5 B9 B 5 R Trade receivables from
related parties 26,388 2,014
2,991,597 2,386,126

FEREGTHEFBELERAH
HEE0E60E B FIIEEHBIEER

2 66 FERNORERBRAR
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The Group has a policy of allowing an average credit period of O to
60 days from the date of issuance of invoices to its customers.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of
allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the invoice date
at the end of each reporting period.

SE-RE  CEAE

FHET THET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
0Z90H 0 to 90 days 2,340,218 1,843,340
91&180H 91 to 180 days 296,002 235,830
181%F365H 181 to 365 days 246,098 227,782
BiB365H Over 365 days 109,279 79,174
2,991,597 2,386,126
RIRIRBIREE Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts
“B=BF "B A
FHET FHET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
EY4EER Balance at beginning of
the year 246,529 247,297
PR Allowance for
doubtful debts 55,213 16,953
b G EENEIEI E e Amount written off
as uncollectible (624) (10,477)
R R Exchange adjustments 23,555 (7,244)
FERERR Balance at end of the year 324,673 246,529
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26.

FE B 5 ERFR @)
TR IR S (&)

NZETEF+ZA=F+—H KR
DERBEASFTENEWE ZER
TARERE{E 4125,837,000%8 7T > H
81,818,000t A—FE R EIEERS
BN FI%E17% > M44,019,0007 7T
A—FU b FBHREEBEEEA100%
W_E_EFE+_A=+—H Bk
T REEM AT ENEWE SR
ABERTE B %1,906,393,00078 75 » H A
1,5673,851,0008 Tt A& —F /> FEHAE
BEEERENTF2%EAL% > 194,221,000
LA EMEAN EREEBEEBEEXS
45% > }:138,321,000/8 T A M ELL £
FERRE B R5I8ZEA100% ©

RZZ—hE+ZB=+—H>KE
DEERBEALFTENENEZ R
4B BR T {8 %4 94,389,0008 75 - H
54,323,000t A —FR > BHEE
EEERNF10%E18% » 40,066,000
BrAa—FUL EHEERBXS
100% MR ZE—NEFE+ZBA=+—
B RRLT DB EHMATEHE
W B SR AR BRI (B 4 1,481,016,000
BT Hd1,244,071,0008 05 —F
T EEBEEENTF2%E3I%
131,718,0008 A —EMFEN > B
EEEBEXA36% 105,227,000 7T
AMEL b FBHREEBIEEA100%
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables measured at amortized cost for the cement segment
was HK$125,837,000, of which HK$81,818,000 was within
one year with an expected credit loss rate ranging from 9% to
17% and HK$44,019,000 was over one year with an expected
credit loss rate of 100%. As at 31 December 2020, the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables measured at amortized
cost for concrete segment was HK$1,906,393,000, of which
HK$1,573,851,000 was within one year with an expected credit
loss rate ranging from 2% to 4%, HK$194,221,000 was within
one to two years with expected credit loss rate of 45% and
HK$138,321,000 was over two years with an expected credit loss
rate of 100%.

As at 31 December 2019, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables measured at amortized cost for the cement segment
was HK$94,389,000, of which HK$54,323,000 was within
one year with an expected credit loss rate ranging from 10% to
18% and HK$40,066,000 was over one year with an expected
credit loss rate of 100%. As at 31 December 2019, the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables measured at amortized
cost for concrete segment was HK$1,481,016,000, of which
HK$1,244,071,000 was within one year with an expected credit
loss rate ranging from 2% to 3%, HK$131,718,000 was within
one to two years with expected credit loss rate of 36% and
HK$105,227,000 was over two years with an expected credit loss
rate of 100%.
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H th FE Wg 7R 18 27. OTHER RECEIVABLES

—ETEF “E—NEF
FHET THET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
SNV Prepayment and deposits 44,879 36,000
BN EM MRS S Deposits paid to suppliers
of raw materials 175,477 178,887
BER A YOI IE Value-added tax and
other tax recoverables 225,464 189,379
REAEWERIBI B ERER (5 Current portion of
long term receivables 164,863 142,034
FEW B = A B FRIE (Fa) Amounts due from
associates (note a) 241,936 397,535
FEW & E ABFIA (7b) Amounts due from joint
ventures (note b) 47,080 5818
Hith Others 166,069 180,066
1,065,768 1,129,719
it notes:

a. FEW S AR RIEA BIKIR R EERE a. The amounts due from associates are unsecured and repayable
B> Hohst B84 %136,632,0008 75 (Z on demand, of which HK$136,632,000 (31 December 2019:
T—HAFE+ZHA=+—H : 343,678,000 HK$343,678,000) is interest-bearing.

BIT) ©

b. FEW &S ABFIBA TR EIRIRRE b. The amounts due from joint ventures are interest-free, unsecured and
EREIE repayable on demand.

FT—RE R BRFH 28. LOAN TO A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

8™

ZRTEBRERE (R ARAF
(FEEN—RARNBATE) BIEMR
BRI RER KL 0%t B RIS—F
mEE-

T—REZZERAFTHN
8™
BIETEBRBI R AR R
FI%3.6075% 31 8 RN —EREE-

The loan to China Resources Investment and Entrepreneurship
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. a fellow subsidiary of the Group, is
unsecured, bears interest at 4.0% per annum and repayable

within one year.

29.
COMPANY

LOAN TO AN INTERMEDIATE HOLDING

The loan to CRI is unsecured, bears interest at 3.6975% per
annum and repayable within one year.

“ETFEFR
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30. EERIBITEM 30. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
—ETEF —E—NEF
FHT FET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
VinEzl] Current 118,816 -
FJERE Non-current 273,573 216,985
392,389 216,985
31. IRERIBITHEER 31. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
FARERIBITEHRIUZBEERSE Included in cash and bank balances are the following amounts
FERITHRE B LISMN E M ST E R FUE denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of
Whe the respective group entities.
—ECEF “EF—NEF
FHET FET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT HK$ 411,544 244 549
E7T Us$ 1,110 1,187,376
—E-EE =&
2020 2019
% %
RITHEBRRVFER X EE Range of interest rates of
the bank balances
(per annum) 0.01-3.85 0.01-4.75

2 70 FERNORERBRAR
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32. BIIEBRR™M 32. TRADE PAYABLES

—EIEF —E—hEF

FHET THET

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

FENE=ZFEZ RN Trade payables to
third parties 3,599,367 3,157,563
FETREER 5 B FER TR Trade payables to

related parties 123,712 16,674

3,723,079 3,174,237
AEEBEENEMEREIEI0E0H The Group normally receives credit period of 30 to 90 days from
FEEH UTANSREHRIBIRES its suppliers. The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
HERT BV R B 52 AR AR BV AR EL 477 © presented based on the invoice date at the end of each reporting

period.

—EIEF “EFE—NEF

TFHET FHET

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

0Z90H 0 to 90 days 3,581,856 3,112,055

91&F180H 91 to 180 days 112,027 33,877

181%365H 181 to 365 days 11,283 11,925

#8iE365H Over 365 days 17,913 16,380

3,723,079 3,174,237
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33. HtiE{fImRIA 33. OTHER PAYABLES
—EIEF —E—hEF
THET AT
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FENEERTERMBEEEEEN Payables to constructors
FE(IFRIE and for the acquisition of
fixed assets 650,763 671,163
WEEB AR -BE AR RGEATDN Consideration payables
FERE for acquisition of
subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures 286,116 271,000
KEFRB]E Deposits from customers 1,221,515 921,062
FE(SHESt TE R AEAL Accrued wages and
bonus payables 1,506,790 1,334,359
KEHERENRES Guarantee deposits from
suppliers 526,893 419,410
eI FESTHESRINIE Accrued transportation
payable 329,492 295,953
HhpEiRE Other tax payables 475,893 606,681
HE&E (#atl6) Lease liabilities (Note 16) 51,445 37,218
Hih Others 555,763 523,924
5,604,670 5,080,770

2 72 FERNORERBRAR
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34. IR1ITEMR 34. BANK LOANS
?ﬁm THET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT HBERZENIRITER Bank loans are repayable
as follows:
—ER Within one year - 1,297,954
—FBEMER After one year but
within two years 3,300,000 407,915
MEBREREN After two years but
within five years - 2,871,236
3,300,000 4.577,105
BT AREI BB —F A EIEARIRIE Less: Amount due within
one year included
in current liabilities - (1,297,954)
—FBE AN RIE Amount due after one year 3,300,000 3,279,151
BEBMFEZHNRITERUT ! Bank loans were arranged at fixed and variable rates as follows:
—EIEFE E—AF
TFHET FHEIT
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
EBMER Fixed rate borrowings - 223,270
EASNI=E Variable rate borrowings 3,300,000 4,353,835
3,300,000 4.577,105
EES “EFE+ZA=+—HLtHF The effective interest rates of the Group's bank loans ranged from
=) ZK%IE’\J?E?T%T?AE’JEWEE%U+M 1.0% to 3.2% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2020
F1.0%E3.2% (ZE—NEF 1 23%F (2019: 2.3% to 4.8%).
4.8%) o
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34.

35.

36.

IRITEF @ 34.

SEARITERN UL EBRERINEE
B LUOMIE S EHERRIENT ¢

BANK LOANS (continued)

Included in bank loans are the following amounts denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective
group entities:

—EIEFE FNEF

FHT FET

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT HK$ 3,300,000 3,300,000

FEBFAERITERE B EIEMR-

BRI P ARE 35.

é::—/\ﬁﬁﬂﬁa AT ETH
HRZEY > 48384 AR 13,000,000,0007T
(*Ewﬁ”:‘%’\]3,564,480,000‘?§ﬁ) o 5% A
ERARITIT REE3S% 2 EmAIE
FERRIEI—FEE

All of the Group's bank loans were unsecured.

UNSECURED MEDIUM TERM NOTES

On 5 September 2016, the Company issued medium term notes
in the aggregate amount of RMB3,000,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,564,480,000). The medium term notes are
unsecured, bear coupon interest at 3.5% per annum and are
repayable in 2021.

Hih RHEIFE (S FRIE 36. OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES

—ECEHF —EF—NEF

FET FET

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

fREaE @tie) Lease liabilities (Note 16) 168,803 115,417
IRIBEEERE Provision for environmental

restoration 350,788 325,296

HAth Others 23,917 8115

543,508 448,828
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36. Hith REAME(GTRIE @) 36. OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES (Continued)
IRIBIEEBRENES Movements in the provision for environmental restoration

—EEE —E—hF

FHET FET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FREER Balance at beginning of
the year 325,296 -
0 Additions 5,566 321,433
HMERX Wat7) Interest expenses (Note 7) 16,201 15,486
(NN Payments (18,109) (11,668)
bE R Exchange adjustments 21,834 45
FEREE R Balance at end of the year 350,788 325,296
37. g7 37. SHARE CAPITAL
P& E £%8
FET
Number of
shares Amounts
HK$'000
SREE0.I0E T ZERM Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
VERE Authorized:
A _E—-hFE—B—H- At 1 January 2019,
“E-NExK 31 December 2019 and
—_ECEFE+_"B=4+—H 2020 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BEITREE Issued and fully paid:
R _E—NEFE—FB—HB- At 1 January 2019,
_EBE-NER 31 December 2019 and
—_E2CEFF+_"FB=+—H 2020 6,982,937,817 698,294
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38.

39.

BEAEEERE

FEEEEBEEEN UREAEENE
BRI USELE WA BBIEHR
R G RRRT N E B RRAREIR 1MW
BFE > AEBNEERBERTE

FEBNEARBEEREY HPEE
FYEE34BVERTTE X ~ MY 5E35RY IR IR P
HRE) hRAABHEAEANBERED (B
BERTREIKRER)

FABDERBEBFFER—REELR
BoERItERN—HD BEEBEE
BERRETRALERHERERANE
R AERBREBEEEENESR B8
SATRRE AR 34T~ BB EIAR 10 AR 3
THEBRNBLORAEHRFTHHEE

BEERAE o

38.

E-BF+"H=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
for both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
includes the bank loans in Note 34, unsecured medium term
notes in Note 35 and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The management of the Company reviews the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of management, the Group
will balance its overall structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new
debts or the redemption of existing debts.

HAREE 39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
—EEFE EF-hE
FHET TFHETT
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
IS A B ERNIRITERBEEMERT Guarantees given to banks,
= HVER in respect of banking
facilities granted to
associates
—IEREBEE — amount guaranteed 1,766,285 1,404,603
—BEEATEE — amount utilized 1,678,477 1,337,971

EHEDA BENELDBOATMRE
THRE A

FERNORERBRAR
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In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the guarantees at
grant dates were not significant.
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BHEZETT
KETHA R 40.
FEBEEAHEEAA

RERSHR  AERREASPIHEEER
HEBEYMER THREKRREEER
EREL

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as a lessor

At the end of each reporting period, the Group has contracted
for the following future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases:

—BEIRE —FENE

FHET FAETT
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 21,069 21,021
R—EBERMERN After one year but
within two years 4,980 11,206
PRERER=FR After two years but
within three years - 65
26,049 32,292

REVMFEREERLEEERHME
FHRAL RERBRB—EWE -

B KIE 41.

MBERBERZEEMNSRESHRE

The investment properties have been rented to outside parties at
fixed predetermined amounts with unexpired tenancy for one to
two years.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments for purchase and construction of assets

FEITHEREEUNT . outstanding at the end of each reporting period are as follows:
—ECEHF “EF—NEF
FHET TExT
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEIAERER Contracted but not
provided for 4,150,256 996,827
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42. M TH 42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

TR T AR

TRMEE
BEBIEN TSR EREE

BRAFEESARMEARDZ SREE

TREE
BEHp A

TREREENBERREE

FEENTIETHREERERBER
W B Z 8RR Bt EURIE ~ T — K [E
ZNBARNER T—RERERR
BN EM - REIEWIE S EEIRRTT
FRCHERIRITER IEERRAT
BEFAEME2EREAENEDR
E-BNEZRT EMEARE &
IR IR RITERRAEMRIE
R ZETRITANFBEENER
PyEE A 2R o Bl TRt T AARRARY R
% R AN AT R 5% 35 R B B BRI
X EEEEEREEZS AR LU
TREET By A R SR EGE B BYIE T
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Categories of financial instruments

—EoRE CE-AE

FERT THET
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

Financial assets
Financial assets at
amortized cost 17,379,356 16,004,879
Financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive

income 1,356,335 1,154,447

18,735,691 17,159,326

Financial liabilities

Amortized cost 12,271,579 12,614,600

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial assets and liabilities include trade
receivables, other receivables, loan to a fellow subsidiary, loan to
an intermediate holding company, long term receivables, pledged
bank deposits, cash and bank balances, equity investment
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income,
trade payables, other payables, unsecured medium term notes,
bank loans and other long term payables. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies
about how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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42.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to loan to a fellow subsidiary, loan to an intermediate holding
company, fixed-rate bank loans and unsecured medium term
notes (see Notes 28, 29, 34 and 35 for details). The Group aims
at keeping as much of its borrowings at variable rates as possible.
The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank loans (see Note 34 for details).

The Group's exposures to interest rate risk on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate arising from the Group's Hong Kong dollar and, to
a much lesser extent, People's Bank of China Base Rate arising
from Renminbi denominated borrowings.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group's sensitivity to interest rate risk has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for bank loans outstanding
at the end of the reporting period.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's profit for the year
ended 31 December 2020 would be decreased/increased by
approximately HK$14,603,000 (2019: HK$18,554,000).

The Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances is insignificant. Accordingly, no
interest rate sensitivity analysis is prepared.

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to currency risk is attributable to the bank
balances and bank loans which are denominated in the currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they are
related (see Notes 31 and 34 for details). The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency exposure. However, management monitors
the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.
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42.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
exchange difference in RMB against HK$ and US$. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding monetary items denominated
in a foreign currency and adjusts their translation at year end for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in post-tax profit where the RMB strengthens
5% against HK$ and US$. For a 5% weakening of RMB against
HK$ and US$, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the post-tax profit.

= A

FHET AT
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000

WARERBTHE If RMB strengthens against
HK$ 113,550 130,140

MARERIETHE If RMB strengthens against
uss$ (40) (57,554)
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42. EMIT A w 42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

THEREENBERREE (B)
EFEmREE

HWREHFNEREARKRERTE
HREACHIETMEENET  EE
EAARNRAEERRASGESHH
R RPI SN ZEEENRE(E M
AEERAERHOVBERMEBRZ
WRAEERBRBINEIMNENE
BHRASEREHNMBRANNAE
B -REEERARRNME xEE
EEEERE-—HERAENEERR
TERk—ZEXEEBEEERE E
BB RHEMEERRF  UEREETT
BT U CIBHAERS -

FEEMEBENASFENRKES
BRUHERABIEE - EMEE &
BERATEESFAREME2EREE
BYFE UL B 5 SRR ELfth B U IR S T —
KERMBADNER  T—REEE
RABNWER  RAEWTRIE - EEHR
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DEATRREEEERTEE KRR

nPETEERRER RRAEER
MIRTEEGRHFERAESEETRN
R1Te

FEENEERRIHNZEXZYH

FREF BUEEEARTHEEM
o

2 8 2 EHICRIERBRAE

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at the end
of each reporting period in relation to each class of recognized
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position, while the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk due to financial guarantees
provided by the Group is the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in
Note 39. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has formulated a defined credit policy and delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group applies the simplified approach for impairment of
trade receivables measured at amortized cost. Financial assets
including trade receivables measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income, other receivables, loan to a fellow
subsidiary, loan to an intermediate holding company, long term
receivables, pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances,
are classified within stage 1 for measurement of ECLs.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group's bank
balances are deposited with banks of high credit ratings.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management also regularly
monitors the operating cash flows of the Group to meet its liquidity
requirements in short and long term. Management monitors the
utilization of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had available
unutilized banking facilities of approximately HK$13,663,840,000
(2019: HK$12,788,906,000) to meet the Group's future
expansion and satisfy its existing liabilities. Management is also
in the process of negotiating with the banks to refinance its short
term banking facilities to long term. In addition, the Company
has an intra-group lending agreement among companies of
the China Resources Group whereby borrowings which may be
made will be guaranteed by its intermediate holding company.
Taking into account the cash and bank balances, the unutilized
banking facilities, the unissued registered amount of medium term
notes, the expected future internally generated funds, the new
banking facilities and other sources of financing to be obtained,
management is confident that the Group will be able to meet its
financial obligations when they fall due in the foreseeable future.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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42. TMT R w) 42.

THEMEENBRERBER (8

TEEZEE (&

REETRFFREE R

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables

—EE MEMULE RURIR
iR —Ff [EFEEME (EFERLE BRLE RERELE RAEE
% TEr TEr TEn TEx TEx TEr
More than More than Total
1 year but 2 years but contractual
Average Within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZEZTE+"F=+—H Asat31 December 2020
R EZER Trade payables - 3,723,079 - - - 3,723,079 3,723,079
HHtRETE Other payables
(nHESsR) (excluding lease
liabilties) - 1,463,772 - - - 1,463772 1,463,772
RITER Bank loans
R - Variable rate 18 60,715 3,360,715 - - 3421430 3,300,000
BEFTHZE Unsecured medium
term notes 35 3,649,246 - - - 3,649,246 3,564,480
HEaE Lease liabilities 48 52,656 44,858 67,723 145,099 310336 220,248
8949468 3,405,573 67,723 145,09 12,567,363 12,271,579
RZB—AE+ZF=+—H Asat31 December 2019
EAERES Trade payables - 3174237 - - - 3,174,237 3174237
HEHEME Other payables
(NREEER) (excluding lease
liabilties) - 1,361,573 - - - 1,361,573 1361573
RITER Bank loans
e iES - Variable rate 33 1,217,163 515,225 2974331 - 4,706,719 4363835
—BEERE - Fixed rate 37 231,525 - - - 231525 223270
BRETHZE Unsecured medium
term notes 35 117,217 3428693 - - 3545910 3,349,050
HE&RE Lease liabiltties 48 38,070 23,792 42,087 98,763 202,712 152,635
6,139,785 3967710 3016418 9,763 13222676 12,614,600
284 ERKRERBRAR . o
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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43.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Equity investment designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income as at 31 December 2020 are included
in Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy, whereas trade receivables
classified as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income as at 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019 are included in Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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44, e HERERMEE 44. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) TRHEINAEEMHEZTEESE (@  The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
NEeEEE (BEREKRIFRE arising from financing activities, including both cash
EE) BERoMEEBELNS and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
FEIEEREREE XA REKIRE activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
RERRNAERGFGRERE cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated
KPP EARMEBEEHEENIR statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
EHMENEGE. activities.
EILE
HEAR RITER THIZE mst
TET TET TET TET
(Hraz16) (H1:234) (7:235)
Unsecured
Lease medium
liabilities Bank loans term notes Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Note 16) (Note 34) (Note 35)
RIE—HhE—FB—H AtlJanuary 2019 183,818 9,088,624 3,423,870 12,696,312
MERERE Financing cash flows (49,470) (4,427.383) - (4,476,853)
12140 Additions 13,085 - - 13,085
FISHEZ Interest expense 8,092 - - 8,092
EXHE Foreign exchange translation (2,890) (84,136) (74,820) (161,846)
RIZ-hE At 31 December 2019
+-R=+—H 152,635 4577105 3,349,050 8,078,790
RERSRS Financing cash flows (174,909) (1,252,406) - (1,427 315)
121 Additions 236,711 - - 236,711
FIERX Interest expense 7455 - - 7455
THEGHEAHENE  Revision of a lease term arising
BELNRBET from a change in the non-
cancellable period of a lease (9,126) - - (9,126)
ExinE Foreign exchange translation 7482 (24,699) 215,430 198,213
RIZ-ZTF At 31 December 2020
+ZA=+—H 220,248 3,300,000 3,564,480 7,084,728

2 86 FERNORERBRAR
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HE_Z-ZFE+"HA=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

44. ZEHEERERMFE ®  44. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) MEREMH4EEE (b)  Total cash outflow for leases
A RERERNEER The total cash outflow for leases included in the
R AEZET ¢ consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

—EIEHE —E—h%F

FET FET

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

KETEEFA Within operating activities 559,457 550,727

REEEN Within financing activities 174,909 49,470

734,366 600,197

45. BAB B X 5

(@) BEFEEVHHRERAEME
BREARAR T BV 5 R A RRET 1B
S REERAFETR D AR
HETUTERRS :

45.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Apart from the transactions and the balances with related
parties disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group also entered into the following
significant transactions with related parties during the year:

—ECEHF E—h&E
FTHT TH7T
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
AETHEABHESR Sales of goods to certain
associates 107,540 2,112,040
BETEERBHEER Sales of goods to certain
joint ventures 329,150 289,190
BETRRNBABHRBEE R Purchases of goods
from certain fellow
subsidiaries 41,152 35,597
mETERMNEABREE N Purchases of electricity
from certain fellow
subsidiaries 1,120,097 1,018,600
BETHEABREER Purchases of goods from
certain associates 215,328 178,293
mMETEEQTKESGR Purchases of goods from
certain joint ventures 1,881,377 -
Ann@ﬁgp?rﬁ%gg 287
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45. BB R 5 @

(b)

(c)

(d)

238
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WERNHRE-Z—-N\FE—A8
—HEsE-Z"ZF+"A
=t—HLERBP=F -RTEZ
TE+_A=+—H &&H
REBRTHFREFREES
895,005,000 70 (ZZE—4F :
739,275,000/ 7T) ©

RZE_EHF_F_+/\B>
FEBMAEEEHAETES
AR %450,000,0007c (FHE R
492,642,00078 7t) H—REH M
BABEI L B IE - ZRIES
EIRTE > BERFEA D% ER
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TEEEEAEEEEES
AT EBIRREN IS I SEO R
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BEAEme
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

On 20 October 2017, the Company entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. ("CR Bank"), pursuant to which,
CR Bank shall provide general banking services including
deposit and other financial services to the Group. The term
of the strategic cooperation agreement was three years
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. As at 31
December 2020, the Group had an aggregate balance of
deposits of HK$895,005,000 (2019: HK$739,275,000)
with CR Bank.

On 28 February 2020, the Group entered into a loan
agreement with a fellow subsidiary for an amount
of principal of RMB450,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$492,642,000) lent by the Group. The amount was
unsecured, interest bearing at 4.35% per annum and was
repaid in May 2020.

The key management personnel includes solely the
Directors and the compensation to them is disclosed in
Note 9.

Apart from the aforementioned transactions, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts to
which the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had, directly or indirectly, a material interest
at any time during the year.
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(e)

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled
entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under China Resources Company Limited, which is
controlled by the government of the Chinese Mainland.
Apart from the transactions with the parent company and
its subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group also
conducts businesses with entities directly or indirectly
owned or controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the Chinese Mainland government ("stated-
controlled entities") in the ordinary course of business.
The Directors consider those entities other than the China
Resources Company Limited group are independent third
parties as far as the Group's business transactions with
them are concerned. In establishing its pricing strategies
and approval process for transactions with other state-
controlled entities, the Group does not differentiate
whether the counterparty is state-controlled entity or not.
The Group is of the opinion that it has provided, to the
best of its knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure
of related party transactions in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has bank balances deposited in and entered
into various transactions, including sales, purchases,
borrowings and other operating expenses, with other state-
controlled entities during the year in which the Directors
are of the opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain the
identity of the controlling parties of these counterparties
and accordingly whether the counterparties are state-
controlled entities.
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KRR BT ERT
+ZB=+—HHNEIEMBASAIF

FE+"H=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2020 and 2019 are as follows:

(Hepu) Limited”

290

EHICRERBRAT
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=
ALK BRTRARRS
MEAR AR EBFREHA B SARRMAREREERLE TEER
ZECEE —ENE
Ef% R E# ik
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
BEEAKEAREERATY FEIRH A #90,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  EREMEEEHE
Baise Runhe Prefabricated Construction  Chinese Mainland RMB90,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Company Limited” of prefabricated
construction materials
EBOE (ZIB) BRAF FEIRH B 465,000,0007 - 100% - 100% KEEEZRBE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB465,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Anshun) Limited” cement
EBKE (BD) BRAFY FEIPYH, AR#520,750,00070 - 98.4% - 984%  KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB520,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changjiang) Limited? cement
EBKE (BB BRAR? FEIRH A\ 1280,000,0007¢ - 72% - 2%  KEEEHHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changzhi) Ltd.# cement
EBI0E (8 BRARY FEIPYH, 15,000,000%87T - 100% - 100%  KEXERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$15,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited” cement
EBKE (B BRAR? FEIRH \E1280,000,0007% - 72% - 72%  KELESHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangshan) Limited? cement
EHKE GIf) BRAFY FEIRH 205,961,300% 7T - 100% - 100%  KE4ERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1S$205,961,300 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited” cement
EBKE E)) BRAFY FEIRH 261,848 0008 7T - 100% - 100% KEEESHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$261,848,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited”” cement
EHKE B8 BRAFY FEIRH 55,104,000 7T - 100% - 100% KEEESHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$55,104,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guigang) Limited” cement
EBKE &R BRAFY hE R A\ 1350,000,0007¢ - 100% - 100% KEEESHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB350,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

cement
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HE_Z-ZFE+"HA=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2020

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AR ERTRBIRRS
WEAR%HE LB B SARSEFAREERRLH TEEE
—ECEE “ENE
B il B %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EBKE BB ERAFY FElAH ARH230,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Heging) Limited? cement
EBCE @) BRATY FEIPYH, 70,500,000 7% - 100% - 100%  KEEELHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$70,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited” cement
EBIOE (1) BRAF FEIPYH 55,000,000 7% - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$55,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited” cement
EBIE @) BRATY FEIRH 43,750, 000&7¢ - 100% - 100%  KEFEZHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$43,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jinsha) Limited®” cement
EBKE @D ERAFY I, ARH51,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB51,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited” cement
BImSMKERRATY FEIRH AE#470,000,0007T - 100% - 100%  KEFEZHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB470,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang Fengcheng) Limited” cement
EBKE REED ARAFY FEIPYH 480,000,000 7 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$480,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Caoxi) Limited” cement
EBKE GeERR) BRAFY FEIPYH 33,040,000%7¢ - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$33,040,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Yanshi) Limited”” cement
EBKE (BE) BRAFY ol 33,280,000%7¢ - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1US$33,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan) Limited” cement
EBKE (2)1) BRAFY FElAH ARHE244,190,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB244,190,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited” cement
EBKE @T) BRAFY ol 280,000,003 7% - 100% - 100%  KEEELHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Luoding) ) Limited”
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46. TEMB AT @ 46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AR ERTRBIRRS/
WEARAHE LB B AREMA R LA TEER
—ECEE “ENE
B i B# %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EBKE GBR) BRAR? FEIRH AE#230,000,0007T - 100% - 100%  KEEEZHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Midu) Limited® cement
EBKE BB ERAFY FEIPYH, 55,200,000 7% - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$55,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited”’ cement
EBKE (TR BRAFY FEIH, AR 11,080,780,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB1,080,780,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pingnan) Limited” cement
EBCE (RN BRAT FEIPYH, 3,280,000% 7% - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1US$3,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Quanzhou) Limited” cement
EBKE (ER) BRAFY FEAH ARHE415,450,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB415,450,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shangsi) Limited”” cement
EBKE (L) BRAFY FEAH ARH210,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB210,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shantou) Limited” cement
EBKE (BIR) ERAFY FEIPYH, 270,095,003 7 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$270,095,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Tianyang) Limited” cement
EIE ®E) BRARY FEIRH 257,266,000 7 - 100% - 100%  REEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$257 266,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuxuan) Limited” cement
EWKE (B BRASY FEAH AR #25,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhishan) Limited” cement
EBKE (5% BRAFY FEIPYH, 350,000,003 7% - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$350,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangchun) Limited®” cement
EBKE (k) BRAFY FEIPYH, 35,000,000%7¢ - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$35,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Yongding) Limited®”
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AR ERTRBIRRS
WEAR%HE LB B SARSEFAREERRLH TEEE
“ECEE “ENE
B il B %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EBKR (D) ERAFY FElAH 22,000,0003E7% - 100% - 100%  KEEELHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” cement
EBKE (3F) BRAFY FElAH ARH133,600,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB133,600,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhangping) Limited” cement
EWKEER (B8 BRAT s 10,0007t 100% - 100% - BESRNBAARE
China Resources Cement Hong Kong HK$10,000 Holding investments in
Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited subsidiaries
EBACRRBEERRTY FElRH 1,066,770,300% 7T - 100% - 100% FEZZXHBATRKE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$1,066,770,300 Holding investments in
Investments Limited” subsidiaries
EERERL (36 BARAFY FEIRH 20,000,000 ¢ - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Baise) Limited” concrete
ERREL 0% BRAFY FEIRH 32,000,000%7¢ - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$32,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beihai) Limited” concrete
EEBRREL GHLE) BRATY  FEMNM 20,000,000 7% - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beihai Tieshangang) Limited” concrete
EZERERL (BESD ARATY  FEMNM 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Chengmai Jinjiang) Limited” concrete
EEREL (BB ARATY  FEMNM AE10,000,0007T - 100% - 100% RRT4ESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Chengmai Laocheng) Limited®” concrete
EFWERLT (KB BRATY FEIRH 30,000,0007¢ - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Dali) Limited®” concrete
ERRERL (TR BRAFY FEIRH AE10,000,0007T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Dingan) Limited®” concrete
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46. TEMB AT @ 46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AR ERTRBIRRS/
WEARAHE LB B AREMA R LA TEER
—ECEE “ENE
B i B# %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
REEHSHRERLERATY FEIR 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRT4ESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Dongguan Fengcheng) Limited” concrete
EBRET (B ERATY HE P 25,000,000 7¢ - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited” concrete
EWREL G BRATY FEIH, AR#20,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RETEEMHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited” concrete
ERRERL (B BRAFY FEIH, AR#10,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RETEEMHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited®” concrete
EWRRL (BB BRATY FEAH 20,000,0007% - 100% - 100% RETEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Gaoyao) Limited” concrete
EWRRL (BF) BRATY FEAH 34,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% RETEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guangx) Limited? concrefe
EWRRL (B8 BRATY FEAH 25,000,0007% - 100% - 100% RETEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guigang) Limited” concrete
EWREL B BRATY FEAH ARH25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RETEEMHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Heshan) Limited” concrete
ERREL BN ARAFY FEIH, 25,000,0007% - 100% - 100% RETEEMHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Hezhou) Limited” concrete
ERREL @M BRAFY I, 7,000,000% 7% - 100% - 100% RETEEMAHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland US$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited” concrete
EERRL (IM) BRAFY FEIRH 28,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRT4ESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$28,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Jiangmen) Limited”
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AR ERTRBIRRS
WEAR%HE LB B SARSEFAREERRLH TEEE
“ECEE “ENE
B il B %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
ERRERL (B ARAFY FEIRH 24,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jingxi) Limited” concrete
ERRERL ORE) BRAFY FEIRH 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Laibin) Limited” concrete
ERRELT @) ARAFY FEIRH 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Ledong) Limited®” concrete
ERRELT @D BARAFY FEIRH AE#20,000,0007T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited” concrete
EHRERL () BRAFY FEIRH 20,000,000 ¢ - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Liuzhou) Limited”” concrete
ERRERL (B BRAF? FEIRH AE30,000,0007T - 72% - 72%  RRTAESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lucheng) Limited” concrete
EERERL G2 BRAFY FEIRH AE#25,000,0007T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited” concrete
ERREL (@T) ERAFY FElAH 24,000,0007% - 100% - 100% RETEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luoding) Limited® concrete
EERERT (%) BRAFY FEIRH 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Maoming) Limited” concrete
HEEEASRRRLARARY  PEAH 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning Xixiangtang) Limited”’ concrete
ERRERT (B8 ARAFY FEIRH 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited”’ concrete
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AR ERTRBIRRS/
WEARAHE LB B AREMA R LA TEER
—E_8% “ENE
B i B# %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EWRRL @) BRATY I, 7,200,000% 7% - 100% - 100% RETEEMAHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland US$7,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Ningbo) Limited™ concrete
EWRRL (T BRATY FEAH AR#20,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RETEEMHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pinggui) Limited” concrete
ERREL @O BRAFY FEIH, 20,000,0007% - 100% - 100% RETEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Qinzhou) Limited” concrete
FMEBHERRLERARY FEIRH 20,000,000 7% - 100% - 100% RRT4ESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Qinzhou Legou) Limited” concrete
EWRRL A% BRATY FEAH ARH25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RETEEMHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Rongxian) Limited” concrete
MIEBRRLARRT FEIR AR #25,000,0007T - 100% - 100% RRT4ESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shenzhen) Company Limited®” concrete
EWRRL (@B BRAT? FEAH ARH25,000,0007 - 80% - 80% RRTEENHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Tianyang) Limited? concrete
EWRRL (@3 BRATY I, ARH25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RETEEMHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Suixi) Limited” concrete
EMRRL (BB BRATY FEAH 24,000,0007% - 100% - 100% RETEEMHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wanning) Limited” concrete
ERRERL BN BRAFY I, 24,000,0007% - 100% - 100% RETEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhou) Limited” concrete
ERRRL (BD ARAFY I, 11,500,000 7 - 100% - 100% RETEEMHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$11,500,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Yangjiang) Limited”

EHICRERBRAT
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AR ERTRBIRRS
WBARLHE LB B SARSEFAREERRLH TEEE
“ECEE “ENE
B il B %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
EBRREL (EW) BRAFY FEIRH 24,000,000 7% - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yulin) Limited”” concrete
EERRL (BD BRAFY FEIRH 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” concrete
ERRERT (BB ARAFY FEIRH 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhaoging) Limited” concrete
ERRERL G0B) BRAFY FEIRH 33,000,000%7¢ - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$33,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhuhai) Limited” concrete
ERRRCERERERAR & 150,000,000 7¢ - 100% - 100% KEES
China Resources Dongguan Cement Hong Kong HK$150,000,000 Trading of cement
Manufactory Holdings Limited
RREHRRLARRTY FEIRH 25,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
China Resources Dongguan Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Co., Limited” concrete
ERRFELIRE (B6) BRATY FEIRH AR 50,000,0007T - 100% - 100% REFEIR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering (Baise) engineering
Limited”
EBRRIE BR) ARATY FElAH AR #50,000,0007 - 100% - 100% BEREIR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering (Binyang) engineering
Limited”
EBRETE BR) ARATY FER B #50,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RERETR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering (Midu) engineering

Limited”
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46. FEMEB AT @

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AR BETRSRRE/
WBARLE ¥R &R AR EMA RGN L) TEER
ZECEE “ENE
B i B# il
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ERRRIE @2 BRAFY FEIRH AR #10,000,0007 - 100% - 100% REFEIR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Environment protection
Protection Engineering (Nanning) engineering
Limited”
RREBCERERAR" FEIRH 199,000,000 7% - 100% - 100%  KELEZRHEE
Dongguan Huarun Cement Manufactory ~ Chinese Mainland HK$199,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Co. Ltd” cement
EZHEBERRARY FEIRH AR 600,000,0007 - 100% - - BEER
Dingan Runfeng Quarry Limited” Chinese Mainland RMB600,000,000 Mining of aggregates
RBBRAR & 2ET - 100% - 10% FEME
First Route Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
HLEBEZERTBRAGY FElRH 3,500,000%7¢ - 100% - 100% RRIEERHE
Foshan China Resources Shunan Chinese Mainland 1S$3,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
EREERAF BE 2ETT - 100% - 100% HEWE
General Perfect Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
ERLEERRRERRATY FEIRH AE#3,691,700,00075 - 100% - 100% FESFHBAIRE
Guangdong Runfeng Technology Chinese Mainland RMB3,691,700,000 Holding investments in
Investment Limited ©/ subsidiaries
EREHERLIARATY FEIRH 2,597 440% 7T - 100% - 100% RRITERHE
Guangdong Yuequn Concrete Chinese Mainland 1S$2,597,440 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. @ concrete
ERERHELRELAREAAF" FENY NE#25,000,00070 - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
Guangyi Binyang Kunan Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited %/ concrete
BAREBLKIEBRAZ? FEIRH E200,000,0007¢ - 95.8% - B8%  KEEERHE
Guangxi China Resources Chinese Mainland RMB200,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Hongshuihe Cement Co., Ltd. cement
BREERIREERATY FERH \E1180,000,0007¢ - 100% - 100%  FEREMEERHE
Guangxi China Resources Chinese Mainland RMB180,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Prefabricated Construction Limited™ of prefabricated

298

EHICRERBRAT
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

construction materials



AR E TR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. FEMEB AT @
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AR ERTRBIRRS
WBARLHE LB B SARSEFAREERRLH TEEE
“ECEE “ENE
B il B %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
BERARAKEARERRATY FEIRH AE90,000,0007T - 100% - 100% FREMEERHE
Guigang Runhe Prefabricated Chinese Mainland RMB90,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Construction Company Limited”’ of prefabricated
construction materials
AREBEEERLIBRATY FEIRH 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRT4EMEHE
Heyuan China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Huida Concrete Limited” concrete
ENEBRMBRATY FEIRH 8,000,000%7¢ - 100% - 100% RRT4ENHE
Huizhou China Resources Chinese Mainland 1US$8,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Jiancai Limited” concrete
IMEBRRLENERARY FElRH 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRT4EMEHE
Jiangmen China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Muzhou Limited” concrete
IFPEBERLETERAGY FEIRH 20,000,000 7% - 100% - 100% RRT4EMEHE
Jiangmen China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Tangxia Limited” concrete
MM ESHARERERRARY  FEMNH A 1150,000,0007T - 100% - - EREMEEEHE
Jiangmen Runfeng United Intelligence  Chinese Mainland RMB150,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Manufacturing Construction Limited” of prefabricated
construction materials
REEBEBERRTBRAFY FEIRH 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
Laibin China Resources Xingbin Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
REBAEEAREERAFY i AE90,000,0007T - 100% - 100%  FEREMEESHFE
Laibin Runhe Prefabricated Chinese Mainland RMB90,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Construction Company Limited®” of prefabricated
construction materials
IMEBRTER T BRAG? FEIRH AE#31,250,0007 - 70% - 70% RRTAESHE
Liuzhou China Resources Xijiang Chinese Mainland RMB31,250,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited? concrete
HEERREBRELARATY dE 37,000,000%7¢ - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
Nanning China Resources Liangqing Chinese Mainland HK$37,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
ERNEERRRTIBRAFY FERH 7,000,000%7¢ - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
Ningbo Xiaogang China Resources Chinese Mainland US$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Concrete Limited”
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46. T EMB AT @ 46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
AR BETRSRRE/
WBARLE ¥R &R AR EMA RGN L) TEER
ZECEE “ENE
B i B# il
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ERERARAH &E 10,000%7¢ - 100% - 10% FEME
Profit Success Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Property holding
REETBENARAT &E 200,000 7T - 100% - 100% SR A RER RS
Quality Control Consuttants Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 Building materials testing
and consultancy
services
FERRLIBRAF & 1057 - 100% - 100% RETEEEHE
Redland Concrete Limited Hong Kong HK$10 Manufacture and sale of
concrete
FEMRME AR AT & 2B - 100% - 10% EEMEES
Redland Construction Materials Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of construction
materials
BERREE (27D BRAFY FEIRH AR #52,500,0007 - 100% - - RERGEIR
Runfeng Environmental Protection Chinese Mainland RMB52,500,000 Environmental protection
Technology (Changjiang) Limited” engineering
BEERIER (B8 BRAF & 2% - 100% - 10% FEZFMBAGRE
(GIRERRRIRER (B8
BRAF)
Runfeng Technology Holdings Hong Kong HK$2 Holding investments in
(Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known subsidiaries
as China Resources Environmental
Protection Engineering Holdings
(Hong Kong) Limited)
UFAEBRREKEERAR? FEIRH 90,000,000%7% - 72% - 72%  KEEESEHE
Shanxi China Resources Fulong Chinese Mainland 1US$90,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Cement Limited” cement
AMITEEMMHERERATY  RER AR 500,000,0007 - 100% - 100% HFBEBRERERER
MEHE
Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials Chinese Mainland RMB500,000,000 Holding investments in
Technology Company Limited” associates and sale of
new materials

3 O O FERNORERBRAR
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

=
FEMAILE BETRSRRE/
WBARLHE EBFMEHE &R FARREMAERGR LA TEBEH
“ECEE “ENE
E# S E# il
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
ABHZEERAT &8 25T - 100% - 10% FEME
Standard Wealth Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
BLHSEERRARY Rl AR %130,000,0007 - 100% - - AR
Weishan Runfeng Quarry Limited” Chinese Mainland RMB130,000,000 Mining of aggregates
BRTEERERRAT? FEIRH B #50,000,0007 - 80% - 80%  HHER
Wuping China Resources Mining Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Limited®
WIERRRRERLARRAY FEIRH 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
Zhanjiang China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Pengyuan Limited” concrete
BITEGEHABEERARTY el AR 100,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  EREMEELHE
Zhanliang RunYang United Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Intelligent Manufacturing of prefabricated
Company Limited” construction materials
EEBENMNERAT? Rl AR 10,000,000 - 65% - - AR
Zhaoging Runxin New Materials Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Limited?
29 notes:
(1) ZERBDEFERMUINEEEREN (1) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of
F7 BRI © wholly foreign-owned enterprise.
(2) ZEANBEREAMUPIEELEDN (2) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of

3 TUBLIL

EERR ERIENEARTNMER
BAHAEENEE EEKRBRAEE
TE-HIHMNBARNFEEERN
Tike

RAFERNAFEZEARE HE
B A B BEITEMEREES

Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

In the opinion of the Directors, the subsidiaries of the Company
listed in the above table principally affected the results, assets and
liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would
result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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47.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Non-current assets
Fixed assets
Right-of-use asset
Investments in subsidiaries
Amounts due from
subsidiaries

Current assets
Other receivables
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities

Other payables

Amounts due to
subsidiaries

Unsecured medium
term notes

Bank loans —amount
due within one year

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current
liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Bank loans — amount
due after one year
Unsecured medium
term notes
Other long term payable

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves (Note 48)

Total equity

—E_EHF —E-NEF
FHT THET
2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000
458 596
13,891 2,164
813,546 813,546

18,418,378 14,457,009

19,246,273 15,273,315
12,232 9,283

289,219 1,375,893
301,451 1,385,176
91,884 117,492
10,506,119 8,260,320
3,564,480 -
- 1,000,000

14,162,483 9,377,812

(13,861,032) (7,992,636)

5,385,241 7,280,679

1,000,000 -

- 3,349,050

8,256 -
1,008,256 3,349,050
4,376,985 3,931,629
698,294 698,294
3,678,691 3,233,335
4,376,985 3,931,629
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48. AT Z#E 48. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
RAPIRED (REtiEH)
1R iaME B E BEGRE REREF #ast
FAET TAT FET FAET FET
Long term (Accumulated
Award losses)
Share scheme Translation retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE—AE—F—H AtlJanuary 2019 5,623,939 (139,206) 380,464 (753,189) 5,112,008
[ERELE Exchange differences - - (106,403) - (106,403)
FERA Profit for the year - - - 1,588,025 1,588,025
FE2E ER) Total comprehensive
WA 4878 (expense) income for
the year - - (106,403) 1,588,025 1,481,622
S N\ERPEE 2018 final dividend (1,906,342) - - - (1,906,342)
“E-NEFHERE 2019 interim dividend (1,815,564) - - - (1,815,564)
RERERE N Recognition under the long
i term award scheme - 139,206 - 222,405 361,611
AR At 31 December 2019
+-A=+—H 1,902,033 - 274,061 1,057,241 3,233,335
ERERE Exchange differences - - 235,375 - 235,375
FERF Profit for the year - - - 4,469,573 4,469,573
FEZMUALRE Total comprehensive
income for the year - - 235,375 4,469,573 4,704,948
“E-NERPKRE 2019 final dividend (1,902,033) - - (437,251) (2,339,284)
ST RFBRE 2020 interim dividend - - - (1920,308)  (1,920,308)
ATETEE At 31 December 2020
+-A=+—H - - 509,436 3,169,255 3,678,691
TECTEFR
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
—NE Z—+tF T—N\FE IZZ-hFE IZZEIEHE
FHET FHBT FHET FHET FET
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ES3 RESULTS
EEE Turnover 25,647 464 29,958,428 38,791,470 38,955,561 40,086,867
KNBHEEANEML  Profit for the year
FERA attributable to owners of
the Company 1,325,855 3,616,742 7,975,439 8,617,503 8,959,865
—NFE ZZ—tF IZE-)N\E IIZNF IZZTIZTHF
FHT FHT FHET FHET FET
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
Ehai=vs Fixed assets 29,783,669 30,902,575 28,489,788 27,080,617 28,485,137
TREEE Right-of-use assets - - - 2022031 3,410,139
FEHEERIE Prepaid lease payments 2,674,723 2 816,137 2 846,024
KEYE Investment properties 112,499 131,176 137,761 130,000 120,000
Htnig & Other investment - - - 97,197 72,295
ﬁﬂiéé Intangible assets 2,263,684 2335214 2,197 455 2461792 2,702,986
REE AR ER Interests in associates 5,212,992 5,535,302 5,463,446 6,580,670 6,635,957
’féﬁ/&T iEm Interests in joint ventures 1484271 1,425,223 1,409,378 1,426,602 1,563,639
BEEES Deposits for acquisition of
assets 752,008 706,307 497,157 1,031,817 4,028,926
RILRIBE E Deferred tax assets 325,525 256,361 208,358 219,766 375,578
REAEWGIE Long term receivables 440,901 464,008 354,740 260,553 288,511
BEEHIRTER Pledged bank deposits 32,368 59,250 80,089 216,985 273,573
MENEE Current assets 9,073,871 11,895,049 18,822,186 18,742,830 20,575,714
BEMRE Total assets 52,156,511 56,526,602 60,506,382 61,170,860 68,532,455
afE LIABILITIES
nEmas Current liabilities 14,816,834 15,356,933 14,272,804 11,323,482 14,242,125
JEREEE Non-current liabilities 11,087,808 10,687,228 8,338,416 7,581,200 4,266,497
BEazE Total liabilities 25904642 26,044,161 22611220 18904682 18,508,622
30 4 ERIRERARAT . o
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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This annual report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the Company’s official website for corporate
communications at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/crcement/index.htm (the “Company’s Official Website”).

Shareholders who have chosen or have been deemed consented to receive the corporate communications of the
Company (the “Corporate Communications”) via the Company’s Official Website and who for any reason have
difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the annual report posted on the Company’s Official Website will promptly
upon request be sent the annual report in printed form free of charge.

Shareholders may at any time change their choice of the means of receipt (either in printed form or via the
Company’s Official Website) of Corporate Communications.

Shareholders may send their request to receive the annual report in printed form, and/or to change their choice of
the means of receipt of Corporate Communications by notice in writing to the share registrar of the Company, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong or by sending an email
to the share registrar of the Company at crcement1313-ecom@nhk.tricorglobal.com.
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